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Shareholder information

Corporate Headquarters
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

Inquiries
Individuals seeking financial  
data should contact: 
Investor Relations 
W. Bruce Swain,  
Chief Financial Officer 
404.300.1051

Form 10-K
A copy of the Company’s annual report 
on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission is available 
without charge upon request to:
Corporate Secretary 
Crawford & Company 
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1021

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of shareholders will 
be held at 2:00 p.m. on May 6, 2008, at 
the corporate headquarters of
Crawford & Company 
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services, LLC 
P.O. Box 43078 
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3078 
1.800.568.3476

Trading Information
Crawford & Company lists its common 
shares on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbols CRDA and CRDB.

Internet Address
www.crawfordandcompany.com

Certifications
In 2007, Crawford & Company’s chief 
executive officer (CEO) provided to the 
New York Stock Exchange the annual 
CEO certification regarding Crawford’s 
compliance with the New York Stock 
Exchange’s corporate governance listing 
standards. In addition, Crawford’s CEO 
and chief financial officer filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion all required certifications regarding 
the quality of Crawford’s public disclo-
sures in its fiscal 2007 reports.

Comparison of Cumulative  
Five-Year Total Return
The following line graph compares 
the cumulative return on the Company’s 
Class B Common Stock against the 
cumulative total return on (i) the Standard 
& Poor’s Composite 500 Stock Index and 
(ii) the Standard & Poor’s Insurance –  
Property & Casualty Index for the five-year 
period commencing January 1, 2002 and 
ended December 31, 2007. 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
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This total shareholders’ return model assumes reinvested dividends and is based on a $100 investment on December 31, 2002.  
We caution you not to draw any conclusions from the data in this performance graph, as past results do not necessarily indicate  
future performance.

	 Years Ending December 31,

Company/Index (in dollars) 	 2002	 2003	 2004	 2005	 2006	 2007

Crawford & Company (Class B)	 100.00	 147.47	 163.68	 129.99	 169.45	 96.33

S&P 500 Index	 100.00	 128.68	 142.69	 149.70	 173.34	 182.86

S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index	 100.00	 126.41	 139.58	 160.68	 181.36	 156.04
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We are working together 

to bring the best services to our clients 
around the world and 

it’s paying off .

CRAWFORD HAS:

INDUSTRYLEADING QUALITY

MEASURABLE CONSISTENCY

AN EXPANSIVE GLOBAL NETWORK

A STRONG MARKET POSITION
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1 INDUSTRYLEADING QUALITY

Quality claims management doesn’t happen by accident. 

It is driven through eff ective policies and procedures, 

employee training, and monitoring of results. Over the 

past three years, Crawford has done just that – working 

to improve quality by documenting and communicating 

processes, comprehensively auditing our operations, and 

investing in our employees.

One such ongoing investment is Crawford Educational 

Services, which provides a full complement of general 

and specialized training in all areas of claims and risk 

management. To serve the educational needs of our 

growing global organization, in 2007 we launched 

Crawford OnlineSM, which currently provides 106 

 computer-based programs in property, casualty, and 

workers’ compensation claim management. For on-site 

classes, Crawford Educational Services opened a state-

of-the-art National Training Center in June.

The insurance industry paid Crawford a signifi cant 

 compliment in August, when the Company was named 

the Best Third-Party Claims Administrator in Business 

Insurance magazine’s 2007 Readers Choice Awards. 

Coming from the executives who determine whether 

their companies use our services, this award is a testa-

ment to our associates, training, and quality programs.

“ The key to quality
is indisputably our
people, developed
by training and
supported by process
and technology so
it’s easy to provide
great service.” 

BERNELL HUTSON
Corporate Claims Manager 
Atlanta, Georgia

“ Our clients know we deliver 
superlative quality because, 
through continually improving 
our services, we raise the 
standard by which we and 
others are judged. We strive 
to get it right the fi rst time 
and, on the occasional 
times we don’t, we delight 
at putting things right.” 

SHAUN KELLY
Head of Business 
Solutions Group, EMEA 
Birmingham, England

“ Quality doesn’t start when our services reach our clients; 
it begins with every Crawford associate’s dedication to 
exceeding the expectations of our customers – both 
internal and external. This contagious attitude ensures 
that our clients receive a quality service.”

VALERIE HOLMES
Director, Global Financial Controls
Atlanta, Georgia
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BENJAMIN FOO-COLLYER
Customer Services Manager – Property 
Birmingham, England

No company can prove it has quality services if it can’t measure them. At Crawford, 

evaluating the consistency of our services is an integral part of operations, from the 

fi eld level and up. The strategy has proven eff ective: since introducing a systematic 

audit program in 2005, Crawford has improved quality across the Company.

Our senior auditors – experienced industry professionals, including former claim 

managers and adjusters – conduct rigorous on-site audits to measure claim offi  ce 

performance against best practices and client instructions. Claim managers review 

quality scores, trends, and recommendations with staff  and receive training resources, 

if necessary.

Senior auditors are complemented by peer auditors – supervisors and managers 

from other locations who conduct parallel audits to validate fi ndings. Finally, claim 

offi  ces complete three self-audits for every adjuster, every month, and track results 

to identify trends in quality and consistency.

To facilitate the audit process, Crawford has made signifi cant investments in infor-

mation technology systems that track quality down to the case level, in real time, 

and allow for online auditing.

 

2 MEASURABLE CONSISTENCY

“The fl ooding that occurred in the north of England and Midlands regions in June and July 2007 
was  catastrophic. Most adjusters worked seven days a week until November 2007 to maintain client 
expectations, and to support policyholders and insurers alike. The primary stages of the catastrophe 
were successfully managed and we built upon this success for the remaining claims.”

Rotherham, England, June 27, 2007
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VHONDA EDMONDS
Lead Credit & Collection Specialist
Atlanta, Georgia

ELLEN PAPIRO
Team Leader, Flood Team 
Croydon, England

GILLES LAMBERT
General Expert
Global Technical Services
Montreal, Quebec

Crawford, with more than 700 locations in 63 countries, 

is well positioned to meet the existing and future 

demands of an increasingly interdependent global 

 business community. Crawford’s competitive advantages 

are accentuated by a multitude of global resources, 

which combine expertise to provide eff ective solutions. 

Our strong global presence translates into the ability to 

deliver a comprehensive slate of services by utilizing 

the expertise of local professionals who are experienced 

in region-specifi c issues. 

Our clients enjoy the services of the world’s largest global 

network of claims and adjusting professionals. Our team, 

which includes more than 9,000 associates, shares a 

common goal of working together to deliver solutions 

that better control costs. A proven global infrastructure 

helps ensure that clients receive consistent service, 

 accurate data, and practical solutions. Our global strategy 

is simple: maximize our diverse resources to provide 

national and multinational companies with turnkey 

solutions to an array of claims management needs – 

without c ompromising quality. 

700
LOCATIONS 

63 
COUNTRIES

AN EXPANSIVE GLOBAL NETWORK
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Crawford’s companywide commitment to teamwork 

and service delivery excellence has helped build a strong 

market presence that extends beyond industry lines and 

geographic boundaries. Two of Crawford’s four operating 

segments – U.S. Property & Casualty and International 

Operations – have the largest market share in their 

respective markets. We refer to the combination of these 

two segments as Global Property & Casualty. Crawford’s 

acquisition of Broadspire Management Services in 2006 

immediately increased the market share of our workers’ 

compensation and liability claims management business, 

making Broadspire the second largest company in its market.

Crawford builds and maintains its consistently strong 

market share through the concerted eff orts of our asso-

ciates around the world to provide customized solutions 

to varied business needs. This cumulative success not 

only makes Crawford the market leader in total claims 

solutions and the world’s largest claims service provider 

based on size and revenue, but makes Crawford an 

excellent choice for individual or multiple business 

needs around the globe.

More multinational

FORTUNE

1000
CLIENTS 

than any other

INDEPENDENT
ADJUSTER

CRAWFORD
is the

GLOBAL
LEADER 

in the
 TPA INDUSTRY

Named

BEST THIRD-PARTY
CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR

IN 2007 BUSINESS INSURANCE
Readers Choice Awards

We have the

#1 MARKET SHARE
IN 2 BUSINESS SEGMENTS

and a strong

#2 MARKET SHARE
IN OUR OTHER BUSINESS SEGMENTS

2007 Annual Report
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

During my three years as CEO of this Company, we have 

focused on many important areas with the goal of making 

Crawford & Company the company of choice to work for its 

associates as well as the company of choice to do business 

with, globally. I am very proud of the many steps our associates 

have taken to make these statements a reality. Crawford has 

improved its quality, restored its reputation, and earned its 

position as the pre-eminent global third-party claims solution 

provider. Most importantly, the services we provide to our 

clients are consistent and much improved.

As I moved to the Chairman’s position at the close of 2007, 

I believe our industry recognizes that we have positioned 

Crawford to be the number one third-party administrator in 

the world. We’re one of the few companies in our industry 

that can truly support a global business assignment. We are 

the best at being able to handle a company’s work around 

the world with a consolidated, integrated team of people 

who understand this business. Solidifying Crawford’s quality, 

expanding the services we deliver, and building a stable 

management team are all stepping stones to the greatness 

I believe Crawford will achieve over the next few years.

In the accompanying CEO letter, Jeff  Bowman will review 

the fi nancial and operational performance of our business 

in 2007. For me, our accomplishments continue to rest on 

the development of programs we established over the past 

three years aimed at overall business quality improvement. 

Crawford’s quality levels today are as good as they’ve ever 

been in the Company’s history. Crawford quality today is a 

fundamental asset of this Company.

Despite the challenging market for the last two years, 

Crawford has been able to maintain profi tability by identifying 

new clients and penetrating new markets. 

Our Global Property & Casualty services is the largest 

independent third-party provider of property and casualty 

solutions in the world. Broadspire is the industry’s premier 

provider of integrated claims and medical management 

services, and ranks second in terms of revenue of companies 

serving the market for workers’ compensation as well as auto 

and general liability exposures. The Legal Settlement Adminis-

tration business unit includes The Garden City Group, the 

leading provider of third-party administrative services in class 

action lawsuits and bankruptcy cases. 

Looking forward, our goal is to deliver improved perfor-

mance to our investors while continuing to provide the high 

quality service we have been providing to our clients and 

investing in our people. While overall growth has been good, 

earnings have not refl ected the potential of this evolving 

business. That is something we are determined to change. 

Very few companies can match the national and international 

experience and success that our management team brings 

to Crawford.

I believe Crawford’s overall position today is very good, 

and on its way to being great. In the long run, the evaluation 

of Crawford will come from the outside world. So as we look 

at the competition trying to replicate the Crawford model, it 

is clear that we have something that no one else can provide. 

As we deliver on that global potential, we expect our fi nancial 

results to improve.

Finally, I want to thank our associates, many of whom 

I have come to know well over the past three years in my 

role as CEO. It has been my pleasure and a privilege to lead 

Crawford & Company, and I will always think fondly of the 

bonds I have developed with the people who are making 

our Company great!

Sincerely,

Thomas W. Crawford

Chairman of the Board

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:
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LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT AND CEO

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

While dealing with extremely challenging industry  conditions 

driven by low claims rates in the U.S. and low combined 

ratios for insurance companies, Crawford has grown its 

revenues. Our focus over the coming year will be toward 

bringing margins and profi tability into line with those 

revenue opportunities, all while further enhancing our 

quality and continuing to invest in our people.

There have been important management changes as we 

move into 2008. On January 1st, Tom Crawford assumed the 

role of chairman of the Board of Directors, replacing Jesse 

Crawford, who remained in the role of chairman of the 

Executive Committee of the Board. I have been president 

and CEO since that time. In this letter, I would like to update 

you with the initial actions, future plans, and fundamental 

strategies that this management team has in place for 

Crawford & Company. Before doing that, let me acknowledge 

the positive contributions of Tom Crawford in his three plus 

years as CEO. I look forward to working and partnering with 

him in his new role. 

Globally, insurance is a growth business. Our role 

in providing an independent, quality driven local, regional 

or global claims service is crucial to our client’s business 

proposition. In support of that objective, we must continue 

to deliver quality, invest in training, and maintain very strong 

client relationships at all levels in the organization. In addition, 

Crawford must deliver innovative, value-added services to the 

loss adjusting and claims management processes already in 

place, moving toward a simpler, faster, more effi  cient workfl ow 

methodology. We continue to develop a workforce that can 

drive smarter, more effi  cient processes.

Being the largest global claims administrator is 

 important, but not as important as having the best quality 

in the industry, the best practices, the best processes, the 

best associates, and delivering a sustainable and attractive 

return for investors. Therefore, my goal is to make Crawford & 

Company a target-driven corporation that achieves its fi nancial 

goals and meets its commitments to its clients, associates 

and shareholders alike.

Let me discuss several of the strategic actions being 

implemented since the fi rst of the year:

• On January 7th, we announced a new global manage-

ment team. This team has a fantastic blend of experience 

together with a commitment to a fresh and energetic 

management approach. 

• We’ve also created a Global Markets group, which is a 

great selling proposition for Crawford, Broadspire, and The 

Garden City Group. Our ability to develop a global organiza-

tion within the claims process, the TPA process, or the class 

action process is a key diff erentiator for us.

• In 2008, we implemented an improved communication 

plan to execute a common understanding of the strategy 

and direction of our corporation for our associates, clients, 

and investors. Crawford is moving to improve fi nancial 

performance across all business units, delivering sustainable 

performance and fi nancial results by utilizing a bottom-up 

planning process that ties business unit strategies to group 

and corporate objectives.

Crawford & Company enters 2008 encouraged by the Company’s position in 

the global market. Crawford, already recognized in the global arena, has created 

additional leading brands, including Broadspire and Th e Garden City Group. 

Crawford has rebuilt the foundation of its historic success, Crawford quality.

2007 Annual Report
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• We are expanding our key account management plans 

to increase marketing and selling eff orts across all of our 

business units.

• Our management team is committed to delivering on 

our promised technology and technology-driven solutions. 

We expect to begin deploying the new RiskTech system 

during the fourth quarter 2008. In 2007, our Property & 

Casualty division rolled out our property and casualty claims 

management system, CMS2, across the U.S. CMS2 now has 

about 3,000 internal users throughout the globe and we are 

seeing many process improvements and positive operational 

effi  ciencies as a result. 

• Turning to our associates, we will continue to retain, 

recruit, and reward our people throughout the corporation. 

We are reviewing all performance-based incentive programs 

to ensure they are designed to drive the growth in revenue, 

earnings, quality, and operational effi  ciencies we need. In 

2008, we will implement some major innovations to our 

training approach. With our recent investment in distance 

learning capabilities, we can now off er Crawford OnlineSM and 

are now off ering classes that are conducted partially online 

prior to the on-site training process taking place. 

Our Company has changed dramatically over the past few 

years, regaining its rightful stature in the TPA arena and staking 

our claim as the leading global claims solution business. We 

have the opportunity to build on this platform through the 

programs I just discussed and, through better execution, deliver 

stronger and more consistent fi nancial performance. That is our 

collective objective for 2008.

2007 Financial Results
An overview of Crawford’s business unit results in 2007 

shows mixed performance. Consolidated revenues before 

reimbursements for the year reached $975.1 million, an 

increase of 19.0 percent over 2006. Net income for 2007 

totaled $16.1 million, or $0.32 per share, compared with 

$15.0 million, or $0.30 per share, for 2006. However, comparison 

of net income year-over-year was aff ected by a few non-recur-

ring items in 2007, including: 

• a current year gain on disposal of assets of $2.5 million, 

net of related income taxes, or $0.05 per share, as a result of 

the 2007 sale of the Company’s subrogation services

business; and

• the recognition of a $3.1 million gain in 2007, net of 

related income taxes, or $0.06 per share, related to the 2006 

sale of the Company’s former corporate headquarters. 

Adjusting earnings per share for these items yields adjusted 

2007 earnings per share of $0.21 compared with 2006 earnings 

of $0.30 per share. Our goal for 2008 is to substantially improve 

on the level of performance we demonstrated in 2007.

Business Unit Performance
International operations had its best year ever in 2007 

with record revenue and income. This result refl ects growth 

in accounts and a 28.3 percent claims volume increase over 

2006. We now have fi ve years of revenue and income growth in 

International operations due to our strengthened management 

practices and client-focused performance.

The performance of U.S. Property & Casualty was of 

concern all year and the results in the second half of 2007 were 

particularly disappointing. For the past several years, industry 

declines in overall claims frequency have been a concern and 

have aff ected this business unit. The reduction in assignments 

put pressure on cost-to-revenues ratios despite winning new 

contracts and many client claim-handling nominations. 

We’ve proven in the operations outside the U.S. that 

better leveraging client relationships and growing your product 

base can increase the number of claims, even when the claim 

frequency is not actually increasing. We’ve seen it with about a 

19.4 percent increase in number of claim assignments in the 

U.K. Our goal, even in a challenging overall claims environment, 

is to restore U.S. Property & Casualty’s revenue growth in 2008.

“Being the largest global claims administrator is important, but not as important as 
having the best quality in the industry, the best practices, the best processes, the best associates, 

and delivering a sustainable and attractive return for investors.”
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“In most industries, business models are changing and we are no exception.
We have to make sure that our organization has the best practices to fulfi ll every client’s promise 

to their insureds in a timely fashion and in a fi scally responsible way.”

It’s now been a year since the acquisition of Broadspire. 

We have reduced the 2006 losses in the combined Broadspire/

Crawford business unit and the progress made from acquisition 

through 2007 is right on plan. Against losses of over $21 million 

in 2006, we improved to operating earnings of $3.8 million in 

2007 – almost a $25 million turnaround! 

Broadspire’s fourth quarter operating loss, while small, 

underlines the importance of revenue growth in this business 

unit. We anticipate continued pressure into early 2008 from 

the declining runoff  of the existing book of business. Growth 

opportunities for Broadspire are evident in a large backlog of 

requests for proposal with larger clients, and the anticipated 

continuing growth in unbundled services such as telephonic 

and fi eld case management, e-Triage, physician review, 

Crawford Care Management, and utilization management. 

Our remaining business unit is Legal Settlement Adminis-

tration (LSA) and despite large industry wide volume decreases 

in 2007, we were pleased that Legal Settlement Administration 

maintained solid profi t margins. In addition to the hurdle of 

trying to match LSA’s unprecedented record performance 

in 2006, the legal landscape was punctuated by a growing 

trend to restrict the use of class actions. Throughout the year, 

management has responded to these issues by managing 

costs to revenue trends. 

The Garden City Group (GCG), a product line within LSA, 

signifi cantly expanded its sales force with new sales associates 

and new offi  ces across the country. We are also encouraged by 

CGC’s prospects for the year as we have a signifi cant backlog of 

cases that we have accumulated over the last six to 12 months. 

Our management team sees signifi cant opportunities in the 

year ahead due to the increase in bankruptcy fi lings in 2008. 

The Strength of Working Together
We are committed to delivering quality outcomes for our 

clients and improved, sustainable fi nancial performance for our 

investors. Over the next 12 months, we will focus particularly 

on revenue and earnings growth. 

In most industries, business models are changing and we 

are no exception. We have to make sure that our organization 

has the best practices to fulfi ll every client’s promise to their 

insureds in a timely fashion and in a fi scally responsible way. 

Finally, my thanks go out to all of our associates for their 

hard work and dedication during 2007. Crawford has a bright 

future and we thank you for your continued support and 

commitment as we enter 2008. 

Sincerely,

Jeff rey T. Bowman
President and
Chief Executive Offi  cer

2007 Annual Report
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JEFFREY T. BOWMAN
President and Chief Executive Offi  cer

Q: How is quality at Crawford today?

Tom Crawford: I believe we have the best quality in the 

industry today. We have worked hard to reestablish Crawford’s 

reputation for having the best quality in the claims settlement 

arena. We hear it when our people get industry comments that 

they’ve never seen quality change as quickly and as positively 

as it has at Crawford. We see it when state regulators examine 

our work. And we hear it from our clients in their own evalua-

tion processes and their compliments on our results. So we 

say it, our customers say it, and the regulators are saying it. We 

believe our quality around the world is consistently excellent 

and I would say it’s the best this Company has ever had.

Jeff  Bowman: The quality of our service delivery is superior 

for a number of reasons. One, we’ve invested in Crawford 

Educational Services and this investment in our people is 

paying off . Two, we continue to upgrade our compliance and 

governance structure. And fi nally, we’re implementing change 

within the organization both fi nancially and operationally so 

that we continue to drive the right behavior. 

Q: How will the recent leadership transition aff ect Crawford 

over the next year?

Tom Crawford: There has to be excitement about the leader-

ship of this company, which is the strongest in our industry. 

Very few companies have leaders with the experience that Jeff  

and I have in the global arena. We have worked closely together 

over the past three years and developed a deep understanding 

and respect for each other’s abilities and skills. We are engaged 

in building the second layer of operational leadership within 

our organization. That is a critical goal for the new strategic plan 

called “The Strength of Working Together.”

Jeff  Bowman: We have a terrifi c opportunity to build on the 

strong management foundation that Tom put in place. I am 

encouraged by the great combination of experience and 

energy in our global management team that I announced on 

January 7. From an organizational viewpoint, we will have four 

operating executives who have profi t-and-loss responsibility 

for our operating divisions. We’ve selected specialized offi  cers 

to lead strategy, administrative, and technology initiatives. 

It’s the next evolution of how the management team plays 

out. As Tom indicated, our theme in 2008 is “The Strength of 

Working Together.” That is the most important message as 

we drive the organization from what has been a multinational 

organization toward being a global organization. 

Q & A WITH THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CEO

JEFJEFJEFJEFJEJEFJEFFREFREFREFREFREFRFREY TY TY TY TY TY TTT. B. B. B. BBBBBOWMOWMOWMOWMOWMOWMOWMANANANANANANAN
PrePrePrePrePrePrePreesidsidsidsidsiddsidss entententententtenten  anan an an ananana d Cd Cd Cd Cd Cd Cd Cd Chiehiehiehiehiehieehieh f Ef Ef Ef Ef EEf xecxecxecxexecxecxecxecutiutiutiutittiututit ve ve veve vev Offi Offi Offi Offi Offi OffiOffi ffi  ce ce ce ce ce cecerrrrrrr

Jeff  Bowman: The quality of our service delivery is superior 

for a number of reasons. One, we’ve invested in Crawford 

Educational Services and this investment in our people is 

in building the second layer of operational leadership within

our organization. That is a critical goal for the new strategic plan

called “The Strength of Working Together.”

Jeff  Bowman: We have a terrifi c opportunity to build on the

strong management foundation that Tom put in place. I am

encouraged by the great combination of experience and

energy in our global management team that I announced on

January 7. From an organizational viewpoint, we will have four

operating executives who have profi t-and-loss responsibility

for r our opo erating diviisions. We’vee selece ted sppeciaalized offi  cerss

toto l leaead d ststraratetegygy, , adadmimininiststraratitiveve, , annd d tet chchnonolologygy  ininititiatativiveses. 

ItIt’s’s t thehe n nexext t evevololututioion n ofof h howow t thehe m mananagagememenent t teteamam p plalaysys  

ouout.t. A As s ToTom m inindidicacateted,d, o ourur t thehememe i in n 20200808 i is s “T“Thehe S Strtrenengtgth h ofof  

WoWoWorkrkkininng g ToToTogegeg ththererr.”.” T TThahahat t isis t t hehehe m mmososost t t imimmpopoportrtrtanana t t t mememesssssss agagge e asass  

wewewe d ddriririveveve t t thehehe o o ooorgrgrggananannizizizatatatioioion n n frfrfrf omomomm w wwwwhahahah t t t hahahas s ss bebebeb enenenen a aaa m mmmululultititinananan tititionononoonalalal 
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THOMAS W. CRAWFORD
Chairman of the Board

Q: What is “The Strength of Working Together”? What are 

its goals?

Jeff  Bowman: “The Strength of Working Together” starts 

with the premise that Crawford & Company is a target-driven 

corporation that meets its promises to clients and shareholders. 

First, we will provide consistent quality solutions to clients on 

a local, regional, and global basis. Second, we will tailor our 

services to best fulfi ll clients’ needs and requirements. Third, 

we will add value to our clients fi nancially, through greater 

effi  ciencies, expertise, quality, and service. This is our strategic 

map for Crawford’s future. It’s absolutely, 100 percent, how we 

deal with the client in terms of value-added services to build 

deep, lasting, mutually benefi cial partnerships.

Tom Crawford: We’ve worked hard and made large invest-

ments to improve our quality and I believe we have the best 

quality in the industry today.  We’ve been recognized for this 

by our customers and industry observers. From here, our 

opportunity is to grow. We will continue our initiatives on 

quality as we now focus on growth – the key to earnings 

improvement. The strategic plan was created to ignite growth.

Q: How will Crawford grow over the next year or two?

Jeff  Bowman: We expect to increase earnings and meet the 

targets that will support our fi nancial credibility. Within our 

strategies, number one is revenue growth. This organization 

will push investment into driving revenue, even in a market-

place that is particularly diffi  cult for third-party providers at 

the moment. As part of this process, each strategic action and 

intention is tied to monthly, measurable objectives and outcomes. 

This systematic tracking of interim milestones better enables 

leadership control and proactive decision making. It also 

provides an eff ective and more detailed map for the enterprise 

and each business unit in achieving this year’s objectives. In 

addition, we’ve built a strong foundation by delivering quality 

services and by investing in our people. These commitments 

are paying off .

Tom Crawford: Our associates are critical to accelerating 

Crawford’s growth. Our company is recognized as a great place 

to work. We have associates who strive to surpass the expecta-

tions of our customers every day. We are leveraging best 

practices, expertise, and resources globally across our business 

units and we are encouraging a team approach that facilitates 

open, honest communication. We’ve invested in Crawford’s 

education support facilities and this investment is paying off . 

We continue to upgrade our compliance and governance. 

That’s the message we’re sharing with all of our employees and 

clients through “The Strength of Working Together.”
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Tom Crawford: We’ve worked hard and made large invest-

ments to improve our quality and I believe we have the best 

quality in the industry today.  We’ve been recognized for this 

by our customers and industry observers. From here, our 

opportunity is to grow. We will continue our initiatives on 

quality as we now focus on growth – the key to earnings 

improvement. The strategic plan was created to ignite growth.

Q: How will Crawford grow over the next year or two?
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We continue to upgrade our compliance and governance.

That’s the message we’re sharing with all of our employees and

clients through “The Strength of Working Together.”
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GLOBAL PROPERTY & CASUALTY

THE STRENGTH OF WORKING TOGETHER 
means consistent quality solutions tailored to clients’ requirements 
that add value through effi  ciencies, expertise, quality, and service.

As global insurance companies expand in the European, 

Asian Pacifi c, and Latin American markets, Crawford Global 

Property & Casualty is increasing its role as the leading glo-

bal services provider. With offi  ces in 63 countries, Crawford 

off ers claims administration services and solutions globally, 

regionally, and on the local level.

Global Property & Casualty, which consists of our U.S. 

Property & Casualty and International Operations segments, 

had a record year in 2007. Crawford United Kingdom, in 

 particular, continued to  perform strongly despite challenging 

conditions in many markets. June was the wettest month 

in the United Kingdom since records have been kept. 

Exceptional rainfall across the  country caused extensive 

fl ooding, mainly in the north and Midlands. A second fl ood-

ing event in July wreaked further devastation. These events 

allowed us to deploy well-rehearsed catastrophe plans. 

Despite truly unprecedented claims volumes, the feedback 

on Crawford’s performance has been positive with clients, 

the media, and policyholders all acknowledging the great 

work done to help those aff ected.

In the Asia Pacifi c region, Crawford initiated product-recall 

management in its Singapore, Malaysia, and Philippines 

operations in response to a pressing time-sensitive client 

need. In the Singapore offi  ce, where the recall was the 

heaviest, Crawford settled more than 5,000 claims. Crawford 

Singapore also introduced expanded motor vehicle services 

designed to meet the market’s need for proactive, indepen-

dent services performed with the highest degree of 

professionalism and integrity.

Latin America is a market that many insurers are looking at 

with an eye to the future. The economic conditions are very 

robust, and an emerging middle class in many countries is 

looking to purchase insurance products. This has resulted in 

global insurers expanding their existing business units. With 

key growth in Brazil, Chile, and Mexico, we are poised to 

capitalize on deepening our partnerships in Latin America.

Our Canadian operations were honored to have been 

selected as one of Maclean’s magazine’s Top 10 Employers 

of the Year in its Waterloo Region. This list recognizes 

 exceptional employers that are growing quickly and off er 

excellent career prospects to their employees. This award 

certainly refl ects our commitment to associates in Canada 

and, indeed, around the world.

In the United States, industry declines in overall claims 

 frequency has aff ected this business unit for the past  several 

years. Despite the challenging conditions that existed all 

year, we continued to provide a quality product to our 

 clients. Among the 2007 success stories in the United States 

is Crawford’s managed repair unit, Contractor Connection. 

In addition, the CMS2 claims management system is pro-

ducing positive results, and more enhancements are 

planned for 2008. We expect we will continue to improve 

the system’s eff ectiveness for claims professionals and 

our clients alike. Management continues to look at the 

 operating model within U.S. Property & Casualty and is fully 

committed to further gaining effi  ciencies and developing 

ways to restore U.S. growth. 
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GLOBAL PROPERTY & CASUALTY SERVICES

AUTO APPRAISALS 
AND INSPECTIONS

❍  Damage appraisals
❍  Heavy equipment appraisals
❍  Vehicle condition inspection

CENTRALIZED CLAIMS 
ADMINISTRATION

❍  Content services unit
❍  Dedicated property operations

MANAGED REPAIR NETWORKS

❍  Contractor Connection
❍  repairNet®

CATASTROPHE MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES

❍  Natural and man-made
❍   Satellite communication capabilities
❍  Pre-event consultation
❍  Tailored program response

PROPERTY CLAIMS  MANAGEMENT

❍  Personal and commercial lines
 – Full adjustment
 – Appraisal
❍  Global markets
❍  Cause and origin investigation 

and analysis

CASUALTY CLAIMS 
MANAGEMENT

❍ Auto and general liability
❍  Public and employers’ liability
❍  Professional indemnity
❍  Product recall
❍  Motor
❍  Complete claims resolutions from 

investigation to settlement
❍  Discreet, thorough surveillance for 

suspicious claims
❍  Subrogation capabilities

GLOBAL TECHNICAL SERVICES

❍  Major/complex property loss
❍  Marine – ocean and inland
❍  Oil and energy
❍  Construction
❍  Financial institutions
❍  Power generation
❍  Computer claims
❍  Mining

06

$514

07

$554

05

$509

04

$487

03

$429

Global P&C Revenue 
(actual 2003-2007)

in millions

06

$304

07

$377

05

$285

04

$255

03

$219

International P&C Revenue 
(actual 2003-2007)

in millions

06

$210

07

$177

05

$224

04

$232

03

$210

U.S. P&C Revenue 
(actual 2003-2007)

in millions

With offi  ces in 63 countries and a full range of claims, technical, and management services, Global 

Property & Casualty is the largest independent third-party provider of global property and casualty 

solutions in the world.
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BROADSPIRE

THE STRENGTH OF WORKING TOGETHER 
is building a market-leading company with global 
growth opportunities.

When Crawford acquired Broadspire, our vision was 

to combine the best of two third-party administrators, 

Broadspire and the former Crawford Integrated Services, 

to form a single company that is the recognized leader in 

the industry. 2007 was a landmark year that helped defi ne 

Broadspire’s long-term identity and set the stage for the 

Company’s success in workers’ compensation,  liability, 

and integrated disability claims management. 

As part of our post acquisition transition, teams of Broadspire 

associates reviewed all aspects of their business, making 

countless, and sometimes diffi  cult, decisions to streamline 

operations. One of the most critical aspects of combining 

the two organizations has been the integration of claim 

management and other computer systems. Eliminating 

redundant  systems improves effi  ciency, reduces expenses, 

 contributes to client satisfaction, and helps drive fi nancial 

success. Broadspire weighed the pros and cons of each 

system, selected those with the greatest overall capabilities 

and began consolidating applications to form single intake, 

claims, and medical management systems.

Another important application now fully implemented in 

all Broadspire offi  ces is Claims Advantage. Through its multi-

tiered interview process, Claims Advantage  provides adjusters 

with vital information to develop  strategic action plans 

and aggressively resolve claims. Claims Advantage is instru-

mental in helping adjusters move appropriate fi les to 

nurses, so claimants can take advantage of Broadspire’s 

strong medical management capabilities.

Headed by Chief Executive Offi  cer Dennis Replogle, the 

Broadspire management team leading this integration was 

strengthened in 2007 with the addition of Ken Martino as 

president and Mark Stergio as chief  information offi  cer. 

Each brings well over two decades of insurance industry 

experience in operations, fi nance, product development, 

and technology to Broadspire. 

While a strong management team is vital, outstanding 

 performance begins with our front-line claim handlers and 

medical management nurses, who set the standard for ser-

vice that exceeds our clients’ expectations. For example, a 

12-person Broadspire claim team dedicated to the Houston 

Independent School District worked to signifi cantly reduce 

the district’s overall claim and related medical expenses in 

the past three years. Their achievements helped the district 

win a 2007 Theodore Roosevelt Workers’ Compensation 

and Disability Management Award, given by Risk & 

Insurance magazine for innovative programs that have 

decreased workers’ compensation injuries and severity. 

Those and countless other accomplishments by our associ-

ates helped Crawford & Company, including Broadspire, 

earn the 2007 “Best Third-Party Claims Administrator” award, 

determined by the readers of Business Insurance magazine. 

Even more important, they contributed to customer reten-

tion of 94.3 percent, an achievement we are particularly 

proud of during a critical year of transition. According to 

annual Business Insurance rankings, Broadspire is now the 

second-largest claims administrator in our industry, thanks 

to the combined revenues of the two former organizations.

While Broadspire has made tremendous strides over 

the past 14 months, our work is far from fi nished. Plans 

for 2008 include aggressive sales initiatives for claims and 

medical management. We fully expect to close more new 

business opportunities and increase our  market share. We 

also look for continued progress in integrating our claims 

and medical management  systems to increase effi  ciencies.  
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Name of Chart
in millions

BROADSPIRE SERVICES

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND  
LIABILITY CLAIM MANAGEMENT

❍ Workers’ compensation claim management
❍ Auto liability claim management
❍ General liability claim management
❍ Risk management information services
❍ Litigation management
❍ Medicare Set-Aside
❍ Second injury trust fund
❍ Structured settlements
❍ Central Index Bureau
❍ Special investigations
❍ Subrogation services
❍ Risk and safety services

MEDICAL MANAGEMENT

❍ Medical bill review
❍ Preferred provider network
❍ Pharmacy management
❍ Utilization management
❍ Physician review
❍ Senior nurse reviewer
❍ Telephonic case management
❍ Field case management

SPECIALTY SERVICES

❍ Crawford Works
❍ PS Care (behavioral health services)
❍ Medical consulting services
❍ Independent medical evaluation
❍ Vocational rehabilitation
❍ Rehabilitative ergonomics
❍ Catastrophic care management
❍ Critical incident stress management
❍ Life care planning
❍ Transitional duty program
❍ Time and motion studies
❍ DOT exams
❍ Disability cost analysis
❍ Functional capacities exam

LONG-TERM CARE SERVICES

❍ Crawford Care Management

DISABILITY SERVICES

❍ Integrated disability management

Indicates the amount an employer saves, on average, 
when Broadspire reviews claims to ensure that medi-
cal services are necessary and appropriate. In 2007, 
clients saved an average of $645 per case closed that 
year. Average savings vary by year depending on the 
type of injuries workers receive.

Indicates the amount an employer saves, on aver-
age, when Broadspire reviews medical bills. In 2007, 
companies saved $59 of every $100 in medical 
charges for which they were originally billed.

Indicates the percentage of employees who return 
to work when their workers’ compensation absences 
are supervised via telephone by case managers. In 
97 percent of the cases received and closed in 2007, 
employees who received telephonic case manage-
ment services were released for return to work.

06

$614

07

$645

05

$783

04

$835

03

$533

Utilization Management Savings

06

59.0%

07

59.0%

05

58.7%

04

56.5%

03

50.0%

Medical Bill Review Savings

06 07050403

98% 97%96%
91%89%

Return to Work – 
Telephonic Case Management

Formed a year ago through acquisition and integration, Broadspire is the industry’s premier provider 

of integrated claims and medical management services, and a leader in workers’ compensation as 

well as auto and general liability exposures.
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LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION

THE STRENGTH OF WORKING TOGETHER 
is expanding the strengths of one company into new markets 
and related businesses.

Crawford & Company’s Legal Settlement Administration 

segment provides administration and inspection services 

for class action, warranty, and other legal settlements. Legal 

Settlement Administration consists of two product lines: 

The Garden City Group, Inc. (GCG) and Strategic Warranty 

Services, formerly Crawford Inspection Services. 

Crawford’s wholly-owned subsidiary, GCG, administers a 

wide range of legal settlements relating to securities and 

consumer class actions, antitrust, insurance, product liability, 

and other commercial matters including Chapter 11 bank-

ruptcy cases. In addition to the hurdle of trying to match or 

better GCG’s unprecedented record performance in 2006, 

the legal landscape was punctuated by a growing trend 

for courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court, to restrict the 

use of class actions. Despite these headwinds, 2007 was 

still a successful year as GCG was awarded several contracts 

including some of the largest securities cases of the year. 

In addition, due to the conditions in the fi nancial markets, 

we expect an increase in bankruptcy fi lings in 2008 

which should bode well with our bankruptcy claims agent 

practice in the coming years. In order to respond to ever 

growing competition in our markets, GCG has signifi cantly 

expanded its sales force with new sales associates and 

offi  ces around the country. These are in addition to pre-

existing operations on both U.S. coasts and a centralized 

data handling and processing  facility in Dublin, Ohio.

For more than 20 years, GCG has specialized in providing law 

fi rms and corporations with comprehensive class action set-

tlement administration services. Among its many milestones, 

GCG has mailed more than 100 million notices, expedited 

hundreds of thousands of phone calls, administered over a 

thousand cases, processed millions of claims,  distributed 

billions of dollars in compensation, issued  millions of checks 

and coupons, and designed hundreds of case websites.

Our inspections business has been re-branded as Strategic 

Warranty Services (SWS) to better refl ect the wider array of 

services it now off ers to manufacturers seeking to out-

source all or a portion of their warranty administration and 

inspection work. While still performing inspections for a 

number of building product class action settlements, SWS 

has made a natural expansion to warranty services for 

manufacturers of composite decking, doors, windows, 

vinyl siding, and trim. Further expansion is planned within 

these areas as well as to a diverse range of other products 

beyond building components. 

In just over a decade, we’ve performed over a million 

inspections of building components including product 

performance and warranty claims, recalls, and nationwide 

class actions. SWS is a leader in reducing the cost of fi eld 

inspections, controlling warranty service and repair costs, 

increasing sales force effi  ciency, pinpointing emerging prod-

uct performance issues, and verifying proper installation.  
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06 07050403 06

$130.7

07

$100.6

05

$114.3

04

$88.9

03

$77.2

Legal Settlement 
Administration Revenue
in millions

LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION SERVICES

THE GARDEN CITY GROUP (GCG)

❍  Designs and executes innovative legal 
notice programs

❍  Administers all phases of the legal 
settlement, from noticing through 
distribution

❍  Provides real-time information access 
to parties at all times

❍  Manages practical Chapter 11 claims 
administrations

❍  Executes complete document 
management services

❍   Provides, or arranges for, expert 
consultation services

Th e Legal Settlement Administration business unit includes Th e Garden City Group, a leading 

 provider of third-party administrative services to class action lawsuits, and Strategic Warranty 

Services, a leader in warranty administration and inspection.

STRATEGIC WARRANTY SERVICES (SWS)

❍  Inspects and evaluates building products 
class action and warranty claims

❍  Provides inspection and audit services 
through desk reviews for claims program 
compliance

❍  Quality Assurance Center devoted solely 
to this unit

2007 Annual Report
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Crawford Educational Services is the only adjuster  education 

program of its kind. Previously known as Crawford University, 

the name Crawford Educational Services accurately refl ects 

our full range of training and educational services for the 

loss-adjustment industry.

We believe that investing in people is the key to any 

 company’s future. By providing quality training, individuals 

are more likely to realize their own professional goals 

and associate their success with the Company’s success. 

Personal success is a great motivator, and motivated 

 people who enjoy their work are much more likely to 

 satisfy their customers’ needs, which should be any 

 company’s ultimate goal.

We made several notable changes to our training facility 

and training delivery capacity in 2007. In June, we opened 

our National Training Center in Crawford’s new worldwide 

headquarters in Atlanta. With over 10,000 square feet of 

classroom space, the National Training Center is truly one 

of a kind in our industry. We educated 873 students in a 

classroom setting and provided more than 800 continuing 

education and career path programs from our U.S.-based 

training  center in 2007. In addition, 1,438 students were 

trained in our other training centers in Canada and 

the United Kingdom. 

In the latter part of 2007, we enhanced our training pro-

grams with the acquisition of an online training  company. 

With this distance learning capability, now branded Crawford 

OnlineSM, we are now able to off er basic classes that are con-

ducted partially online prior to the learner participating in 

our on-site application workshops. This approach to learning 

provides the learner with the same content and application 

in a much shorter timeframe while concurrently reducing 

training expenses to the client. Our Learning Management 

System and developed learning modules are off ered to both 

associates and the industry at large.

In early 2008, Crawford Educational Services began to off er 

continuing education credits for online courses in those 

states requiring continuing education credits for adjusters 

in the areas of property, casualty, and workers’ compensa-

tion courses.

Whether it is related to property, casualty, or workers’ 

 compensation, our training classes, online programs, or 

customized training courses taught at the clients’ facilities 

will provide both insightful and practical learning experi-

ences. Each training course is led by experienced claims 

professionals who have in-depth knowledge and experi-

ence with the subject and our industry.

At Crawford, we are committed to Excellence in Everything 

We TouchSM. Because of this commitment, we believe that 

excellence should not stop at our front door. We believe 

in being the “thought leader” in our industry, and we are 

committed to positively impacting our industry by sharing 

the knowledge and experience we have gained since our 

founding in 1941. 

CRAWFORD EDUCATIONAL SERVICES 
supports Th e Strength of Working Together as the industry 
standard for adjuster education.
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With over 10,000 square feet of classroom space, the National Training Center is truly one 
of a kind in our industry. We educated 873 students in a classroom setting and provided 
over 800 continuing education and career path programs from our U.S.-based training 
center in 2007.

CRAWFORD
ONLINESM

off ers

106
CLASSES
TO ASSOCIATES 
AND CLIENTS 

CRAWFORD
EDUCATIONAL 

SERVICES
trained

2,311
STUDENTS 

IN 2007

2007 Annual Report
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Since Crawford & Company’s founding in 1941, we have 

taken pride in our strong commitment to supporting 

the communities in which we do business. At the corporate 

level, the branch level, and in Crawford’s offi  ces around the 

world, we support communities through  corporate giving 

and by encouraging associate giving and volunteerism. 

Our corporate giving continues to be inspired by the 

renowned philanthropic work of Virginia Crawford, late 

wife of Crawford founder Jim Crawford. At the local level, 

associate giving and community involvement fl ow directly 

from the many connections our associates have with their 

communities. Taken together, community giving and vol-

unteerism at the corporate and associate level add up to a 

strong record of giving back to our  communities. 

Crawford’s corporate commitment to charitable causes in 

2007 included the American Heart Association, the Children’s 

Healthcare of Atlanta medical center, museums, and college 

scholarships. In 2007, The Garden City Group supported 

cancer research, and its associates raised money for autism 

research. In addition, Crawford associates across the United 

States gave of their time to support a multitude of worthy 

causes, including breast cancer research, local food banks, 

and  children’s causes. 

Internationally, Crawford Canada continues to lead the 

way with charitable engagement. Launched in 2003, 

the Crawford Cares program announced in 2007 that 

the program has raised a total of CDN$200,000 for the 

Women in Insurance Cancer Crusade (WICC), which is 

the designated recipient of associate contributions and 

fundraising. Crawford Cares also promotes associate 

 volunteerism, giving associates an opportunity to make 

a diff erence in a chosen charity. Crawford’s clients have 

also raised over CDN$40,000 over the years though 

Crawford’s annual charity golf tournament.

For the last two years, in the United Kingdom and Ireland, 

Crawford has matched associate donations to approved 

charities. For associates involved in a charity, the matching 

program has made a diff erence in community eff orts 

such as youth soccer and choirs, as well as cancer research, 

animal welfare, and hospice care. 

We recognize that being an environmentally friendly orga-

nization is vital to sustaining the conditions for  continued 

prosperity. At the corporate level, all of our locations are 

committed to extensive recycling programs. In 2007, 

Crawford’s fl eet of company cars was switched to more 

fuel-effi  cient four-cylinder engine cars with lower emis-

sions. When we moved into a new headquarters facility 

in 2007, we chose new carpeting, workstations, and chairs 

that are certifi ed as both highly recyclable and for their 

use of recycled materials. Our Information Communication 

and Technology department has undertaken numerous 

green initiatives, including the promotion of teleworking, 

an extensive personal computer recycling program, and 

the use of software that results in a dramatic reduction in 

server use (which results in a signifi cantly reduced need 

for electricity to power and cool servers). 

Crawford & Company believes that it is our social responsi-

bility to support organizations that benefi t society and 

contribute to environmental sustainability projects. This 

summary is only an overview of the deep commitment we 

have at the corporate and associate level for reaching these 

important goals. 

CRAWFORD CARES: 
Community Involvement and 
Environmentally Sustainable Practices Around the globe, Crawford associates give of their time, energy, 

and expertise to make the world a better place.
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DIRECTORS AND GLOBAL EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Thomas W. Crawford
Chairman of the Board, 
Crawford & Company

Jeffrey T. Bowman
President and Chief 
Executive Offi  cer, 
Crawford & Company

Jesse C. Crawford
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

dollars in millions

2007 REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

$554 | 57%  Global Property & Casualty

$321 | 33%  Broadspire

$100 | 10%   Legal Settlement Administration

dollars in millions

2007 OPERATING EARNINGS

$29.3 | 64%  Global Property & Casualty

$3.8 | 8%  Broadspire

$12.5 | 28%   Legal Settlement Administration

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS:

For the years ended December 31,  2007  2006 % Change

Revenues Before Reimbursements $ 975.1 $ 819.5  19.0 %

Net Income  16.1  15.0 7.4 %

Cash Provided by Operating Activities  23.3  52.7 (55.8 %)

Earnings Per Share – Basic and Diluted  0.32  0.30 6.7 %

Return on Average Shareholders’ Investment  6.9 %  7.7 % (10.4 %)

Cash Dividends Per Share – Class A and B  0.00  0.18* (100.0 %)

*represents three quarterly dividend payments

dollars in millions, except per share amounts
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
 FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Business Overview
Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company is the world’s 
largest independent provider of claims management solutions 
to insurance companies and self-insured entities, with a global 
network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries. Our major 
service lines include property and casualty claims management, 
integrated claims and medical management for workers’ compen-
sation, legal settlement administration including class action and 
warranty inspections, and risk management information services. 
Our shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the 
symbols CRDA and CRDB.

Insurance companies, which represent the major source of 

our global revenues, customarily manage their own claims 

administration function but require certain services which we 

provide, primarily fi eld investigation and evaluation of property 

and casualty insurance claims. 

Self-insured entities typically require a broader range of services 

from us. In addition to fi eld investigation and evaluation of their 

claims, we may also provide initial loss reporting services for their 

claimants, loss mitigation services such as medical case manage-

ment and vocational rehabilitation, risk management information 

services, and administration of the trust funds established to pay 

their claims. 

We also perform legal settlement administration services related 

to securities, product liability, and other class action settlements 

and bankruptcies, including identifying and qualifying class 

members, determining and dispensing settlement payments, 

and administering the settlement funds. Such services are 

generally referred to by us as class action services. We also 

conduct inspections related to building component products 

in various contexts ranging from class actions to warranty and 

product performance claims.

The claims management services market, both in the U.S. and 

internationally, is highly competitive and comprised of a large 

number of companies of varying size and scope of services. The 

demand from insurance companies and self-insured entities for 

services provided by independent claims service fi rms like us is 

largely dependent on industry-wide claims volumes, which are 

aff ected by the insurance underwriting cycle, weather-related 

events, general economic activity, and overall employment levels 

and associated workplace injury rates. Accordingly, we are limited 

in our ability to predict case volumes that may be referred to us in 

the future.

We generally earn our revenues on an individual fee-per-claim 

basis for claims management services we provide to property 

and casualty insurance companies and self-insured entities. 

Accordingly, the volume of claim referrals to us is a key driver of 

our revenues. When the insurance underwriting market is soft, 

insurance companies are generally more aggressive in the risks 

they underwrite, and insurance premiums and policy deductibles 

decline. This usually results in an increase in industry-wide claim 

referrals which will increase claim referrals to us provided we 

maintain at least our existing share of the overall claim services 

market. During a hard insurance underwriting market, insurance 

companies become very selective in the risks they underwrite 

and insurance premiums and policy deductibles typically increase, 

sometimes quite dramatically. This usually results in a reduction in 

industry-wide claims volumes, which reduces claim referrals to us 

unless we can off set the decline in claim referrals with growth in 

our share of the overall claims services market. During both hard 

and soft insurance underwriting markets, we are also impacted by 

decisions insurance companies may make to change the level of 

claims handled by independent claim service fi rms like us versus 

handling them with their own in-house claims adjusters. Our ability 

to grow our market share in such a highly fragmented, competitive 

market is primarily dependent on the delivery of superior quality 

service and eff ective, properly focused sales eff orts. 

The legal settlement administration market is also highly competi-

tive but comprised of a smaller number of specialized entities 

servicing the securities class action, bankruptcy, and product 

warranty and inspection markets. The demand for legal settlement 

administration services is not directly tied to or aff ected by the 

insurance underwriting cycle. The demand for these services is 

largely dependent on the volume of securities and product liability 

class action settlements, the volume of Chapter 11 bankruptcy 

fi lings and the resulting settlements, the occurrence of product 

warranty claims, and general economic conditions. Our revenues 

for legal settlement administration services are generally project-

based and we earn these revenues as we perform individual tasks 

and deliver the outputs as outlined in each project.

CRAWFORD & COMPANY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
 FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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SUMMARY OVERVIEW OF 2007 RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS

Operating results in 2007 refl ected strong performance in our 

International Operations segment which generated record 

revenues and operating earnings, off set by declining revenues in 

our U.S. Property & Casualty and Legal Settlement Administration 

segments. During 2006, the Legal Settlement Administration 

segment was completing several major securities class action 

projects and by comparison, in 2007 experienced a period 

of comparatively slower class action activity. Our U.S. Property 

& Casualty segment continued to experience a downturn in 

revenues, primarily as a result of lower industry-wide claim 

frequency and the absence of signifi cant storm activity. The 

Broadspire segment benefi ted from the operational synergies 

we expected when we completed the acquisition of Broadspire 

Management Services, Inc. (“BMSI”) on October 31, 2006. The 

Broadspire segment had operating earnings of $3.8 million 

compared to a loss of $21.6 million in 2006. Operating earnings 

do not include additional interest expense incurred to fi nance 

the acquisition nor does it include approximately $5.9 million and 

$982,000 of amortization expense in 2007 and 2006, respectively, 

for the amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets 

arising from the acquisition. We expect further synergy savings 

in the Broadspire segment after we complete a major systems 

initiative toward the end of 2008.

Cash fl ow from operations was $23.3 million in 2007 compared 

to $52.7 million in 2006. The decline was primarily due to costs to 

service the growth in unbilled revenues in the United Kingdom 

(“U.K.”), costs to service the net decline in deferred revenues in the 

U.S., and an increase in interest paid on our debt. The growth in 

unbilled revenues in the U.K. was due to the severe storm activity 

experienced in that country during the 2007 summer months. We 

expect to bill and collect most of the unbilled revenues associated 

with these storms during 2008. The decline in deferred revenues 

was attributable to the ongoing completion of open claims 

assumed from BMSI, net of additional deferred revenues gener-

ated by new claims referred to us subsequent to the date of the 

BMSI acquisition. We made progress against our outstanding 

long-term borrowings by making $12.5 million in voluntary 

payments during the year.

Results of Consolidated Operations
Consolidated net income was $16.1 million in 2007 compared to 

$15.0 million in 2006 and $12.9 million in 2005. 

Consolidated net income in 2007 included a gain of $3.1 million, 

net of related income taxes, related to the June 30, 2006 sale of 

our former corporate headquarters. This gain was initially deferred 

pending the expiration of a leaseback arrangement related to that 

facility which ended during the second quarter of 2007. Consoli-

dated net income for 2007 also included a gain of $2.5 million, 

net of related income taxes, from the sale of our U.S. subrogation 

services business in February 2007 and recognition of a previously 

unrecognized tax benefi t of $2.0 million in 2007. 

Consolidated net income in 2006 included an expense of 

$1.9 million, net of related income taxes, as a result of restructuring 

activities undertaken in connection with our acquisition of BMSI 

and the associated refi nancing of our credit agreements. Consoli-

dated net income in 2006 also included a gain of $1.9 million, 

net of related income taxes, on the disposal of the Company’s 

investigative services business. 

With the exception of income taxes, net corporate interest 

expense, amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets, 

stock option expense, unallocated corporate and shared costs, 

and certain other gains and expenses, our results of operations 

are discussed and analyzed by our four operating segments: 

U.S. Property & Casualty, International Operations, Broadspire, and 

Legal Settlement Administration. The discussion and analysis of 

our operating segments follows the sections on income taxes, net 

corporate interest expense, amortization of customer-relationship 

intangible assets, stock option expense, unallocated corporate 

and shared costs, and other gains and expenses.

INCOME TAXES

Taxes on income totaled $5.4 million, $9.1 million, and $7.1 million 

for 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Our consolidated eff ective 

tax rate for fi nancial reporting purposes may change periodically 

due to changes in enacted tax rates, fl uctuations in the mix of 

income earned from our various domestic and international 

operations, our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards 

in certain of our subsidiaries, and changes in amounts recorded 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
 FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

related to uncertain income tax positions. Our eff ective tax rate 

for fi nancial reporting purposes in 2007 was 25.1%. Our eff ective 

tax rate for fi nancial reporting purposes in 2006 was 37.5%. This 

rate decreased in 2007 due primarily to changes in uncertain 

tax positions and fl uctuations in the mix of income earned from 

our international operations, which generally have lower tax rates, 

as compared to our domestic operations, which generally have 

higher tax rates. Our eff ective tax rate for fi nancial reporting 

purposes in 2005 was 35.4%.

NET CORPORATE INTEREST EXPENSE

Net corporate interest expense is comprised of interest expense 

that we incur on our short- and long-term borrowings, partially 

off set by interest income we earn on available cash balances and 

short-term investments. These amounts vary based on interest 

rates, borrowings outstanding, and the amounts of invested 

cash and short-term investments. Interest expense will also be 

impacted by our interest rate swap agreement that we entered 

into in May 2007. Corporate interest expense totaled $19.2 million, 

$8.1 million, and $5.9 million for 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. 

The increase in interest expense in 2007 was due primarily to 

higher levels of outstanding borrowings throughout the year. 

Corporate interest income totaled $1.9 million, $2.4 million, and 

$714,000 for 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Corporate interest 

income decreased in 2007 over 2006 due primarily to lower 

invested cash balances and overall declines in interest rates during 

2007. Also during 2006, we received and recognized additional 

interest income of $288,000 related to a tax refund claim originally 

settled with the IRS in June 2004. 

AMORTIZATION OF CUSTOMERRELATIONSHIP 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets 

primarily represents the non-cash amortization expense for 

customer-relationship intangible assets acquired during our 

2006 acquisitions of BMSI and Specialty Liability Services, Ltd. 

(“SLS”). Amortization expense associated with these intangible 

assets totaled $6.0 million and $1.1 million in 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. This amortization is included in Selling, General, 

and Administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements 

of Income. There were no such expenses in 2005. 

STOCK OPTION EXPENSE

Stock option expense, a component of stock-based compensa-

tion, is comprised of non-cash expenses related to stock options 

granted under our various stock option and employee stock 

purchase plans. Stock option expense is not allocated to our 

operating segments. Most of our stock option grants that are 

subject to expense recognition under Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” 

(“SFAS 123R”), were granted prior to 2005. Other stock-based 

compensation expense related to our executive stock bonus plan 

(performance shares and restricted shares) is allocated to our 

operating segments and included in the determination of 

segment operating earnings or loss. Stock option expense of 

$1.2 million was recognized during both 2007 and 2006 under the 

provisions of SFAS 123R. We adopted SFAS 123R eff ective January 

1, 2006. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we accounted for 

stock option grants and employee stock purchase plans under 

the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, 

“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). There was 

no stock option expense for 2005 recognized in our Consolidated 

Statements of Income under the provisions of APB 25.

UNALLOCATED CORPORATE AND SHARED COSTS

Certain unallocated costs and credits are excluded from the 

determination of segment operating earnings. These unallocated 

corporate and shared costs primarily represent costs or credits 

related to our frozen U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan, expenses 

for our CEO, our Board of Directors, costs associated with the 

relocation of our corporate headquarters, certain adjustments to 

our self-insured liabilities, certain software, and certain adjustments 

to our allowances for doubtful accounts receivable. Unallocated 

corporate and shared costs were a net cost of $8.4 million in 

2007, a net credit of $3.4 million in 2006, and a net cost of 

$931,000 in 2005.

OTHER GAINS AND EXPENSES 

Eff ective February 28, 2007, we completed a strategic alliance 

with Trover Solutions, Inc. (“Trover”). As part of this transaction, we 

sold the operating assets of our subrogation services business to 

Trover for $5.0 million in cash and a potential future earnout of 

$1.4 million. This business was part of our U.S. Property & Casualty 

operating segment. We recognized a pretax gain of $4.0 million 

from this transaction based on the initial sales price of $5.0 million 
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and derecognized $571,000 of associated goodwill. As part of 

this sale transaction, approximately 30 of our subrogation services 

employees were off ered employment with Trover. Concurrent 

with the sale, we also entered into a services agreement with 

Trover. Under the terms of this agreement, Trover provides 

subrogation and recovery services to certain of our clients and 

we receive an administrative fee generated from these revenues 

earned by Trover. Due to the signifi cance of this agreement in 

relationship to the sold business, we have not reported the sold 

business as a discontinued operation for fi nancial reporting 

purposes. Based on fi nancial results through December 31, 2007, 

we have not recognized a receivable from Trover under the 

$1.4 million potential earnout.

On June 30, 2006 we sold the land and building utilized as our 

former corporate headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. These assets 

had a net carrying amount of $2.8 million. The base sales price 

of $8.0 million was received in cash at closing. Also on June 30, 

2006, we entered into a 12-month leaseback agreement for these 

same facilities. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 98, 

“Accounting for Leases,” we initially deferred recognition of the 

gain related to this sale until the leaseback agreement expired on 

June 30, 2007. During the second quarter of 2007, we relocated 

our corporate headquarters to another nearby leased facility. Net 

of transaction costs, a pretax gain of $4.8 million was recognized in 

June 2007 upon expiration of the leaseback agreement. Under the 

sales agreement, the $8.0 million base sales price is subject 

to potential upward revision depending upon the buyer’s ability 

to subsequently redevelop the property. The pretax gain of 

$4.8 million was based on the base sales price and did not include 

any amount for the potential upward revision of the sales price. 

Should such revision subsequently occur, we could ultimately 

realize a larger gain. We cannot predict the likelihood of any 

subsequent price revisions.

During September 2006, we sold the operating assets of our 

investigations services business to MJM Investigations, Inc. 

(“MJM”), resulting in a pretax gain of $3.1 million. This business was 

part of our U.S. Property & Casualty operating segment. We also 

entered into a long-term agreement with MJM to refer our clients 

to MJM for surveillance and investigative services. Under the 

agreement, we receive an administrative fee from MJM for these 

referrals. The operating results of the investigations services 

business are included in our consolidated fi nancial statements 

through the date of sale, and due to the signifi cance of the 

agreement with MJM in relationship to the disposed business, we 

have not reported the historical results of this disposed business 

as discontinued operations. After refl ecting income taxes, this 

gain increased 2006 net income by $1.9 million. Revenues before 

reimbursements in 2006 and 2005 related to this disposed business 

were approximately $6.5 million and $9.6 million, respectively. 

On October 31, 2006, we completed the acquisition of BMSI 

pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 18, 2006 

and entered into a new secured credit agreement with a syndica-

tion of lenders. As a result of these transactions, we recorded a 

pretax charge of $3.1 million related to restructuring activities 

in the new Broadspire operating segment, primarily for staff  

reductions and the consolidation of existing leased locations, and 

also a loss on the early retirement of our former credit facility. After 

refl ecting income taxes, these expenses reduced 2006 net income 

by $1.9 million.

Segment Operating Results
Our operating segments, U.S. Property & Casualty, International 

Operations, Broadspire, and Legal Settlement Administration, 

represent components of our business for which separate fi nancial 

information is available that is evaluated regularly by our chief 

operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources 

and in assessing performance. U.S. Property & Casualty serves the 

U.S. property and casualty insurance company market. Interna-

tional Operations serves the property and casualty insurance 

company markets outside of the U.S. Broadspire serves the self-

insurance market place and it includes our former Crawford 

Integrated Services (“CIS”) business and the operations of BMSI 

since the date of acquisition of BMSI in 2006. Legal Settlement 

Administration serves the securities, bankruptcy, product 

warranties and inspections, and other legal settlements markets. 

Segment operating earnings is our segment measure of profi t 

(loss) required to be disclosed by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure about 

Segments of Enterprises and Related Information,” as discussed 

in Note 10 to our consolidated fi nancial statements included 

in this Annual Report. Segment operating earnings (or loss) is 

the primary fi nancial performance measure used by our senior 
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management and chief operating decision maker to evaluate 

the fi nancial performance of our operating segments and make 

resource allocation decisions. We believe this measure is useful 

to investors in that it allows them to evaluate segment operating 

performance using the same criteria our management uses. 

Operating earnings will diff er from net income computed in accor-

dance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) since 

operating earnings exclude income tax expense, net corporate 

interest expense, amortization of customer-relationship intangible 

assets, stock option expense, certain other gains and expenses, and 

certain unallocated corporate and shared costs. 

Income taxes, net corporate interest expense, amortization of 

customer-relationship intangible assets, and stock option expense 

are recurring components of our net income, but they are not 

considered part of our segment operating earnings since they 

are managed on a corporate-wide basis. Net corporate interest 

expense results from capital structure decisions made by manage-

ment. Amortization expense relates to non-cash amortization 

expense of customer-relationship intangible assets resulting from 

business combinations. Stock option expense is the non-cash 

cost related to historically granted stock options which are not 

allocated to our operating segments. Income taxes are based on 

statutory rates in eff ect in each of the locations where we provide 

services and vary throughout the world. None of these costs relates 

directly to the performance of our services or operating activities, 

and therefore are excluded from segment operating earnings in 

order to better assess the results of our segment operating 

activities on a consistent basis. Certain other gains and expenses 

represent events (such as gain on sale of real estate, gains on sales 

of businesses, restructuring costs, and loss on early retirement of 

debt) that are not considered part of our segment operating 

earnings since they historically have not regularly impacted our 

performance and are not expected to impact our future perfor-

mance on a regular basis. Unallocated corporate and shared costs 

represent expenses and credits related to CEO and Board of 

Directors’ functions, certain provisions to bad debt allowances or 

subsequent recoveries such as those related to bankrupt clients, 

defi ned benefi t pension costs for our frozen U.S. pension plan, 

certain software, and certain self-insurance costs and recoveries 

that are not allocated to our individual operating segments.

In the normal course of our business, we sometimes pay for 

certain out-of-pocket expenses that are reimbursed by our 

clients. Under GAAP, these out-of-pocket expenses and associated 

reimbursements are reported as revenues and expenses in our 

Consolidated Statements of Income. In some of the discussion 

and analysis that follows, we do not believe it is informative to 

include the GAAP-required gross up of our revenues and expenses 

for these reimbursed expenses. The amounts of reimbursed 

expenses and related revenues off set each other in our Consoli-

dated Statements of Income with no impact to our net income. 

Unless noted in the following discussion and analysis, revenue 

amounts exclude reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses 

and expense amounts exclude reimbursed out-of-pocket 

expenses, income taxes, net corporate interest expense, amortiza-

tion of customer-relationship intangible assets, stock option 

expense, certain other gains and expenses, and unallocated 

corporate and shared costs.

Our discussion and analysis of operating expenses is comprised 

of two components. Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefi ts 

include all compensation, payroll taxes, and benefi ts provided to 

our employees, which as a service company, represents our most 

signifi cant and variable expense. Expenses Other Than Direct 

Compensation and Fringe Benefi ts include outsourced services, 

offi  ce rent and occupancy costs, other offi  ce operating expenses, 

cost of risk, amortization and depreciation expense other than 

amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets, and 

allocated corporate and shared costs. 

Allocated corporate and shared costs are allocated to our 

operating segments based primarily on usage. These allocated 

costs are included in the determination of segment operating 

earnings. In 2007, we changed our method of allocating certain 

corporate overhead and shared costs from a revenue-based 

model to a usage-based model. Prior periods have been restated 

on the same basis as the new allocation method. 

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with 

our consolidated fi nancial statements and the accompanying notes.
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Operating results for our U.S. Property & Casualty, International Operations, Broadspire, and Legal Settlement Administration segments 

reconciled to net income, were as follows:

(in thousands) % Change From Prior Year

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006

Revenues Before Reimbursements:
 U.S. Property & Casualty $ 177,179 $ 209,985 $ 224,414  (15.6%)  (6.4%)
 International  376,639  303,697  285,413  24.0%  6.4%
 Broadspire  320,774  175,149  147,865  83.1%  18.5%
 Legal Settlement Administration  100,551  130,691  114,291  (23.1%)  14.3%

  Total, before reimbursements  975,143  819,522  771,983  19.0%  6.2%
 Reimbursements  76,135  80,858  82,784  (5.8%)  (2.3%)

   Total Revenues $ 1,051,278 $ 900,380 $ 854,767  16.8%  5.3%

Direct Compensation & Fringe Benefi ts: 
 U.S. Property & Casualty $ 117,347 $ 135,422 $ 139,374  (13.3%)  (2.8%)
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  66.3%  64.5%  62.1%
 International  260,041  212,522  199,421  22.4%  6.6%
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  69.1%  70.0%  69.9%
 Broadspire  197,893  118,342  94,511  67.2%  25.2%
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  61.7%  67.5%  63.9%

 Legal Settlement Administration  50,483  53,122  42,817  (5.0%)  24.1%
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  50.2%  40.6%  37.4%

   Total $ 625,764 $ 519,408 $ 476,123  20.5%  9.1%
   % of Revenues before reimbursements  64.2%  63.4%  61.7%

Expenses Other than Direct Compensation & Fringe Benefi ts: 
 U.S. Property & Casualty $ 55,157 $ 61,549 $ 73,623  (10.4%)  (16.4%)
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  31.1%  29.3%  32.8%
 International  91,938   76,724  74,138  19.8%  3.5%
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  24.4%  25.2%  25.9%
 Broadspire  119,060  78,410  70,875  51.8%  10.6%
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  37.1%  44.8%  47.9%
 Legal Settlement Administration  37,547  54,587  51,208  (31.2%)  6.6%
 % of related revenues before reimbursements  37.3%  41.8%  44.9%

  Total, before reimbursements  303,702  271,270  269,844  12.0%  0.5%
  % of Revenues before reimbursements  31.1%  32.5%  34.9%
 Reimbursements  76,135  80,858  82,784  (5.8%)  (2.3%)

  Total  $ 379,837 $ 352,128 $ 352,628  7.9%  (0.1%)
  % of Revenues  36.1%  39.1%  41.3%

Table continued on page 30
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(in thousands) % Change From Prior Year

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006

Operating Segment Earnings (Loss): 
 U.S. Property & Casualty $ 4,675 $ 13,014 $ 11,417  (64.1%)  14.0%
  % of related revenues before reimbursements  2.6%  6.2%  5.1%
 International  24,660  14,451  11,854  70.6%  21.9%
  % of related revenues before reimbursements  6.5%  4.8%  4.2%
 Broadspire  3,821  (21,603)  (17,521)  117.7%  23.3%
  % of related revenues before reimbursements  1.2%  (12.3%)  (11.8%)
 Legal Settlement Administration  12,521  22,982  20,266  (45.5%)  13.4%
  % of related revenues before reimbursements  12.5%  17.6%  17.7%

 Add/(deduct): 
  Unallocated corporate credits and shared costs, net  (8,447)  3,351  (931)  (352.1%)  (459.9%)
  Net corporate interest expense  (17,326)  (5,753)  (5,145)  201.1%  11.8%
  Stock option expense  (1,191)  (1,220)  –  (2.4%)  100.0%
  Amortization of customer-relationship intangibles  (6,025)  (1,124)  –  436.0%  100.0%
  Other gains and expenses, net  8,824  (27)  –  nm  100.0%
  Income taxes  (5,396)  (9,060)  (7,059)  (40.4%)  28.3%

Net income $ 16,116 $ 15,011 $ 12,881  7.4%  16.5%

nm= not meaningful

U.S. Property & Casualty
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Operating earnings for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment 

decreased from $13.0 million in 2006 to $4.7 million in 2007, 

representing an operating margin of 2.6% in 2007 compared to 

6.2% in 2006. The decline was primarily due to the decreases in 

revenues and incremental profi ts produced by our catastrophe 

adjusters and lower casualty claim frequency.

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

U.S. Property & Casualty segment revenues are primarily generated 

from the property and casualty insurance market. U.S. Property 

& Casualty revenues before reimbursements decreased 15.6% to 

$177.2 million in 2007 compared to $210.0 million in 2006. These 

declines were due to lower casualty and catastrophic claims activity, 

the sale of our subrogation services business in the fi rst quarter 

of 2007, and the sale of our investigation services business in the 

third quarter of 2006. The gains on the sales of these two businesses 

are not included in operating earnings. Revenues generated by 

our catastrophe adjusters totaled $8.3 million in 2007 compared 

to $24.3 million in 2006 when we were responding to catastrophic 

claims in the northeastern and midwestern sections of the U.S. 

and completing carryover claims resulting from 2005 hurricanes 

Katrina, Rita and Wilma. There were no major hurricanes impacting 

the U.S. in 2007 or 2006, and thus 2007 revenues were not impacted 

by current year claims or carryover claims from 2006. U.S. Property 

& Casualty revenues in 2006 included $6.5 million produced by 

our investigation services business. Our investigation services 

business was sold in the 2006 third quarter. Revenues in 2006 

also included $2.3 million produced by our subrogation services 

business. The assets and operations of the subrogation services 

business were sold in the 2007 fi rst quarter. See the following 

analysis of U.S. Property & Casualty cases received. 

In 2007, U.S. Property & Casualty segment revenues declined 

4.1% from 2006 due to the sale of our subrogation services and 

investigation services businesses and 13.0% from changes in 

the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those 

services. The segment unit volume, measured principally by cases 

received and excluding claims associated with the sold investiga-

tions service and subrogation businesses, increased 1.5% from 

2006 to 2007. The decrease in revenue produced by our catastrophe 

adjusters and the increase in referrals of high-frequency, low-

severity vehicle claims from our U.S. insurance company clients 
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decreased our average revenue per claim in 2007. These factors 

resulted in a net 15.6% decrease in U.S. Property & Casualty 

revenues before reimbursements from 2006 to 2007.

CASE VOLUME ANALYSIS

Excluding dispositions, U.S. Property & Casualty unit volumes by 

major service line, as measured by cases received, for 2007 and 

2006 were as follows:

(whole numbers) 2007 2006 Variance

Property  168,847  164,300 2.8%

Vehicle   110,436  101,836 8.4%

Casualty  95,478  103,988 (8.2%)

Catastrophe Services  12,012  23,208 (48.2%)

Workers’ Compensation  21,296  17,827 19.5%

Other   9,431  39 nm

 Total U.S. Property & 
  Casualty Cases Received  417,500  411,198 1.5%

nm= not meaningful 

The 2007 increase in property claims was due to increases in  

high-frequency, low-severity claims. The 2007 increase in vehicle 

claims was primarily due to additional claims referred to us under 

a contract entered into during 2006. The 2007 decline in casualty 

claims was due primarily to a reduction in claims from our existing 

clients. The 2007 decline in catastrophe services claims was due to 

an overall lack of catastrophic events in 2007 in the U.S. compared 

to 2006 which included catastrophic claims in the northeastern 

and southeastern sections of the U.S. and carryover claims resulting 

from the 2005 hurricanes. Workers’ Compensation claims increased 

in 2007 due to increased referrals for outside investigations from 

our Broadspire segment.

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN 
TOTAL REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for our U.S. Property & Casualty operations were $10.8 

million in 2007, decreasing slightly from $11.0 million in 2006. 

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

The most signifi cant expense in our U.S. Property & Casualty 

segment is the compensation of employees, including related 

payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts. U.S. Property & Casualty direct 

compensation and fringe benefi ts expense, as a percent of the 

related revenues before reimbursements, increased to 66.3% 

in 2007 compared to 64.5% in 2006. This percentage increase 

primarily refl ected lower staff  utilization in this segment during 

2007. There was an average of 1,623 full-time equivalent employ-

ees (including 62 catastrophe adjusters) in 2007 compared to an 

average of 1,983 (including 147 catastrophe adjusters) in 2006. The 

number of employees for the 2006 period included 84 employees 

in our investigation services business and 26 employees in our 

subrogation services business. The assets and operations of the 

investigation services business were sold on September 29, 2006 

and the assets and operations of the subrogation services 

business were sold on February 28, 2007.

U.S. Property & Casualty salaries and wages decreased 13.5%, to 

$96.0 million in 2007 from $111.0 million in 2006. This decrease 

was the result of the reduced staffi  ng levels in response to lower 

revenues and as a result of administrative effi  ciencies generated 

from our new claims management system introduced during 

2007. Payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts for U.S. Property & Casualty 

totaled $21.3 million in 2007, decreasing 12.7% from 2006 costs 

of $24.4 million. 

EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

U.S. Property & Casualty expenses other than reimbursements, 

direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts 

increased as a percent of U.S. Property & Casualty revenues 

before reimbursements to 31.1% in 2007 from 29.3% in 2006. This 

percentage increase was primarily due to a decrease in revenue in 

2007, even though the actual dollar amounts of these expenses 

decreased in 2007. The decline in the actual dollar amount of these 

expenses in 2007 refl ected the company’s eff orts to reduce costs 

in light of reduced revenues and was also due to lower offi  ce 

operating expenses resulting from the reduced number of 

employees in 2007. 
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 FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

International Operations 
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

International Operations’ operating earnings increased to 

$24.7 million in 2007, an increase of 70.6% from 2006 operating 

earnings of $14.5 million. This improvement refl ected an increase 

in the operating margin from 4.8% in 2006 to 6.5% in 2007. 

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

Substantially all International Operations segment revenues 

are earned from the property and casualty insurance company 

market. Revenues before reimbursements from our International 

Operations totaled $376.6 million in 2007, a 24.0% increase from 

the $303.7 million in 2006. Compared to 2006, the U.S. dollar 

was weaker against most major foreign currencies, resulting in 

a net exchange rate benefi t in 2007. Excluding the benefi t of 

exchange rate fl uctuations, international revenues would have 

been $349.4 million in 2007 refl ecting growth in revenues on a 

constant dollar basis of 15.0%. Excluding acquisitions, International 

Operations unit volume, measured principally by cases received, 

increased 28.3% in 2007 compared to 2006. This growth primarily 

refl ected increased case referrals in each region of our Interna-

tional Operations segment in 2007. See the following analysis 

of International Operations cases received. Revenues before 

reimbursements decreased 15.7% from changes in the mix of 

services provided and in the rates charged for those services. 

An increase in high-frequency, low-severity claims decreased our 

average revenue per claim in 2007. The acquisition of SLS in the 

U.K. during the 2006 fourth quarter increased revenues by 2.4% 

or $7.3 million in 2007 as compared to 2006.

CASE VOLUME ANALYSIS

Excluding the impact of acquisitions, International Operations unit 

volumes by region for 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

(whole numbers) 2007 2006 Variance

United Kingdom  192,535  161,285 19.4%

Americas   201,795  148,111 36.2%

CEMEA    149,569  112,673 32.7%

Asia/Pacifi c  88,567  71,071 24.6%

 Total International Cases 
  Received  632,466  493,140 28.3%

The increase in the U.K. during 2007 was due to an increase 

in claims from new client agreements entered into during 2006 

and 2007 and claims generated by the U.K. fl ooding events in June 

and July 2007. The increase in the Americas was primarily due to 

increased business in Canada from new and existing clients, and 

an increase in high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in Brazil 

and Peru. The increase in Continental Europe, Middle East, & Africa 

(“CEMEA”) was primarily due to weather-related claims in the 

Netherlands, and increased volume from existing clients in Belgium, 

Germany, Norway, and Sweden. The Asia/Pacifi c increase was 

primarily due to high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in 

Singapore and an increase in weather-related activity primarily 

in Australia and Malaysia.

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN TOTAL 
REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for our International Operations segment increased to 

$38.7 million in 2007 from $29.6 million in 2006. This increase was 

due primarily to higher revenues and claims volume in the U.K. 

and Canada and also due to a weaker U.S. dollar during the 

current year.

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

As a percent of segment revenues before reimbursements, direct 

compensation expense, including related payroll taxes and fringe 

benefi ts, decreased slightly to 69.1% in 2007 from 70.0% in 2006. 

This percentage decrease was due to increased utilization of staff  

as a result of the increase in the number of cases received. There 

was an average of 3,702 full-time equivalent employees in 2007, 

up from 3,439 in 2006. 

Salaries and wages of International Operations segment 

personnel increased 24.9% to $221.0 million in 2007 compared 

to $177.0 million in 2006, increasing as a percent of revenues 

before reimbursements from 58.3% in 2006 to 58.7% in 2007. 

This increase was primarily related to the increase in employees 

necessary to service the increased revenues and a weaker U.S. 

dollar during 2007. Payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts increased 

9.9% to $39.0 million in 2007 compared to $35.5 million in 2006, 

decreasing as a percent of revenues before reimbursements from 

11.7% in 2006 to 10.4% in 2007. 
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EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Expenses other than reimbursements, direct compensation and 

related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts decreased as a percent of 

segment revenues before reimbursements from 25.2% in 2006 to 

24.4% in 2007. This percentage decrease in 2007 was due primarily 

to increased revenues without corresponding increases in expenses. 

Broadspire
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006

Our Broadspire segment recorded operating earnings of $3.8 mil-

lion or 1.2% of segment revenues before reimbursements in 2007, 

compared to an operating loss of $21.6 million or 12.3% of segment 

revenues before reimbursements in 2006. Operating results for 

our Broadspire segment only include BMSI results after the point 

which we acquired them on October 31, 2006. The improvements 

refl ected in incremental operating earnings were generated by 

the acquired BMSI business and cost reduction initiatives started 

in November 2006 and continued into 2007. We have taken signifi -

cant steps to reduce operating expenses in the combined Broadspire 

operations, primarily through staff  reductions and consolidation of 

existing leased offi  ce facilities.

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

Broadspire segment revenues are primarily derived from workers’ 

compensation and liability claims management, medical manage-

ment for workers’ compensation, vocational rehabilitation, and risk 

management information services provided to the self-insured 

market place. 

Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements increased 

83.1% to $320.8 million in 2007 compared to $175.1 million in 

2006. The acquisition of BMSI contributed $192.1 million and 

$33.1 million in revenues in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our 

acquisition of BMSI increased Broadspire segment revenues by 

90.7% in 2007. Excluding the impact of the BMSI acquisition on 

2007 cases received, unit volumes for the Broadspire segment, 

measured principally by cases received, decreased 15.4% from 

2006 to 2007. Revenues increased by 7.8% from changes in the 

mix of services provided by our former CIS business (now part of 

the combined Broadspire segment) and in the rates charged for 

those services, resulting in a total 83.1% increase in Broadspire 

segment revenues before reimbursements from 2006 to 2007.

CASE VOLUME ANALYSIS

Excluding the impact of the BMSI acquisition, Broadspire unit 

volumes by major service line, as measured by cases received, for 

2007 and 2006 were as follows:

(whole numbers) 2007 2006 Variance

Workers’ Compensation  76,807  91,936 (16.5%)

Casualty  67,493  74,942 (9.9%)

Other   15,645  22,266 (29.7%)

 Total Broadspire Cases 
  Received  159,945  189,144 (15.4%)

The declines in workers’ compensation and casualty claims in 

2007 were primarily due to reductions in claims from our existing 

clients, only partially off set by net new business gains, and refl ected 

a continuing decline in reported workplace injuries in the U.S. 

The acquisition of BMSI resulted in 121,899 claims referred to us 

in 2007 which are not included in the above table. The decline in 

other claims in 2007 was primarily due to a decline in utilization 

review cases which is typically congruent with workers’ compensa-

tion case trends.

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN 
TOTAL REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for the Broadspire segment were $6.2 million in 2007, 

increasing from $3.6 million in 2006. This increase was primarily 

attributable to the acquisition of BMSI. 

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

The most signifi cant expense in our Broadspire segment is the 

compensation of employees, including related payroll taxes and 

fringe benefi ts. Broadspire’s direct compensation and fringe 

benefi ts expense, as a percent of the related revenues before 

reimbursements, decreased to 61.7% in 2007 compared to 67.5% 

in 2006. This percentage decrease primarily refl ected the synergies 

created by the integration we started in late 2006 when we 

acquired BMSI. These synergies reduced overall expenses by 

approximately $30.4 million in 2007, with no negative impact on 

revenues. Average full-time equivalent employees, including the 

acquired BMSI, totaled 2,674 in 2007, down from 2,956 in 2006. 
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Broadspire segment salaries and wages increased 66.2%, to 

$163.4 million in 2007 from $98.3 million in 2006. This increase 

was primarily the result of additional compensation expense of 

$76.1 million in 2007 associated with the acquired BMSI business. 

Payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts for the Broadspire segment 

totaled $34.5 million in 2007, increasing 72.5% from 2006 costs 

of $20.0 million, due primarily to the full-year impact of the BMSI 

acquisition which added $17.5 million in payroll taxes and fringe 

benefi ts during 2007. 

EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Broadspire segment expenses other than reimbursements, 

direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts 

decreased as a percent of segment revenues before reimburse-

ments to 37.1% in 2007 from 44.8% in 2006. This percentage 

decrease was primarily due to the cost reduction initiatives started 

with the acquisition of BMSI on October 31, 2006. As part of the 

cost reduction initiatives implemented in this segment, we have 

closed and consolidated approximately 26 leased offi  ces through-

out the U.S. These offi  ce closures and consolidations will continue 

through 2009.

Legal Settlement Administration
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Our Legal Settlement Administration segment reported 2007 

operating earnings of $12.5 million, decreasing from $23.0 million 

in 2006 with the related operating margin declining from 17.6% 

in 2006 to 12.5% in 2007.

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

Legal Settlement Administration revenues are primarily derived 

from the securities, product liability, and other legal settlements, 

warranties and inspections, and bankruptcy administration. Legal 

Settlement Administration revenues before reimbursements 

declined 23.1% to $100.6 million in 2007 compared to $130.7 million 

in 2006. Legal Settlement Administration revenues are project-

based and can fl uctuate signifi cantly. During 2007, we were 

awarded 192 new settlement administration assignments com-

pared to 200 in 2006. At December 31, 2007 we had a backlog of 

projects awarded totaling approximately $45.0 million, compared to 

$34.1 million at December 31, 2006. Of the $45.0 million backlog at 

December 31, 2007, an estimated $33.8 million is expected to be 

included in revenues within the next twelve months. 

TRANSACTION VOLUME

Legal Settlement Administration services are generally project-

based and not denominated by individual claims. Depending 

upon the nature of projects and their respective stages of 

completion, the volume of transactions or tasks performed 

in this segment can vary, sometimes signifi cantly.

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN TOTAL 
REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for Legal Settlement Administration were $20.5 million 

in 2007, decreasing from $36.7 million in 2006. This decrease was 

primarily attributable to lower Legal Settlement Administration 

revenues in 2007 and higher out-of-pocket costs in 2006 related 

to certain securities class action settlements that we were 

administering. The nature and volume of work performed in 

our Legal Settlement Administration segment typically requires 

more reimbursable out-of-pocket expenditures than our other 

operating segments.

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Legal Settlement Administration’s direct compensation expense, 

including related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts, as a percent of 

segment revenues before reimbursements increased to 50.2% in 

2007 compared to 40.6% in 2006. The 2007 percentage increase 

was primarily due to an increase in operating capacity during 

2007 due to lower class action settlement activity. Also, in 2007 

we utilized internal staff  resources to perform more of the tasks 

related to our service delivery and did not use outsourced service 

providers to the extent that we have in the past. There was an 

average of 571 full-time equivalent employees in 2007, compared 

to an average of 565 in 2006.

Legal Settlement Administration salaries and wages, including 

incentive compensation, decreased 6.8%, to $43.6 million in 2007 

from $46.8 million in 2006. This decrease was primarily the result 

of lower incentive compensation cost. Payroll taxes and fringe 

benefi ts for Legal Settlement Administration totaled $6.9 million in 

2007, increasing 7.8% from 2006 costs of $6.4 million. The increase 

in 2007 was due primarily to higher costs for employee benefi ts. 
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EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

One of our most signifi cant expenses in Legal Settlement Adminis-

tration is outsourced services due to the variable, project-based 

nature of our work. Legal Settlement Administration expenses other 

than reimbursements, direct compensation and related payroll 

taxes and fringe benefi ts decreased as a percent of related segment 

revenues before reimbursements to 37.3% in 2007 from 41.8% 

in 2006. This decrease was due to the lower class action activity 

during 2007 and our decision to utilize more internal staff  resources 

for certain tasks as opposed to outsourced service providers. 

U.S. Property & Casualty
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Operating earnings for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment 

increased from $11.4 million in 2005 to $13.0 million in 2006, 

representing an operating margin of 6.2% in 2006 compared to 

5.1% in 2005. This improvement was primarily due to an improve-

ment in operating effi  ciency in this segment’s fi eld operations 

during 2006.

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

U.S. Property & Casualty revenues before reimbursements decreased 

6.4% to $210.0 million in 2006 compared to $224.4 million in 

2005. Revenues generated by our catastrophe adjusters totaled 

$24.3 million in 2006 compared to $36.4 million in 2005 when 

we were responding to the infl ux of claims from hurricanes 

Katrina, Rita and Wilma. The decrease in revenues from insurance 

company clients was also due to a continued softening in referrals 

for high-frequency, low-severity vehicle claims during 2006. See 

the following analysis of U.S. Property & Casualty cases received. 

U.S. Property & Casualty unit volumes, measured principally by 

cases received, decreased 13.2% from 2005 to 2006. This decrease 

was partially off set by a 6.8% revenue increase from changes in 

the mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those 

services, resulting in a net 6.4% decrease in U.S. Property & 

Casualty revenues before reimbursements from 2005 to 2006. 

The decrease in referrals of high-frequency, low-severity claims 

from our U.S. insurance company clients increased our average 

revenue per claim in 2006. 

CASE VOLUME ANALYSIS

U.S. Property & Casualty unit volumes by major service line, as 

measured by cases received, for 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

(whole numbers) 2006 2005 Variance

Property  162,157  161,087 0.7%

Vehicle   101,836  126,486 (19.5%)

Casualty  105,154  108,138 (2.8%)

Catastrophe Services  25,385  54,674 (53.6%)

Workers’ Compensation  25,423  33,394 (23.9%)

Other   39  54 (27.8%)

 Total U.S. Property & Casualty 
  Cases Received  419,994  483,833 (13.2%)

The decline in vehicle claims during 2006 was due to a decline 

in referrals of high-frequency, low-severity claims from our 

insurance company clients. The declines in casualty and workers’ 

compensation claims in 2006 were due to a reduction in claims 

from our existing clients and refl ected a continuing decline in 

reported workplace injuries. During 2006, catastrophe services 

claims decreased signifi cantly due to the lack of hurricanes 

impacting the U.S. in 2006. In 2005, we received nearly 26,000 

catastrophe-related claims as a result of damages caused by 

hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma. 

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN 
TOTAL REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total rev-

enues for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment were $11.0 million 

in 2006, increasing slightly from $10.5 million in 2005. This increase 

was due to higher third-party costs incurred during 2006 as we 

completed certain large commercial claims resulting from 

hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Wilma. 

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

U.S. Property & Casualty direct compensation and fringe benefi ts 

expense as a percent of the related revenues before reimburse-

ments increased to 64.5% in 2006 compared to 62.1% in 2005. This 

percentage increase primarily refl ected an increase in capacity in 

our U.S. Property & Casualty segment during the 2006 fourth quarter 

due to a sharp decline in claims volume during that quarter. There 

was an average of 1,983 full-time equivalent employees (including 

147 catastrophe adjusters) in 2006, compared to an average of 

2,024 (including 226 catastrophe adjusters) in 2005.
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U.S. Property & Casualty salaries and wages decreased 3.6%, to 

$111.0 million in 2006 from $115.1 million in 2005. This decrease 

was the result of a $7.1 million decline in compensation expense 

for our catastrophe adjusters due to the decline in catastrophe-

related revenues. Payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts for U.S. Property 

& Casualty totaled $24.4 million in 2006, substantially unchanged 

from 2005 costs of $24.3 million. 

EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

U.S. Property & Casualty expenses other than reimbursements, 

direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts 

decreased as a percent of U.S. Property & Casualty revenues before 

reimbursements to 29.3% in 2006 from 32.8% in 2005. This decline 

was primarily due to lower bad debt expense in 2006 and reduced 

outsourced services expenses, primarily third-party claims 

adjusters utilized in handling catastrophe claims.

International Operations 
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Operating earnings in our International Operations segment 

improved to $14.5 million in 2006, up 21.9% from 2005 operating 

earnings of $11.9 million. This improvement refl ected an increase 

in the operating margin from 4.2% in 2005 to 4.8% in 2006.

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

Revenues before reimbursements from our International Opera-

tions totaled $303.7 million in 2006, a 6.4% increase from the 

$285.4 million reported in 2005. Excluding acquisitions, Interna-

tional Operations unit volume, measured principally by cases 

received, increased 9.9% in 2006 compared to 2005. Our third 

quarter 2006 acquisition of SLS in the U.K. increased international 

revenues by $1.5 million, or 0.5%, in 2006. Revenues before 

reimbursements decreased 4.9% due to changes in the mix of 

services provided and in the rates charged for those services. 

Growth in high-frequency, low-severity claims referrals in the 

U.K. and CEMEA from new contracts entered into during 2006 

and 2005 reduced the average revenue per claim during 2006. 

However, this decline in average revenue per claim was off set by 

higher unit volumes, resulting in an overall revenue increase in 

2006. See the following analysis of International Operations cases 

received. Revenues before reimbursements refl ected a 0.9% 

increase during 2006 due to the positive eff ect of a weak U.S. 

dollar, primarily due to the British pound and the euro.

CASE VOLUME ANALYSIS

Excluding the impact of acquisitions, International Operations unit 

volumes by region for 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

(whole numbers) 2006 2005 Variance

United Kingdom  161,285  142,313 13.3%

Americas   148,111  125,192 18.3%

CEMEA    112,673  119,469 (5.7%)

Asia/Pacifi c  64,003  55,139 16.1%

 Total International 
  Cases Received  486,072  442,113 9.9%

The increase in the U.K. during 2006 was due to claims received 

from new contracts entered into during 2005 and 2006. The 

increase in the Americas was primarily due to an increase in high-

frequency, low-severity claims in Latin America as a result of new 

client agreements entered into during 2006. The decrease in 

CEMEA was primarily due to a decrease in weather-related claims 

in Sweden in the current year. The increase in Asia/Pacifi c was due 

to an increase in high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in 

Australia and Singapore caused by increased claim frequency from 

existing clients and by Cyclone Larry. 

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN 
TOTAL REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for our International Operations segment decreased 

slightly to $29.6 million in 2006 from $29.9 million in 2005. This 

decrease was primarily due to higher out-of-pocket expenses in 

the 2005 fi rst quarter as we were completing hurricane-related 

claims in the Caribbean region. This decrease was partially off set 

by the positive eff ect of a weak U.S. dollar, due primarily to the 

British pound and the euro.

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

As a percent of revenues before reimbursements, direct compen-

sation expense, including related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts, 

increased slightly to 70.0% in 2006 from 69.9% in 2005. This increase 

was due to higher incentive compensation expense related to the 

increase in International Operations operating earnings, primarily in 

the U.K. There was an average of 3,439 full-time equivalent employees 

in 2006, up from 3,238 in 2005. 
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Salaries and wages of the International Operations segment 

personnel increased 5.9% to $177.0 million in 2006 compared to 

$167.2 million in 2005, decreasing as a percent of revenues before 

reimbursements from 58.6% in 2005 to 58.3% in 2006. Payroll 

taxes and fringe benefi ts increased 10.2% to $35.5 million in 2006 

compared to $32.2 million in 2005, increasing as a percent of 

revenues before reimbursements from 11.3% in 2005 to 11.7% in 

2006. Staffi  ng increases in the U.K. to handle claims received from 

new contracts entered into in late 2005 and 2006 and increased 

defi ned contribution retirement plan costs generated the majority 

of these increases. The increases in these costs were also partly the 

result of a decline in the value of the U.S. dollar against other 

major currencies, primarily the British pound and the euro. 

EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Expenses other than reimbursements, direct compensation and 

related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts decreased as a percent of 

revenues before reimbursements from 25.9% in 2005 to 25.2% in 

2006. This decrease was primarily due to lower professional 

indemnity self-insurance costs. 

Broadspire

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Our combined Broadspire segment recorded an operating loss of 

$21.6 million in 2006, all of which was attributable to our former 

CIS business, compared to an operating loss of $17.5 million in 2005. 

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements increased 

18.5% to $175.1 million in 2006 compared to $147.9 million in 

2005. The BMSI acquisition contributed $33.1 million in revenues 

in 2006 and increased revenues by 22.4%. The decrease in non-

acquisition related revenues was due primarily to a reduction in 

claim referrals from our existing clients, only partially off set by net 

new business gains. Excluding the impact of the acquisition on 

2006 cases received, Broadspire segment unit volumes, measured 

principally by cases received, decreased 10.1% from 2005 to 2006. 

See the following analysis of Broadspire segment cases received. 

Revenues increased by 6.2% from changes in the mix of services 

provided by our former CIS business and in the rates charged for 

those services. 

CASE VOLUME ANALYSIS

Excluding the impact of the acquisition, Broadspire unit volumes 

by major service line, as measured by cases received, for 2006 and 

2005 were as follows:

(whole numbers) 2006 2005 Variance

Workers’ Compensation  91,936  106,276 (13.5%)

Casualty  74,942  81,687 (8.3%)

Other   22,266  22,365 (0.4%)

 Total Broadspire Cases 
  Received  189,144  210,328 (10.1%)

The declines in casualty and workers’ compensation claims in 

2006 were primarily due to a reduction in claims from our existing 

clients, only partially off set by net new business gains, and 

refl ected a continuing decline in reported workplace injuries. The 

BMSI acquisition resulted in 18,789 claims being referred to us in 

the 2006 fourth quarter which are not included in the above table. 

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN TOTAL 
REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for the Broadspire segment were $3.6 million in 2006, 

increasing slightly from $3.4 million in 2005. 

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Our most signifi cant expense in this segment is the compensation 

of employees, including related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts. 

Broadspire’s direct compensation and fringe benefi ts expense as a 

percent of the related revenues before reimbursements increased 

to 67.5% in 2006 compared to 63.9% in 2005. This increase primarily 

refl ected an increase in capacity in our Broadspire segment due 

to the decline in claims volume. Average full-time equivalent 

employees totaled 2,956 in 2006, up from 1,441 in 2005. The BMSI 

acquisition added 1,666 full time equivalent employees in 2006. 

Broadspire segment salaries and wages increased 27.2%, to 

$98.3 million in 2006 from $77.3 million in 2005. This increase 

was primarily the result of additional compensation expense of 

$17.4 million in 2006 associated with the acquired Broadspire 

business. Payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts for the Broadspire 

segment totaled $20.0 million in 2006, increasing 16.3% from 2005 

costs of $17.2 million, due primarily to the BMSI acquisition which 

added $1.9 million in payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts during 

November and December 2006. 
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EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, 
DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Broadspire segment expenses other than reimbursements, 

direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts 

decreased as a percent of revenues before reimbursements to 

44.8% in 2006 from 47.9% in 2005. This percentage decrease was 

primarily due to better operating cost effi  ciency in the acquired 

Broadspire entity compared to the former CIS operation. 

Legal Settlement Administration
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Our Legal Settlement Administration segment reported 2006 

operating earnings of $23.0 million, increasing from $20.3 million 

in 2005 with the related operating margin declining from 17.7% 

in 2005 to 17.6% in 2006.

REVENUES BEFORE REIMBURSEMENTS

Legal Settlement Administration revenues before reimburse-

ments increased 14.3% to $130.7 million in 2006 compared to 

$114.3 million in 2005 due to the substantial completion of several 

major securities class action projects in 2006 which commenced 

in 2005. During 2006, we were awarded 200 new settlement 

administration assignments compared to 170 during the year 

ended December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2006 we had a 

backlog of projects awarded totaling approximately $34.1 million, 

compared to $40.0 million at December 31, 2005. 

REIMBURSED EXPENSES INCLUDED IN TOTAL 
REVENUES

Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 

revenues for Legal Settlement Administration were $36.7 million 

in 2006, decreasing from $39.0 million in 2005. This decrease was 

primarily attributable to higher out-of-pocket costs in 2005 related 

to certain securities class action settlements we were administering. 

DIRECT COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Legal Settlement Administration’s direct compensation expense, 

including related payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts, as a percent 

of revenues before reimbursements increased to 40.6% in 2006 

compared to 37.4% in 2005. This increase was due to higher 

incentive compensation expense in 2006 related to the increase 

in revenues and operating earnings. There was an average of 565 

full-time equivalent employees in 2006, compared to an average 

of 502 in 2005. 

Legal Settlement Administration salaries and wages increased 

24.4%, to $46.8 million in 2006 from $37.6 million in 2005. This 

increase was primarily the result of the increase in full-time 

equivalent employees in 2006 and increased incentive compensa-

tion expense as a result of increased revenues and operating 

earnings. Payroll taxes and fringe benefi ts for Legal Settlement 

Administration totaled $6.4 million in 2006, increasing 23.1% from 

2005 costs of $5.2 million due to the increase in salaries and wages. 

EXPENSES OTHER THAN REIMBURSEMENTS, DIRECT 
COMPENSATION AND FRINGE BENEFITS

Legal Settlement Administration expenses other than reimburse-

ments, direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe 

benefi ts decreased as a percent of related revenues before 

reimbursements to 41.8% in 2006 from 44.9% in 2005. This 

percentage decrease was due to more projects in 2006 being 

at a stage of completion which required more internal staff  time 

as opposed to outside resources. Typically in the early to middle 

stages of class action settlement projects, more external resources 

are required than in the completion stage when more internal 

resources are utilized. 

Liquidity, Capital Resources, and Financial 
Condition
At December 31, 2007, our working capital balance (current assets 

less current liabilities) was approximately $91.2 million, a decrease 

of $8.7 million from the working capital balance at December 31, 

2006. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2007 totaled 

$50.9 million, decreasing $10.8 million from $61.7 million at the 

end of 2006. 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $29.4 million 

in 2007, from $52.7 million in 2006 to $23.3 million in 2007. This 

decrease in cash from operations in 2007 was primarily due 

to costs to service the growth in unbilled revenues, costs to 

service the net decrease in deferred revenues, and an increase in 

interest paid on our debt. The growth in unbilled revenues was 

primarily in the U.K. and was related to the increase in claims from 

the June and July 2007 fl ood events. The decrease in deferred 

revenues was primarily due to the ongoing completion of open 

claims assumed from the BMSI acquisition, net of additional 

deferred revenues generated by new claims referred to us 

subsequent to the date of the BMSI acquisition. Interest payments 



39

2007 A
nnual Report

on our debt were $21.7 million in 2007 compared to $6.3 million 

in 2006. Income tax payments in 2007 were $2.3 million compared 

to payments of $10.9 million in 2006. During 2007, we made cash 

contributions of $7.3 million to our U.S. defi ned contribution 

retirement plan, $549,000 to our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan, 

and $6.4 million to our U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans. This 

compares to 2006 contributions of $6.8 million to our U.S. defi ned 

contribution plan and $4.1 million to our U.K. defi ned benefi t 

pension plans. We were not required to make any contributions in 

2006 to our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan. In 2008, we plan to 

make contributions of $8.6 million to our U.S. defi ned contribution 

plan, $16.8 million to our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan, and 

$6.8 million to our U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans. 

Cash provided by operations increased by $12.0 million in 2006, 

from $40.8 million in 2005 to $52.7 million in 2006. Cash was 

generated in 2006 by the collections of accounts receivable 

related to the hurricanes that struck the southeastern U.S. late 

in 2005 and by improved collections in our Legal Settlement 

Administration segment. Income tax payments in 2006 were 

$10.9 million compared to payments of $10.6 million in 2005. 

During 2006, we made cash contributions of $6.8 million to our 

U.S. defi ned contribution retirement plan compared to $6.7 million 

in 2005. Cash of $4.1 million was used to fund our U.K. defi ned 

benefi t pension plans in 2006 compared to $3.0 million in 2005. 

We were not required to make any contributions to our frozen U.S. 

defi ned benefi t pension plan during 2006 or 2005. 

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used in investing activities decreased by $155.5 million in 

2007, from $174.6 million in 2006 to $19.1 million in 2007. During 

2006, cash payments related to the BMSI and e-Triage acquisitions 

in the U.S. and SLS in the U.K. used $162.5 million in cash. Cash 

used to acquire property and equipment, including capitalized 

software, increased $5.4 million from $22.7 million in 2006 to 

$28.1 million in 2007. We estimate our property and equipment 

additions in 2008, including capitalized software, will approximate 

$33.3 million. During 2007, we sold a short-term investment for 

$5.0 million and also received $5.0 million from the sale of our

 U.S. subrogation services business. The 2006 period included 

the receipt of an $8.0 million deposit from the sale of our former 

corporate headquarters and $3.0 million from the sale of our 

investigations services business.

Cash used in investing activities was $12.6 million in 2005. There 

were no material acquisitions made during 2005. Cash used to 

acquire property and equipment, including capitalized software, 

was $20.3 million in 2005. In 2005, we received $7.6 million in full 

payment of a note receivable related to the 2004 sale of an 

undeveloped parcel of land.

CASH USED IN PROVIDED BY FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

Cash used in fi nancing activities was $17.2 million in 2007. In 

2007, we repaid a net of $17.0 million of short-term and long-term 

borrowings. Cash provided by fi nancing activities was $135.8 million 

in 2006, due primarily to the debt restructuring activities related 

to the fi nancing of the BMSI acquisition of $152.6 million and 

partially off set by the payment of $8.9 million in cash dividends to 

shareholders in 2006. In 2007, no dividends were paid. Cash used 

by fi nancing activities was $19.5 million in 2005, and included 

$11.7 million of dividends paid to shareholders. 

On October 31, 2006, in connection with the BMSI acquisition, we 

terminated our former credit agreements and replaced them with 

a new secured credit agreement that contains a $210.0 million 

term loan and a $100.0 million revolving credit facility. For the 

year ended December 31, 2006, total short-term and long-term 

borrowings, net of repayments, increased by $147.4 million. Cash 

dividends to shareholders in 2006 approximated $8.9 million, 

declining from $11.7 million in 2005. As a percentage of net income, 

cash dividends totaled 59.1% in 2006, compared to 91.2% in 2005.

During 2007, 2006, and 2005, we did not repurchase any shares 

of our Class A or Class B Common Stock. As of December 31, 2007, 

705,863 shares remain to be repurchased under the discretionary 

1999 share repurchase program authorized by the Board of 

Directors. We believe it is unlikely that we will repurchase shares 

under this program in the foreseeable future due to the under-

funded status of our U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans 

and due to the covenants and restrictions associated with our 

new credit agreement dated October 31, 2006. 

OTHER MATTERS CONCERNING LIQUIDITY AND 
CAPITAL RESOURCES

We maintain a committed $100.0 million revolving credit line 

with a syndication of lenders in order to meet seasonal working 

capital requirements and other fi nancing needs that may arise. 
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This revolving credit line expires on October 30, 2011. As a 

component of this credit line, we maintain a letter of credit facility 

to satisfy certain of our own contractual obligations. Including 

$19.8 million and $21.1 million committed under the letter of 

credit facility, the balance of our unused line of credit totaled 

$52.7 million and $52.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. Our short-term debt obligations typically peak during 

the fi rst quarter and generally decline during the balance of the 

year. Short-term borrowings outstanding, including bank overdraft 

facilities, as of December 31, 2007 totaled $29.4 million, increasing 

from $27.8 million at the end of 2006. Long-term borrowings 

outstanding, including current installments, totaled $185.9 million 

as of December 31, 2007, compared to $201.7 million at Decem-

ber 31, 2006. We have historically used the proceeds from our 

long-term borrowings to fi nance business acquisitions. 

As of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with the fi nancial 

covenants contained in the Credit Agreement, as amended. Based 

on our projections for 2008, we expect to remain in compliance 

with the fi nancial covenants contained in the Credit Agreement 

throughout 2008.

We believe our current fi nancial resources, together with funds 

generated from operations and existing and potential borrowing 

capabilities, will be suffi  cient to maintain our current operations 

for the next 12 months. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2007, the impact that our contractual 

obligations (excluding payments for short-term borrowings) are 

expected to have on our liquidity and cash fl ow in future periods 

is as follows:

 Payments Due by Period

(in thousands) One year or less 2 to 3 years 4 to 5 years After 5 years Total

Operating lease obligations (Note 5) $ 50,222 $ 74,102 $ 44,443 $ 79,657 $ 248,424
Long-term debt, including current portions (Note 4)  2,152  4,410  4,305  174,375  185,242
Capital lease obligations (Note 4)  323  209  138  12  682
Term loan interest payment  13,954  27,430  26,793  10,975  79,152
Estimated earnout payments for business acquisitions (Note 12)  780  6,703  –  –  7,483
Revolving credit facility interest payment  2,127  4,254  1,773  –  8,154

Total   $ 69,558 $ 117,108 $ 77,452 $ 265,019 $ 529,137

Approximately $11.5 million of operating lease obligations 

included in the table above are expected to be funded by 

sublessors under existing sublease agreements. 

As indicated above, we have substantial future payments of 

variable-rate interest for borrowings outstanding under our Credit 

Agreement. Based on interest rates and borrowings at December 31, 

2007, the preceding table shows estimated future interest payments 

over the remaining term of the term loan and revolving credit 

facility, after considering the impact of required minimum 

quarterly principal payments on the term loan facility. The actual 

amounts of interest that we will ultimately pay will likely diff er 

from the amounts presented above due to changes in interest 

rates, and possibly due to accelerated principal payments that we 

may make. The interest payments do not include the eff ect of our 

interest rate swap agreement.

At December 31, 2007, we have approximately $3.6 million of 

unrecognized income tax benefi ts. We cannot reasonably estimate 

when all of these unrecognized income tax benefi ts may be 

settled. However, it is reasonably possible that a reduction in the 

range of $50,000 to $250,000 of unrecognized income tax benefi ts 

may occur within the next 12 months as a result of projected 

resolutions of income tax uncertainties.
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DEFINED BENEFIT PENSIONS FUNDING AND COST

Future cash funding of our defi ned benefi t pension plans will 

depend largely on future investment performance, interest rates, 

changes to mortality tables, and regulatory requirements. Eff ective 

December 31, 2002, we froze our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension 

plan. The aggregate defi cit in the funded status of our defi ned 

benefi t pension plans totaled $80.8 million and $93.7 million at 

the end of 2007 and 2006, respectively. The overall defi cit decrease 

in 2007 was primarily due to an increase in the long-term interest 

rate used to discount our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension liability and 

investment returns in excess of our assumed rates of return. For 

2008, we expect to make contributions of approximately 

$16.8 million and $6.8 million to our U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t 

pension plans, respectively. During 2007, we made contributions 

of $549,000 and $6.4 million to our U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t 

pension plans, respectively. Net periodic benefi t costs for our 

defi ned benefi t pension plans totaled $7.9 million, $9.0 million 

and $7.8 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net periodic 

pension costs for 2008 are expected to be a net credit of approxi-

mately $2.3 million for our U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t pension 

plans. Cash contributions to our U.S. defi ned contribution plan of 

approximately $8.6 million will be made in the 2008 fi rst quarter. 

On August 17, 2006, the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the “Act”) 

was signed into U.S. law. The Act, among others things, introduces 

new funding requirements for U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plans 

and impacts fi nancial reporting for these plans. The requirements 

of the Act are eff ective for plan years beginning after December 31, 

2007. Under the Act, all U.S. single-employer defi ned benefi t 

pension plans are subject to one set of funding rules for determin-

ing minimum required contributions, referred to in the Act as the 

“Funding Target Liability.” The Act changes the interest rates that 

must be used to value plan liabilities, limits the ability to adjust 

for fl uctuations in asset values, and allows limited use of credit 

balances to reduce otherwise required minimum contributions. 

For most defi ned benefi t pension plans, the Funding Target 

Liability and the accumulated benefi ts obligation (“ABO”) will 

be materially equivalent. Our frozen U.S. defi ned benefi t pension 

plan was underfunded by $45.3 million and $79.2 million at 

December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, based on an ABO of 

$375.0 million and $384.0 million, respectively. Based on current 

assumptions used of 6.46% for the interest rate to discount plan 

liabilities and 8.50% for the expected rate of return on the plan’s 

assets, we estimate that we will have to make the following annual 

minimum contributions to our frozen U.S. defi ned benefi t pension 

plan in order to meet the Funding Target Liability under the Act: 

 Estimated Minimum 
 Funding Requirement
Year Funded (in thousands)

2008       $ 16,800

2009        9,971

2010        7,498

2011        6,101

2012        2,001

Total       $ 42,371

FUTURE DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our 

Board of Directors in light of all relevant factors including the 

 funding requirements for our defi ned benefi t pension plans, 

repayments of outstanding borrowings, future levels of cash 

generated by our operating activities, general business conditions, 

and restrictions related to the covenants contained in our Credit 

Agreement dated October 31, 2006, as amended. The covenants 

in our Credit Agreement limit dividend payments to shareholders 

to $12.5 million in any 12-month period and permit dividends only 

if certain leverage and fi xed charge coverage ratios are met.

CONTINGENT PAYMENTS

We normally structure business acquisitions to include earnout 

payments, which are contingent upon the acquired entity 

reaching certain revenue and earnings targets. The amount of 

the contingent payments and length of the earnout period varies 

for each acquisition, and the ultimate payments when made 

will vary, as they are dependent on future events. Based on levels 

of revenues and earnings through 2007, estimated additional 

payments under existing earnout agreements approximate 

$7.5 million through 2010, as follows: 2008 – $780,000; 2009 – 

$5.8 million; and 2010 – $910,000. 
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OFFBALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have not entered into any off -balance sheet arrangements 

that could materially impact our operations, fi nancial condition, 

or cash fl ows. 

We maintain funds in trusts to administer claims for certain clients. 

These funds are not available for our general operating activities 

and, as such, have not been recorded in the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of these funds totaled 

$454.0 million at December 31, 2007. Our policy is to only invest in 

high-grade bonds issued by corporations, government agencies, 

and municipalities. We have concluded that we do not have a 

material off -balance sheet fi nancial risk related to these funds at 

December 31, 2007.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

and Results of Operations addresses our consolidated fi nancial 

statements, which are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 

accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these fi nancial 

statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that 

aff ect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial 

statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate 

these estimates and judgments based upon historical experience 

and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the 

circumstances. The results of these evaluations form the basis for 

making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 

results may diff er from these estimates under diff erent assump-

tions or conditions. 

We believe the following critical accounting policies for revenue 

recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of 

goodwill and other long-lived assets, defi ned benefi t pension 

plans, determination of our eff ective tax rate for fi nancial reporting 

purposes, and self-insured risks require signifi cant judgments 

and estimates in the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial 

statements. Changes in these underlying estimates could 

potentially materially aff ect consolidated results of operations, 

fi nancial position and cash fl ows in the period of change. 

Although some variability is inherent in these estimates, the 

amounts provided for are based on the best information available 

to us and we believe these estimates are reasonable.

We have discussed the following critical accounting policies and 

estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, and 

the Audit Committee has reviewed our related disclosure in this 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations.

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Our revenues are primarily comprised of claims processing or 

program administration fees. Fees for professional services are 

recognized in unbilled revenues at the time such services are 

rendered at estimated collectible amounts. Substantially all 

unbilled revenues are billed within one year. Out-of-pocket costs 

incurred in administering a claim are typically passed on to our 

clients and included in our revenues. Deferred revenues represent 

the estimated unearned portion of fees related to future services 

under certain fi xed-fee service arrangements. Deferred revenues 

are recognized based on the estimated rate at which the services 

are provided. These rates are primarily based on an evaluation of 

historical claim closing rates by major lines of coverage. Addition-

ally, recent claim closing rates are evaluated to ensure that current 

claim closing history does not indicate a signifi cant deterioration 

or improvement in the longer-term historical closing rates used. 

Our fi xed-fee service arrangements typically call for us to handle 

claims on either a one- or two-year basis, or for the lifetime of the 

claim. In cases where we handle a claim on a non-lifetime basis, 

we typically receive an additional fee on each anniversary date 

that the claim remains open. For service arrangements where we 

provide services for the life of the claim, we are only paid one fee 

for the life of the claim, regardless of the ultimate duration of the 

claim. As a result, our deferred revenues for claims handled for one 

or two years are not as sensitive to changes in claim closing rates 

since the revenues are ultimately recognized in the near future 

and additional fees are generated for handling long-lived claims. 

Deferred revenues for lifetime claim handling are considered more 

sensitive to changes in claim closing rates since we are obligated 

to handle these claims to their ultimate conclusion with no 

additional fees for long-lived claims.
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Based upon our historical averages, we close approximately 99% 

of all cases referred to us under lifetime claim service arrange-

ments within the fi rst fi ve years from the date of referral. Also, 

within that fi ve-year period, the percentage of claims remaining 

open in any one particular year has remained relatively consistent 

from period to period. Each quarter we evaluate our historical 

claim closing rates by major line of insurance coverage and make 

adjustments as necessary. Any changes in estimates are recog-

nized in the period in which they are determined.

The acquisition of BMSI increased our deferred revenues by 

$115.8 million as of December 31, 2006. Of this amount, $110.8 mil-

lion was associated with the handling of lifetime claims. The 

historical closing patterns and average case lives associated with the 

BMSI deferred revenues are similar to our existing business. 

As of December 31, 2007, deferred revenues related to lifetime 

claim handling arrangements approximated $101.2 million. If the 

rate at which we close cases changes, the amount of revenues 

recognized within a period could be aff ected. In addition, given 

the competitive environment in which we operate, we may 

be unable to raise our prices to off set the additional expense 

associated with handling longer-lived claims. The change in our 

fi rst-year case closing rates over the last 10 years has ranged from 

a decrease of 2.6% to an increase of 1.8% and has averaged 1.1%. 

A 1% change is a reasonable likely change in our estimate based 

on historical data. Absent an increase in per-claim fees from our 

clients, a 1% decrease in claim closing rates for lifetime claims 

would have resulted in the deferral of additional revenues of 

approximately $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

If our average claim closing rates for lifetime claims increased by 

1%, we would have recognized additional revenues of approxi-

mately $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated 

losses resulting from the inability of our clients to make required 

payments and adjustments clients may make to invoiced 

amounts. Losses resulting from the inability of clients to make 

required payments are accounted for as bad debt expense, while 

adjustments to invoices are accounted for as reductions to 

revenues. These allowances are established by using historical 

write-off  information to project future experience and by 

considering the current credit worthiness of our clients, any 

known specifi c collection problems, and our assessment of 

current industry conditions. Each quarter, we evaluate the 

adequacy of the assumptions used in determining these allow-

ances and make adjustments as necessary. Changes in estimates 

are recognized in the period in which they are determined. 

Historically, our estimates have been accurate.

As of December 31, 2007, our allowance for doubtful accounts 

totaled $16.6 million or approximately 8.5% of gross billed 

receivables. If the fi nancial condition of our clients deteriorated, 

resulting in an inability to make required payments to us, 

additional allowances may be required. If the allowance for 

doubtful accounts changed by 1% of gross billed receivables, 

refl ecting either an increase or decrease in expected future 

write-off s, the impact to 2007 pretax income would have been 

approximately $2.0 million. 

VALUATION OF GOODWILL AND OTHER 
LONGLIVED ASSETS

We regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have 

occurred which indicate that the carrying amounts of goodwill 

and other long-lived assets (primarily intangible assets related to 

customer relationships, technology and trade names, property 

and equipment, deferred income tax assets, and capitalized 

software) may warrant revision or may not be recoverable. When 

factors indicate that such assets should be evaluated for possible 

impairment, we perform an impairment test in accordance with 

SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), for 

goodwill and indefi nite-lived intangible assets, SFAS 109, “Account-

ing for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”), for deferred income tax assets, 

and SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-

Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), for other long-lived assets. We believe 

goodwill and other long-lived assets were appropriately valued 

and not impaired at December 31, 2007.

We perform an annual impairment analysis of goodwill in 

accordance with SFAS 142 where we compare the carrying value 

of our reporting units to the estimated market value of those 

reporting units as determined by discounting future projected 

cash fl ows. Based upon our analysis completed in the 2007 fourth 

quarter, we did not have an impairment of goodwill in 2007. The 

estimated market values of our reporting units are based upon 
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certain assumptions made by us. The estimated market values for 

two of our reporting units are particularly sensitive to changes in 

the weighted-average cost of capital (“WACC”) assumption used 

to calculate the market value of our reporting units. For example, 

holding all other assumptions constant, a 100 basis point increase 

in the WACC of our Broadspire reporting unit or a 200 basis point 

increase in the WACC of our International Operations reporting 

unit would trigger step 2 of the SFAS 142 impairment test and could 

result in a potential impairment for either of those reporting units. 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

We sponsor various defi ned benefi t pension plans in the U.S. 

and U.K. that cover a substantial number of employees in each 

location. We use a September 30 measurement date to determine 

net periodic pension costs under SFAS 87, “Employers’ Accounting 

for Pensions” (“SFAS 87”), for our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan 

and an October 31 measurement date for our U.K. defi ned benefi t 

pension plans. Our U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan was frozen 

on December 31, 2002. Our U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans 

have also been frozen for new employees, but existing partici-

pants may still accrue additional limited benefi ts based on salary 

levels existing at the freeze date. Benefi ts payable under our U.S. 

defi ned benefi t pension plan are generally based on career 

compensation; however, no additional benefi ts accrue on our 

frozen U.S. plan after December 31, 2002. Benefi ts payable 

under the U.K. plans are generally based on an employee’s fi nal 

frozen salary. Our funding policy is to make cash contributions in 

amounts suffi  cient to maintain the plans on an actuarially sound 

basis, but not in excess of amounts deductible under applicable 

income tax regulations. Plan assets are invested in equity securities 

and fi xed income investments, with a target allocation of approxi-

mately 40% to 80% in equity securities and 20% to 60% in fi xed 

income investments.

The major assumptions used in accounting for our U.S. defi ned 

benefi t pension plan in 2007 were a discount rate of 5.99% used 

to compute net periodic benefi t costs, a discount rate of 6.46% 

used to compute benefi t obligations, and an expected return on 

plan assets of 8.50%. The major assumptions used in accounting 

for our U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans in 2007 were a discount 

rate of 5.99% used to compute net periodic benefi t costs, a discount 

rate of 5.60% used to compute benefi t obligations, and expected 

returns on plan assets ranging from 4.50% to 10.85%. The discount 

rate assumptions refl ect the rates at which the benefi t obligations 

could be eff ectively settled. Our discount rates were determined 

based on the yield for a portfolio of investment grade corporate 

bonds with maturity dates matched to the estimated future 

payment of the plans’ benefi t obligations. The expected long-term 

rates of return on plan assets were based on the plans’ asset mix, 

actual historical returns on equity securities and fi xed income 

investments held by the plans, and an assessment of expected 

future returns. We review these assumptions at least annually.

The estimated liabilities for our defi ned benefi t pension plans 

are sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions for the 

expected rates of return on plan assets and the discount rates 

used to determine the present value of projected benefi ts payable 

under the plans. If our assumptions for the expected returns on 

plan assets of our U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans 

changed by 0.50%, representing either an increase or decrease in 

expected returns, the impact to 2007 pretax income would have 

been approximately $2.4 million. If our assumptions for the 

discount rates used to determine the present value of projected 

benefi ts payable under the plans changed by 0.25%, representing 

either an increase or decrease in interest rates used to value 

pension plan liabilities, the impact to 2007 pretax income would 

have been approximately $2.1 million.

Eff ective December 31, 2006, we adopted the recognition and 

disclosure provisions of SFAS 158. Included in accumulated other 

comprehensive loss at December 31, 2007 are the following 

amounts related to our defi ned benefi t pension plans that have 

not yet been recognized in net periodic benefi t costs: unrecog-

nized intangible asset amortization of $772,000 ($482,000 net 

of tax) and net unrecognized actuarial losses of $102.5 million 

($64.0 million net of tax). We had no unrecognized prior service 

costs at the adoption of SFAS 158 on December 31, 2006. The 

unrecognized intangible asset amortization and net actuarial 

losses included in accumulated other comprehensive loss and 

expected to be recognized in net periodic benefi t cost during the 

year ended December 31, 2008 are $291,000 ($182,000 net of tax) 

and $3.7 million ($2.3 million net of tax), respectively. 

For additional information on the impact that the adoption of SFAS 

158 had on our Consolidated Balance Sheet, see Note 7 to our 

consolidated fi nancial statements included in this Annual Report.
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In 2008, we will also adopt the requirements of SFAS 158 to 

measure plans’ assets and benefi t obligations as of the date of our 

year-end Consolidated Balance Sheet. See Note 1 to our accompa-

nying consolidated fi nancial statements for more information.

DETERMINATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE USED 
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

We account for certain income and expense items diff erently 

for fi nancial reporting and income tax purposes. Provisions 

for deferred taxes are made in recognition of these temporary 

diff erences. The most signifi cant diff erences relate to revenue 

recognition, accrued compensation and pensions, self-insurance, 

and depreciation and amortization. 

For fi nancial reporting purposes in accordance with the liability 

method of accounting for income taxes as specifi ed in SFAS 109, 

“Accounting for Income Taxes,” the provision for income taxes is 

the sum of income taxes both currently payable and deferred. 

Currently payable income taxes represent the liability related to 

our income tax returns for the current year, while the net deferred 

tax expense or benefi t represents the change in the balance of 

deferred tax assets or liabilities as reported on the Consolidated 

Balance Sheets. The changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are determined based upon changes between the basis of assets 

and liabilities for fi nancial reporting purposes and the basis of 

assets and liabilities for income tax purposes, multiplied by the 

enacted statutory tax rates for the year in which we estimate 

these diff erences will reverse. We must estimate the timing of 

the reversal of temporary diff erences, as well as whether taxable 

income in future periods will be suffi  cient to fully recognize any 

gross deferred tax assets. 

Other factors which infl uence the eff ective tax rate used for 

fi nancial reporting purposes include changes in enacted statutory 

tax rates, changes in the composition of taxable income from the 

countries in which we operate, our ability to utilize net operating 

loss carryforwards, and changes in unrecognized tax benefi ts. 

On January 1, 2007, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty 

in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”), which clarifi es the accounting for 

uncertainty in income taxes recognized in our consolidated fi nancial 

statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, and prescribes a 

recognition threshold and measurement attributes for fi nancial 

statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken 

on our tax returns. Under FIN 48, the impact of any uncertain 

income tax positions on our income tax returns must be recog-

nized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be 

sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain 

income tax position can not be recognized if it has less than a 50% 

likelihood of being sustained.

Our eff ective tax rate for fi nancial reporting purposes was 25.1% 

of pretax income for 2007. If our eff ective tax rate used for fi nancial 

reporting purposes changed by 1%, we would have recognized 

an increase or decrease to income tax expense of approximately 

$215,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007. Our eff ective tax 

rate for fi nancial reporting purposes is expected to range between 

32.0% and 35.0% in 2008. This estimated tax rate range does not 

refl ect the impact of any discrete items that may aff ect our tax 

rate in 2008.

SELFINSURED RISKS

We self insure certain insurable risks consisting primarily of 

professional liability, auto liability, employee medical, disability, 

and workers’ compensation. Insurance coverage is obtained for 

catastrophic property and casualty exposures, including profes-

sional liability on a claims-made basis, and those risks required to 

be insured by law or contract. Most of these risks are in the U.S. 

Provisions for claims incurred under self-insured programs are 

made based on our estimates of the aggregate liabilities for claims 

incurred, losses that have occurred but have not been reported to 

us, and the adverse developments on reported losses. These 

estimated liabilities are calculated based on historical claim 

payment experience, the expected life of the claims, and other 

factors considered relevant to the claims. The liabilities for claims 

incurred under our self-insured workers’ compensation and 

employee disability programs are discounted at the prevailing 

risk-free rate for government issues of an appropriate duration. All 

other self-insured liabilities are undiscounted. Each quarter we 

evaluate the adequacy of the assumptions used in developing 

these estimated liabilities and make adjustments as necessary. 

Changes in estimates are recognized in the period in which they 

are determined. Historically, our estimates have 

been accurate.

As of December 31, 2007, our estimated liability for self-insured 

risks totaled $36.7 million. The estimated liability is most sensitive 
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to changes in the ultimate liability for a claim and, if applicable, 

the interest rate used to discount the liability. We believe our 

provisions for self-insured losses are adequate to cover the ultimate 

net cost of losses incurred. However, these provisions are estimates 

and amounts ultimately settled may be signifi cantly greater or less 

than the provisions established. If the average discount rate we 

used to determine the present value of our self-insured workers’ 

compensation liabilities had changed by 1%, refl ecting either an 

increase or decrease in underlying interest rates, our estimated 

liabilities for these self-insured risks would have been impacted 

by approximately $395,000, resulting in an increase or decrease to 

2007 net income of approximately $247,000.

New Accounting Standards
See Note 1, Major Accounting and Reporting Policies, of our 

accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements for a description 

of recent accounting pronouncements including the expected 

dates of adoption and expected eff ects on our results of opera-

tions and fi nancial condition.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and 

foreign exchange rates. Our objective is to identify and understand 

these risks and then implement strategies to manage them. When 

evaluating these strategies, we evaluate the fundamentals of each 

market and the underlying accounting and business implications. 

To implement these strategies, we may enter into various hedging 

transactions. The sensitivity analyses we present below do not 

consider the eff ect of possible adverse changes in the general 

economy, nor do they consider additional actions we may take to 

mitigate our exposure to such changes. There can be no assurance 

that we will manage or continue to manage any risks in the future 

or that our eff orts will be successful.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

We use interest rate swap agreements to manage the interest rate 

characteristics on a portion of our outstanding debt. We evaluate 

market conditions and our leverage ratio in order to determine 

our tolerance for potential increases in interest expense that could 

result from fl oating interest rates. In May 2007, we entered into 

a three-year interest rate swap agreement which eff ectively 

converted the LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate on an 

initial notional amount of $175.0 million of our fl oating-rate debt 

to a fi xed rate of 5.25%. In accordance with SFAS 133, “Accounting 

for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and related 

guidance, we designated the interest rate swap as a cash fl ow 

hedge of exposure to changes in cash fl ows due to changes in 

interest rates on an equivalent amount of debt. The notional 

amount is reduced over the three-year term of the swap to 

match the expected repayment of our outstanding debt and 

was $150.0 million at December 31, 2007. The notional amount is 

reduced to $125.0 million at October 1, 2008 and to $80.0 million 

at July 1, 2009. We are exposed to counterparty credit risk for 

nonperformance and, in the event of nonperformance, to market 

risk for changes in interest rates. We manage exposure to counter-

party credit risk through minimum credit standards, diversifi cation 

of counterparties, and procedures to monitor concentrations of 

credit risk. For additional information regarding our interest rate 

swap, see note 1, Major Accounting and Reporting Policies, of the 

notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE

Our international operations expose us to foreign currency 

exchange rate changes that can impact translations of foreign-

denominated assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and future 

earnings and cash fl ows from transactions denominated in 

diff erent currencies. Our revenues before reimbursements from 

international operations were 38.6%, 37.1%, and 37.0% of total 

revenues before reimbursements for 2007, 2006, and 2005, 

respectively. Except for borrowings in foreign currencies, we do 

not presently engage in any hedging activities to compensate for 

the eff ect of currency exchange rate fl uctuations on the net assets 

or operating results of our foreign subsidiaries. 

We measure foreign currency exchange risk related to our 

international operations based on changes in foreign currency 

rates using a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analysis measures 

the potential change in earnings based on a hypothetical 10% 

change in currency exchange rates. Exchange rates and currency 

positions as of December 31, 2007 were used to perform the 

sensitivity analysis. Such analysis indicated that a hypothetical 

10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would have 

increased or decreased consolidated pretax income during 2007 

by approximately $2.3 million had the U.S. dollar exchange rate 

increased or decreased relative to the currencies to which we 
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had exposure. When exchange rates and currency positions as of 

December 31, 2006 were used to perform this sensitivity analysis, 

the analysis indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in currency 

exchange rates would have increased or decreased consolidated 

pretax income in 2006 by approximately $1.4 million.

INTEREST RATES

Our total borrowings increased signifi cantly as of October 31, 2006 

due to the fi nanced acquisition of BMSI, and thus our exposure to 

interest rate fl uctuations has increased signifi cantly since a signifi cant 

portion of our debt contains variable interest rates. 

On October 31, 2006, we terminated our former credit agreements 

and replaced them with a new credit agreement that contains 

a $210.0 million term note and a $100.0 million revolving credit 

facility. Both the term note and the revolving credit facility have 

variable rates of interest. In July 2007, we amended the credit 

agreement to lower the spread over LIBOR on the term loan from 

2.5% to 2.25%. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we elected to 

pursue an increase in the allowable leverage ratio contained in the 

covenants of the credit agreement in order to provide us operating 

fl exibility under the credit agreement. On December 21, 2007, an 

amendment to our credit agreement was fi nalized which revised 

the leverage ratio contained in the debt covenants. In return for an 

increase in the leverage ratio of .50 times EBITDA until the fourth 

quarter of 2009, we agreed to an additional 50 basis point spread 

over LIBOR on our term note. At December 31, 2007, the outstand-

ing balance of our term note was approximately $184.9 million 

and the interest rate was LIBOR plus 2.75%, or 7.58%. The higher 

interest rate will raise pretax interest expense in 2008 by approxi-

mately $900,000. The actual amount will be less if we make any 

optional prepayments on the term note. The revolving credit 

facility has a variable interest rate for each currency in which 

borrowings are denominated. These variable rates under the 

revolving credit facility are based on LIBOR or other factors set by 

the lenders. At December 31, 2007, the weighted-average interest 

rate on the revolving credit facility was 8.48% for all currencies.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates, primarily as a result 

of our short-term and long-term debt. Beginning May, 2007, we 

use swap agreements to manage the interest rate characteristics 

of a portion of our outstanding debt. Based on the amounts and 

mix of our fi xed and fl oating rate debt at December 31, 2007 

and December 31, 2006, if market interest rates had increased 

or decreased an average of 100 basis points, after considering 

the eff ect of our swap, our pretax interest expense would have 

changed by $624,000 and $2.3 million, respectively. We deter-

mined these amounts by considering the impact of the 

hypothetical interest rates on our borrowing costs and interest 

rate swap agreement. These analyses do not consider the eff ects 

of changes in the level of overall economic activity that could exist 

in such an environment. 

Changes in the projected benefi t obligations of our defi ned 

benefi t pension plans are largely dependent on changes in 

prevailing interest rates used to value these obligations under 

SFAS 87 as of the plans’ respective measurement dates. If our 

assumptions for the discount rates used to determine the present 

value of the projected benefi t obligations changed by 0.25%, 

representing either an increase or decrease in the discount rate, 

the projected benefi t obligations of our U.S. and U.K. defi ned 

benefi t pension plans would have changed by approximately 

$22.4 million and $19.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. The impact of this change to 2007 and 2006 consoli-

dated pretax income would have been approximately $2.1 million 

and $1.6 million, respectively. 

To the extent changes in interest rates on our variable-rate 

borrowings move in the same direction as changes in the discount 

rates used for our defi ned benefi t pension plans, changes in our 

interest expense on our borrowings will be off set to some degree 

by changes in our defi ned benefi t pension cost. Periodic pension 

cost for our defi ned benefi t pension plans is impacted primarily by 

changes in long-term interest rates whereas interest expense for our 

variable-rate borrowings is impacted more directly by changes in 

short-term interest rates. 

CREDIT RISK

We process payments for claims settlements, primarily on behalf 

of our self-insured clients. The liability for the settlement cost of 

claims processed, which is generally pre-funded, remains with the 

client. Accordingly, we do not incur signifi cant credit risk in the 

performance of these services.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD
LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains and incorporates by reference forward-

looking statements within the meaning of that term in the Private 

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “1995 Act”). Statements 

contained in this report that are not historical in nature are forward-

looking statements made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of 

the 1995 Act. These statements are included throughout this report, 

and in the documents incorporated by reference in this report, and 

relate to, among other things, projections of revenues, earnings, 

earnings per share, cash fl ows, capital expenditures, working capital 

or other fi nancial items, output, expectations, or trends in revenues or 

expenses. These statements also relate to our business strategy, goals 

and expectations concerning our market position, future operations, 

margins, case volumes, profi tability, contingencies, debt covenants, 

liquidity, and capital resources. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” 

“would,” “should,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “goal,” 

“strategy,” “predict,” “project,” “will,” and similar terms and phrases 

identify forward-looking statements in this report and in the documents 

incorporated by reference in this report. Examples of such statements 

in this report include discussions regarding reduction of our operating 

expenses in our Broadspire segment, anticipated contributions to our 

underfunded defi ned benefi t pension plans, projections regarding 

payments under existing earnout agreements, discussions regarding 

our continued compliance with the fi nancial covenants contained 

in our Credit Agreement and other long-term liquidity requirements, 

and projections and estimates included under the heading “Critical 

Accounting Policies and Estimates” including our assumptions 

supporting such projections and estimates.

Additional written and oral forward-looking statements may be made 

by us from time to time in information provided to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, press releases, our website, or otherwise.

Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward-

looking statements are based are reasonable, any of these assumptions 

could prove to be inaccurate and the forward-looking statements 

based on these assumptions could be incorrect. Our operations and 

the forward-looking statements related to our operations involve risks 

and uncertainties, many of which are outside our control, and any 

one of which, or a combination of which, could materially aff ect our 

results of operations and whether the forward-looking statements 

ultimately prove to be correct. Included among, but not limited to, 

the risks and uncertainties we face are: declines in the volume of cases 

referred to us for many of our service lines associated with the property 

and casualty insurance industry, global economic conditions, interest 

rates, foreign currency exchange rates, regulations and practices of 

various governmental authorities, the competitive environment, the 

fi nancial conditions of our clients, the performance of sublessors under 

certain subleases related to our leased properties, regulatory changes 

related to funding of defi ned benefi t pension plans, the fact that our 

U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans are signifi cantly under-

funded, changes in the degree to which property and casualty 

insurance carriers outsource their claims handling functions, changes 

in overall employment levels and associated workplace injury rates 

in the U. S., the ability to identify new revenue sources not tied to the 

insurance underwriting cycle, the ability to develop or acquire 

information technology resources to support and grow our business, 

the ability to attract and retain qualifi ed personnel, renewal of 

existing major contracts with clients on satisfactory fi nancial terms, 

general risks associated with doing business outside the U.S., our 

ability to comply with debt covenants, possible legislation or changes 

in market conditions that may curtail or limit growth in product 

liability and securities class actions, man-made disasters and natural 

disasters, failure to implement RiskTech on schedule, impairment of 

goodwill or other indefi nite-lived intangible assets, and our integra-

tion of BMSI. Therefore you should not place undue reliance on any 

forward-looking statements.

Actual results and trends in the future may diff er materially from those 

suggested or implied by the forward-looking statements. Forward-

looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and we 

undertake no obligation to publicly update any of these forward-

looking statements in light of new information or future events. All 

future written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the 

Company or persons acting on behalf of the Company are expressly 

qualifi ed in their entirety by the cautionary statements made herein.
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The management of Crawford & Company is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the fi nancial information in this annual report. 

The consolidated fi nancial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, 

using informed judgements and estimates where appropriate. 

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting policies, procedures, and controls designed to provide reasonable, but not 

absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with management’s authoriza-

tion. The internal accounting control system is augmented by a program of internal audits and reviews by management, written policies 

and guidelines, and the careful selection and training of qualifi ed personnel. Management believes it maintains an eff ective system of 

internal accounting controls.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, comprised solely of outside directors, is responsible for monitoring the Company’s 

accounting and reporting practices. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, the internal auditors, and the independent 

auditors to review the work of each and to assure that each performs its responsibilities. The independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, 

were selected by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and approved by shareholder vote. Both the internal auditors and Ernst & 

Young LLP have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee allowing open discussion, without management present, on the quality of 

fi nancial reporting and the adequacy of accounting, disclosure and fi nancial reporting controls.

Jeff rey T. Bowman  W. Bruce Swain, Jr. W. Forrest Bell

President and Executive Vice President  Vice President, Corporate 

Chief Executive Offi  cer and Chief Financial Offi  cer Controller, and Chief 

  Accounting Offi  cer

March 14, 2008

CRAWFORD & COMPANY
MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT ON RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
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The management of Crawford & Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over fi nancial 

reporting as defi ned in Rules 13a-15(f ) and 15d-15(f ) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over 

fi nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the prepara-

tion of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal 

control over fi nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i)  pertain to maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refl ect the transactions and disposition 

of the Company’s assets;

(ii)  provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fi nancial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are made only 

in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and

(iii)  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 

the Company’s assets that could have a material eff ect on the fi nancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 

of any evaluation of eff ectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the eff ectiveness of the Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making 

this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

(COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, management determined that the Company maintained 

eff ective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2007.

The Company’s independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, a registered public accounting fi rm, are appointed by the Audit Committee of 

the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to ratifi cation by our Company’s shareholders. Ernst & Young has audited and reported on the 

consolidated fi nancial statements of Crawford & Company and the Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting. The reports of the 

independent auditors are contained in this annual report. 

Jeff rey T. Bowman   W. Bruce Swain, Jr. W. Forrest Bell

President and Executive Vice President  Vice President, Corporate 

Chief Executive Offi  cer and Chief Financial Offi  cer Controller, and Chief 

  Accounting Offi  cer

March 14, 2008

CRAWFORD & COMPANY
REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Shareholders and Board of Directors

Crawford & Company 

We have audited Crawford & Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in 

Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO 

criteria). Crawford & Company’s management is responsible for maintaining eff ective internal control over fi nancial reporting, and for its 

assessment of the eff ectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting included in the accompanying Report of Management on 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over fi nancial 

reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether eff ective internal control over 

fi nancial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 

fi nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating eff ectiveness of 

internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles. A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 

records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refl ect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 

of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthor-

ized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material eff ect on the fi nancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 

of any evaluation of eff ectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Crawford & Company maintained, in all material respects, eff ective internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 

2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consoli-

dated balance sheets of Crawford & Company as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, 

shareholders’ investment and comprehensive income (loss), and cash fl ows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 

2007, and our report dated March 12, 2008 expressed an unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

   

Atlanta, Georgia

March 12, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Directors

Crawford & Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crawford & Company as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the 

related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ investment and comprehensive income (loss), and cash fl ows for each of the 

three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free of 

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated fi nancial position of 

Crawford & Company at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash fl ows for each of the 

three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated fi nancial statements, in 2007 the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board 

Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. Also as discussed in Note 1, in 2006 the Company adopted Statement 

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ 

Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Retirement Plans.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Crawford & 

Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 12, 2008 

expressed an unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

   

Atlanta, Georgia

March 12, 2008
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share data)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  2007 2006 2005

Revenues from Services:
 Revenues before reimbursements $ 975,143  $ 819,522  $ 771,983 
 Reimbursements  76,135   80,858   82,784 

   Total Revenues  1,051,278   900,380   854,767 

Costs and Expenses:
 Costs of services provided, before reimbursements  733,392   638,174   607,951 
 Reimbursements  76,135   80,858   82,784 

  Total costs of services  809,527   719,032  690,735 
 Selling, general, and administrative expenses  211,737   151,497  138,947 
 Corporate interest expense, net of interest income of 
  $1,876, $2,393, and $714, respectively  17,326   5,753   5,145 
 Restructuring costs  –  1,695   –

  Total Costs and Expenses  1,038,590   877,977  834,827 

Loss on Early Retirement of Debt  –  (1,401)  –
Gains on Disposals of Businesses  3,980   3,069   –
Gain on Sale of Assets  4,844   –  –

Income Before Income Taxes  21,512   24,071   19,940 
Provision for Income Taxes  5,396   9,060   7,059 

Net Income $ 16,116  $ 15,011  $ 12,881 

Earnings Per Share:
 Basic  $ 0.32  $ 0.30  $ 0.26 
 Diluted  $ 0.32  $ 0.30  $ 0.26 

Average Number of Shares Used to Compute:
 Basic Earnings Per Share  50,464   49,423   48,930 
 Diluted Earnings Per Share  50,598   49,576   49,347 

Cash Dividends Per Share:
 Class A and Class B Common Stock $ – $ 0.18  $ 0.24 

Th e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands)

AS OF DECEMBER 31,   2007 2006

ASSETS 

Current Assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents   $ 50,855  $ 61,674 
 Short-term investment    –  5,000 
 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $16,552 in 2007 
  and $16,802 in 2006    178,528   178,447 
 Unbilled revenues, at estimated billable amounts    136,652   117,098 
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets    16,717   19,924 
Total Current Assets    382,752   382,143 

Property and Equipment:   
 Property and equipment    153,733   140,729 
 Less accumulated depreciation    (104,467)  (99,845)
Net Property and Equipment    49,266   40,884 
 

Other Assets:   
 Goodwill    263,769    256,700 
 Intangible assets arising from business acquisitions, net    118,678    127,869 
 Capitalized software costs, net    40,032    36,903 
 Deferred income tax assets, net    18,923    13,498 
 Other noncurrent assets    29,362    34,991 
Total Other Assets    470,764    469,961 
       $ 902,782  $ 892,988 

Th e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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(in thousands)  

AS OF DECEMBER 31,   2007 2006

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT 

Current Liabilities:   
 Short-term borrowings   $ 29,389  $ 27,795 
 Accounts payable    39,601   42,262 
 Accrued compensation and related costs    69,655   64,636 
 Self-insured risks    18,290   21,722 
 Accrued income taxes    10,435   363 
 Other accrued liabilities    57,360   46,526 
 Deferred revenues     64,363   68,359 
 Deposit on sale of corporate headquarters    –  8,000 
 Current installments of long-term debt and capital leases    2,475   2,621 
Total Current Liabilities    291,568   282,284 

Noncurrent Liabilities:   
 Long-term debt and capital leases, less current installments    183,449   199,044 
 Deferred revenues    58,925   77,110 
 Self-insured risks    18,439   12,338 
 Accrued pension liabilities    76,977   90,058 
 Post-retirement medical benefi t obligation    1,898   2,440 
 Other noncurrent liabilities    12,265   14,019 
Total Noncurrent Liabilities    351,953   395,009

Minority interests in equity of consolidated affi  liates    5,046   4,544 

Shareholders’ Investment:   
 Class A common stock, $1.00 par value, 50,000 shares authorized;
   25,935 and 25,741 shares issued and outstanding in 2007 and 2006    25,935   25,741 
 Class B common stock, $1.00 par value, 50,000 shares authorized;
  24,697 shares issued and outstanding in 2007 and 2006     24,697   24,697 
 Additional paid-in capital    19,057   15,468 
 Retained earnings    223,793   207,891 
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (39,267)  (62,646)
Total Shareholders’ Investment    254,215   211,151 
       $ 902,782  $ 892,988 

Th e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ 
INVESTMENT AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
                             Common Stock     Accumulated
   Unearned Additional  Other Total
 Class A Class B Stock-Based Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Shareholders’
(in thousands) Non-Voting Voting Compensation Capital Earnings Loss Investment

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 24,157  $ 24,697  $ – $ 5,606  $ 201,213 $ (60,840) $ 194,833 
Comprehensive loss:
 Net income  –  –  –  –  12,881   –  12,881 
 Currency translation adjustments, net  –  –  –  –  –  (656)  (656)
 Minimum pension liability adjustment 
  (net of $7.7 million tax)  –  –  –  –  –  (17,088)  (17,088)

Total comprehensive loss              (4,863)
 Cash dividends paid  –  –  –  –  (11,743)  –  (11,743)
 Restricted shares issued  5   –  (37)  32   –  –  –
Tax benefi t from exercises of stock options  –  –  –  90   –  –  90 
Stock-based compensation costs  –  –  –  92   –  –  92 
Shares issued in connection with 
 stock-based compensation plans  131   –  –  491   –  –  622 

Balance at December 31, 2005  24,293   24,697  (37)  6,311   202,351  (78,584)  179,031 
Comprehensive income:
 Net income  –  –  –  –  15,011   –  15,011
 Currency translation adjustments, net  –  –  –  –  –  3,857   3,857 
 Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment 
  (net of $2.9 million tax)  –  –  –  –  –  12,178   12,178

Total comprehensive income              31,046 
 Cash dividends paid  –  –  –  –  (8,869)  –  (8,869)
 SFAS 123R adoption reclassifi cation  –  –  37   (37)  –  –  –
 Impact of SFAS 158 adoption 
  (net of $59 thousand tax)  –  –  –  –  –  (97)  (97)
 Stock-based compensation costs  –  –  –  3,567   –  –  3,567 
 Sale of South Africa subsidiary stock  –  –  –  –  (602)  –  (602)
 Shares issued with purchase of e-Triage  843   –  –  4,320   –  –  5,163 
 Shares issued in connection with 
  stock-based compensation plans  605   –  –  1,307   –  –  1,912 

Balance at December 31, 2006   25,741  24,697   –  15,468   207,891  (62,646)  211,151 
Comprehensive income:
 Net income  –  –  –  –  16,116   –  16,116 
 Currency translation adjustments, net  –  –  –  –  –  16,382   16,382 
 Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment
  (net of $5.6 million tax)  –  –  –  –  –  9,460   9,460 
 Interest-rate swap (net of $1.4 million tax)  –  –  –  –  –  (2,463)  (2,463)

Total comprehensive income              39,495
 Impact of FIN 48 adoption  –  –  –  –  (214)  –  (214)
 Stock-based compensation costs  –  –  –  2,929   –  –  2,929 
 Shares issued in connection with 
  stock-based compensation plans  197   –  –  539   –  –  736 
 Other equity transactions  (3)  –  –  121   –  –  118 
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 25,935  $ 24,697 $ – $ 19,057  $ 223,793  $ (39,267) $ 254,215 

Th e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  2007 2006 2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
 Net income $ 16,116  $ 15,011  $ 12,881 
 Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization  29,646   20,545   19,183 
  Deferred income tax (benefi t) provision  (1,437)  3,063   3,926 
  Stock-based compensation costs  2,929   3,567   92 
  Loss on disposals of property and equipment  554   267   271 
  Gain on sale of investigations business  –  (3,069)  –
  Gain on sale of subrogation business  (3,980)  –  –
  Gain on 2006 sale of former corporate headquarters  (4,844)  –  –
  Loss on early extinguishment of debt  –  1,401   –
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of eff ects of 
  acquisitions and dispositions:
  Accounts receivable, net  12,450   11,078   12,422 
  Unbilled revenues, net  (11,298)  6,144   (6,085)
  Prepaid or accrued income taxes  4,322   (2,920)  (7,230)
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (1,949)  210   6,821 
  Deferred revenues  (22,571)  (6,091)  (3,105)
  Accrued retirement costs  2,188   5,064   2,725 
  Prepaid expenses and other operating activities  1,158   (1,553)  (1,140)
Net cash provided by operating activities  23,284   52,717   40,761 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
 Acquisitions of property and equipment  (16,129)  (12,888)  (13,233)
 Capitalization of software costs  (11,980)  (9,852)  (7,040)
 Proceeds from sale of undeveloped land  –  –  7,562 
 Proceeds from sale of corporate headquarters  –  8,000   –
 Proceeds from sale of investment security  5,000   –  –
 Proceeds from sale of investigations business  –  3,000   –
 Proceeds from sale of subrogation business  5,000   –  –
 Payments for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (1,323)  (162,461)  (121)
 Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment  395   181   330 
 Other investing activities  (50)  (586)  (112)
Net cash used in investing activities  (19,087)  (174,606)  (12,614)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
 Dividends paid  –  (8,869)  (11,743)
 Proceeds from employee stock-based compensation plans  736   1,912   622 
 Increase in short-term borrowings  16,568   37,642   1,799 
 Payments on short-term borrowings  (18,051)  (39,259)  (8,426)
 Proceeds from long-term debt  –  210,000   –
 Payments on long-term debt and capital leases  (15,515)  (60,946)  (1,389)
 Fee paid for the early extinguishment of debt  –  (793)  –
 Capitalized loan costs  (908)  (3,901)  (313)
 Other fi nancing activities  (19)  –  –
Net cash (used in) provided by fi nancing activities   (17,189)  135,786   (19,450)
Eff ects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  2,173   929   (420)
(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents  (10,819)  14,826   8,277 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year  61,674   46,848   38,571 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 50,855  $ 61,674  $ 46,848 

Th e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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 Major Accounting and Reporting Policies

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND INDUSTRY 
CONCENTRATION

Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company is the world’s 

largest independent provider of claims management solutions 

to insurance companies and self-insured entities based on annual 

revenues, with a global network of more than 700 locations in 

63 countries. Major service lines include property and casualty 

claims management, integrated claims and medical manage-

ment for workers’ compensation, legal settlement administration 

including class action and warranty inspections, and risk manage-

ment information services. The Company’s shares are traded on 

the New York Stock Exchange under the symbols CRDA and CRDB. 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements were 

prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles and include the accounts of the Company, its majority-

owned subsidiaries, and variable interest entities in which the 

Company is deemed to be the primary benefi ciary. Signifi cant 

intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The 

fi nancial statements of the Company’s international subsidiaries 

other than Canada and the Caribbean are included in the 

Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements on a two-month-

delayed basis in order to provide suffi  cient time for accumulation 

of their results. 

The Company uses the purchase method of accounting for all 

acquisitions where the Company is required to consolidate the 

acquired entity into the Company’s fi nancial statements. Results 

of operations of acquired businesses are included in the Compa-

ny’s consolidated results from the acquisition date.

The Company uses the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 – Revised, “Consolidation of 

Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51,” (“FIN 46R”) 

and related interpretations for identifying a variable interest entity 

(“VIE”) and determining when the Company should include the 

assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of operations 

of a VIE in its consolidated fi nancial statements. The Company 

consolidates the results of Tino Insurance Surveyors & Adjusters 

Co., Ltd (“Tino”) under the provisions of FIN 46R. The Company 

owns 24.99% of the equity shares of Tino, which is located in the 

Peoples’ Republic of China. The Company’s ownership interest in 

Tino was eff ective in 2006 after Chinese regulatory approval. The 

Company’s investment in Tino and the results of Tino’s operations 

are not material to the Company’s fi nancial position, results of 

operations, or cash fl ows. 

The Company also consolidates the liabilities of its deferred 

compensation plan and the related assets, which are held in a 

rabbi trust and considered a variable interest entity of the Company 

under FIN 46R. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the liabilities under 

this deferred compensation plan were $7,036,000 and $8,330,000, 

respectively, and the fair value of the assets held in the related rabbi 

trust were $12,598,000 and $13,487,000, respectively. 

PRIOR YEAR RECLASSIFICATIONS 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifi ed to conform to 

the current year presentation. 

MANAGEMENT’S USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with U.S. 

generally accepted accounting principles requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that aff ect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial statements, and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could diff er from those estimates.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of fi nancial instruments classifi ed as current assets 

or current liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, short-

term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and 

short-term borrowings, approximates carrying value due to 

the short-term maturity of the instruments. The fair value of the 

Company’s variable-rate long-term debt approximates carrying 

value based on the eff ective interest rates compared to current 

market rates. The fair value of the interest rate swap is based on 

market pricing, and represents the net amount that would be 

required for the Company to terminate its position, taking into 

consideration market rates and counterparty credit risk.

1
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and market-

able securities with original maturities of three months or less.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities are classifi ed as available-for-sale based on 

management’s intentions with regard to holding these securities. 

The Company carries these securities at fair market value based on 

current market quotes and reports any unrealized gains and losses 

in shareholders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive 

income (loss). Gains or losses on securities sold are based on the 

specifi c identifi cation method. The Company’s policy is to only 

invest in high-grade bonds issued by corporations, government 

agencies, and municipalities. The Company reviews its investment 

portfolio as deemed necessary and, where appropriate, adjusts 

individual securities for other-than-temporary impairments. Securities 

are not held for speculative or trading purposes. The Company 

had no material unrealized gain or loss at December 31, 2006, and 

at December 31, 2007 the Company held no marketable securities. 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR 
DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The Company extends credit based on an evaluation of a 

client’s fi nancial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. 

Accounts receivable are typically due within 30 days and are 

stated on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at amounts due from 

clients net of an estimated allowance for doubtful accounts. 

Accounts outstanding longer than the contractual payment terms 

are considered past due. 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for 

estimated losses resulting primarily from the inability of clients to 

make required payments and for adjustments clients may make to 

invoiced amounts. Losses resulting from the inability of clients to 

make required payments are accounted for as bad debt expense, 

while adjustments to invoices are accounted for as reductions to 

revenue. These allowances are established using historical write-

off  information to project future experience and by considering 

the current credit worthiness of clients, any known specifi c 

collection problems, and an assessment of current industry 

conditions. The Company writes off  accounts receivable when 

they become uncollectible, and any payments subsequently 

received are accounted for as recoveries. A summary of the 

activities in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years 

ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 is as follows:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Allowance for doubtful 
 accounts, January 1 $ 16,802 $ 15,986 $ 21,859

Add/(Deduct):

Provision  1,299  1,340  1,389

Write-off s, net of recoveries  (1,674)  (3,200)  (7,138)

Other changes, including 
 currency translation   819  (174)  (124)

Adjustments for acquired
 and disposed businesses  (694)  2,850  –

Allowance for doubtful 
 accounts, December 31 $ 16,552 $ 16,802 $ 15,986

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, the 

Company’s adjustments to revenues associated with client 

invoice adjustments totaled $5,560,000, $7,819,000 and 

$8,269,000, respectively. 

GOODWILL AND OTHER LONGLIVED ASSETS

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over 

the fair value of the separately identifi able net assets acquired, 

including intangible assets arising from business combinations. 

The Company performs impairment tests each year and regularly 

evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred 

which indicate that the carrying amounts of goodwill and other 

long-lived assets (primarily acquisition-related intangible assets, 

property and equipment, deferred income tax assets, and capital-

ized software) may warrant revision or may not be recoverable. 

When factors indicate that such assets should be evaluated for 

possible impairment, the Company performs an impairment test. 

Impairment tests are performed in accordance with Statement of 

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and 

Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), for goodwill and indefi nite-

lived intangible assets, SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” 

(“SFAS 109”), for deferred income tax assets, and SFAS No. 144, 

“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” 

(“SFAS 144”), for other long-lived assets.
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Reporting units for goodwill impairment testing purposes are 

identifi ed at the operating segment level. Eff ective fourth quarter 

2006, the Company increased the number of operating segments 

from two to four. The Company’s operating segments are deemed 

to be reporting units since the components of each operating 

segment have similar economic characteristics. When changes to 

the Company’s reporting structure impact the composition of the 

Company’s reporting units, existing goodwill is reallocated to the 

revised reporting units based on their relative fair market values as 

determined by a discounted cash fl ow analysis. If all of the assets 

and liabilities of an acquired business are assigned to a specifi c 

reporting unit, then the goodwill associated with that acquisition 

is assigned to that reporting unit at acquisition unless another 

reporting unit is also expected to benefi t from the acquisition. 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation. Property and equipment, including assets under 

capital leases, consisted of the following at December 31, 2007 

and 2006:

(in thousands)  2007 2006

Land     $ 627 $ 561

Buildings and improvements    27,444  20,687

Furniture and fi xtures    59,139  57,851

Data processing equipment    61,316  55,962

Automobiles and other    5,207  5,668

 Total property and equipment   153,733  140,729

Less accumulated depreciation    (104,467)  (99,845)

 Net property and equipment   $ 49,266 $ 40,884

Additions to property and equipment under capital leases 

totaled $328,000, $314,000, and $253,000 for 2007, 2006, and 

2005, respectively. Additions to property and equipment that 

were funded directly by lessors totaled $4,921,000, $1,614,000, 

and $2,095,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, 

and 2005, respectively. 

The Company depreciates the cost of property and equipment, 

including assets recorded under capital leases, over the shorter 

of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the 

related assets, primarily using the straight-line method. The 

estimated useful lives for property and equipment classifi cations 

are as follows:

Classifi cation Estimated Useful Lives

Furniture and fi xtures     3–10 years

Data processing equipment      3–5 years

Automobiles      3–4 years

Buildings and improvements     7–40 years

Depreciation on property and equipment, including property 

under capital leases and amortization of leasehold improvements, 

was $14,081,000, $12,166,000, and $12,385,000 for the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. 

CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE

Capitalized software refl ects costs related to internally developed 

or purchased software used by the Company that has future 

economic benefi ts. Certain internal and external costs incurred 

during the application stage of development are capitalized 

in accordance with the American Institute of Certifi ed Public 

Accountant’s Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for Com-

puter Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” Costs 

incurred during the preliminary project and post implementation 

stages, including training and maintenance costs, are expensed 

as incurred. The majority of these capitalized software costs 

consists of internal payroll costs and external payments for 

software purchases and related services. These capitalized 

computer software costs are amortized over periods ranging 

from three to ten years, depending on the estimated life of each 

software application. At least annually, the Company evaluates 

capitalized software for impairment in accordance with SFAS 144. 

Amortization expense for capitalized software was $9,165,000, 

$7,255,000 and $6,798,000 for the years ended December 31, 

2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. 
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SELFINSURED RISKS

The Company self-insures certain insurable risks consisting 

primarily of professional liability, auto liability, employee medical, 

disability, and workers’ compensation liability. Insurance coverage 

is obtained for catastrophic property and casualty exposures, 

including professional liability on a claims-made basis, and those 

risks required to be insured by law or contract. Most of these  

self-insured risks are in the U.S. Provisions for claims under the self-

insured programs are made based on the Company’s estimates 

of the aggregate liabilities for claims incurred, losses that have 

occurred but have not been reported to the Company, and for 

adverse developments on reported losses. The estimated liabilities 

are calculated based on historical claims payment experience, the 

expected lives of the claims, and other factors considered relevant 

by management. Changes in these estimates may occur as 

additional information becomes available. The liabilities for claims 

incurred under the Company’s self-insured workers’ compensation 

and employee disability programs are discounted at the prevailing 

risk-free rate for government issues of an appropriate duration. All 

other self-insured liabilities are undiscounted. At December 31, 

2007 and 2006, accrued liabilities for self-insured risks totaled 

$36,729,000 and $34,060,000, respectively, including current 

liabilities of $18,290,000 and $21,722,000, respectively. 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND 
POSTRETIREMENT PLANS

The Company uses SFAS 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” 

(“SFAS 87”), and related guidance to recognize components of 

net periodic benefi t costs for its defi ned benefi t pension plans. 

The principal objective of SFAS 87 is to measure net periodic 

benefi t cost associated with defi ned benefi t pension plans and 

to recognize that cost over the employees’ service periods. The 

Company’s U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan was frozen as of 

December 31, 2002. The Company uses SFAS 106, “Employers’ 

Accounting for Postretirement Benefi ts Other Than Pensions” 

(“SFAS 106”), and related interpretations to recognize components 

of net periodic benefi t costs for its frozen U.S. retiree medical 

benefi ts plan. 

Eff ective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recogni-

tion and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158, “Employers’ Accounting 

for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an 

amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R” (“SFAS 

158”). SFAS 158 requires plan sponsors of defi ned benefi t pension 

and other postretirement benefi t plans (collectively, “postretire-

ment benefi t plans”) to recognize the funded status of their 

postretirement benefi t plans in the balance sheet, measure the 

fair value of plan assets and benefi t obligations as of the date of 

the balance sheet, and provide additional disclosures. As permit-

ted by SFAS 158, the Company’s adoption of the standard is in two 

phases. On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the fi rst 

phase, the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158. The 

eff ect of this fi rst phase on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 

Sheet was to decrease retained earnings by $97,000, net of taxes, 

with no impact on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of 

Income. The requirement of SFAS 158 to measure the fair value of 

plan assets and benefi t obligations as of the most recent balance 

sheet date, the second phase, is eff ective for the Company on 

January 1, 2008. Accordingly, in 2007 the Company continued to 

use September 30 as the measurement date for its U.S. defi ned 

benefi t pension plan and its U.S. retiree medical benefi t plan, and 

October 31 as the measurement date for its international defi ned 

benefi t pension plans. The impact of adopting the second phase 

of SFAS 158 in 2008 is expected to increase beginning retained 

earnings by $155,000 after tax. See Note 7 for additional disclo-

sures about the Company’s adoption of SFAS 158.

External trusts are maintained to hold assets of the Company’s 

defi ned benefi t pension plans in the U.S. and U.K. The Company’s 

funding policy is to make cash contributions in amounts suffi  cient to 

maintain the plans on an actuarially sound basis, but not in excess 

of amounts deductible under applicable income tax regulations.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company’s revenues are primarily comprised of claims 

processing or program administration fees. Both the U.S. Property 

& Casualty segment and the International Operations segment 

earn revenues by providing fi eld investigation and evaluation of 

property and casualty claims for insurance companies. Broadspire 
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primarily serves self-insured clients and earns revenues by 

providing initial loss reporting services for their claimants, loss 

mitigation services such as medical case management and 

vocational rehabilitation, administration of trust funds established 

to pay claims, and risk management information services. The 

Legal Settlement Administration segment earns revenues by 

providing legal settlement administration services related to 

settlements of securities cases, product liability cases, bankruptcy 

noticing and distribution, and other legal settlements by identify-

ing and qualifying class members, determining and dispensing 

settlement payments, and administering the settlement funds. 

Certain out-of-pocket costs incurred by the Company in adminis-

tering claims are reimbursed by clients and included in total 

revenues as reimbursements. 

Fees for professional services are recognized in unbilled revenues at 

the time such services are rendered, at estimated collectible amounts. 

Substantially all unbilled revenues are billed within one year. 

Deferred revenues represent the estimated unearned portion of 

fees derived from certain fi xed-rate claim service agreements. The 

Company’s fi xed-fee service arrangements typically call for the 

Company to handle claims on either a one- or two-year basis, or 

for the lifetime of the claim. In cases where the claim is handled on 

a non-lifetime basis, an additional fee is typically received on each 

anniversary date that the claim remains open. For service arrange-

ments where the Company provides services for the life of the 

claim, the Company only receives one fee for the life of the claim, 

regardless of the ultimate duration of the claim. Deferred revenues 

are recognized based on the estimated rate at which the services 

are provided. These rates are primarily based on an historical 

evaluation of actual claim closing rates by major line of coverage.

INCOME TAXES 

The Company accounts for certain income and expense items 

diff erently for fi nancial reporting and income tax purposes. 

Provisions for deferred taxes are made in recognition of these 

temporary diff erences. The most signifi cant diff erences relate to 

revenue recognition, accrued compensation and pensions, self-

insurance, and depreciation and amortization. 

For fi nancial reporting purposes, the provision for income taxes 

is the sum of income taxes both currently payable and payable 

on a deferred basis. Currently payable income taxes represent the 

liability related to the income tax returns for the current year, while 

the net deferred tax expense or benefi t represents the change 

in the balance of deferred income tax assets or liabilities as 

reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The changes in 

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based 

upon changes in the diff erences between the basis of assets and 

liabilities for fi nancial reporting purposes and the basis of assets 

and liabilities for income tax purposes, measured by the enacted 

statutory tax rates in eff ect for the year in which the Company 

estimates these diff erences will reverse. The Company must 

estimate the timing of the reversal of temporary diff erences, as 

well as whether taxable income in future periods will be suffi  cient 

to fully recognize any gross deferred tax assets. 

Other factors which infl uence the eff ective tax rate used for 

fi nancial reporting purposes include changes in enacted statutory 

tax rates, changes in the composition of taxable income from 

the countries in which the Company operates, the ability of the 

Company to utilize net operating loss carryforwards, and the 

Company’s accounting for any uncertain tax positions under FASB 

Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, 

an interpretation of SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes” 

(“FIN 48”). See Note 6.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed based on the 

weighted-average number of total common shares outstanding 

during the respective periods. Unvested grants of restricted 

stock, even though legally outstanding, are not included in the 

weighted- average number of common shares for purposes of 

computing basic EPS. Diluted EPS is computed under the “treasury 

stock” method based on the weighted-average number of total 

common shares outstanding (excluding unvested shares of 

restricted stock issued), plus the dilutive eff ect of: outstanding 

stock options, estimated shares issuable under employee stock 

purchase plans, and nonvested shares under the executive stock 

bonus plan that vest based on service or performance conditions 

that have been achieved. 
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Below is the calculation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005: 

(in thousands, except earnings per share )    2007 2006 2005

Net income        $ 16,116 $ 15,011 $ 12,881

Weighted-average common shares outstanding       50,532  49,484  48,930

Less: Weighted-average unvested common shares outstanding     (68)  (61)  –

Weighted-average common shares used to compute basic earnings per share   50,464  49,423  48,930

Dilutive eff ects of stock-based compensation plans      134  153  417

Weighted-average common share equivalents used to compute  diluted earnings per share  50,598  49,576  49,347

Basic earnings per share       $ 0.32 $ 0.30 $ 0.26

Diluted earnings per share       $ 0.32 $ 0.30 $ 0.26

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS AND 
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Comprehensive income (loss) for the Company consists of the 

total of net income, foreign currency translations, the eff ective 

portion of the interest rate swap, and accrued pension and retiree 

medical liability adjustments. The Company reports comprehen-

sive income (loss), net of income taxes, in the Consolidated 

Statements of Shareholders’ Investment and Comprehensive 

Income (Loss). Ending accumulated balances for each item 

in accumulated other comprehensive loss included in the 

Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated 

Statements of Shareholders’ Investment and Comprehensive 

Income (Loss) were as follows:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Adjustments to retirement 
 liabilities $ (102,112) $ (117,128)* $ (132,021)

 Tax benefi t on retirement 
  liabilities adjustments  38,367  43,923  46,735

Adjustments to retirement 
 liabilities, net of tax  (63,745)  (73,205)*  (85,286)

Eff ective portion of interest 
 rate swap, net of tax   (2,463)  –  –

Foreign currency translation 
 adjustments  26,941  10,559  6,702 

Total accumulated other 
 comprehensive loss $ (39,267) $ (62,646) $ (78,584)

*  Includes adjustment of $156 thousand, net of $97 thousand after income 
tax, relating to the initial adoption of SFAS 158. See Note 7.

Outstanding options to purchase approximately 2,494,000, 

3,349,000, and 2,906,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common 

stock were excluded from the weighted-average computations of 

diluted EPS in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, because the 

awards would have been antidilutive. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Realized net gains (losses) from foreign currency transactions 

totaled $508,000, ($76,000), and $369,000 for the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

For operations outside the U.S. that prepare fi nancial statements 

in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, results from operations 

and cash fl ows are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange 

rates during the period, and assets and liabilities are translated 

at end-of-period exchange rates. The resulting translation 

adjustments are included in comprehensive income (loss) in 

the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment and 

Comprehensive Income (Loss), and the accumulated translation 

adjustment is reported as a component of accumulated other 

comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
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STOCKBASED COMPENSATION

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based 

compensation plans under the recognition and measurement 

provisions of Accounting Principle Board No. 25 (“APB 25”) and 

related interpretations as permitted by the original SFAS 123, 

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). Under 

APB 25, no stock-based compensation expense was recognized 

in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income for stock 

options and employee stock purchase plans. The Company’s 

executive stock bonus plan, adopted in 2005, was subject to 

expense recognition under APB 25, and thus compensation 

expense was recognized for that plan in the Company’s Consoli-

dated Statement of Income for 2005.

Eff ective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value 

recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 

123R”), using the modifi ed-prospective-transition method. Under 

that transition method, compensation cost recognized in 2007 

and 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based 

payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 

2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance 

with the original provisions of SFAS 123, and (b) compensation 

cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 

2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance 

with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Under the modifi ed-prospective-

transition method of adopting SFAS 123R, results for prior periods 

have not been restated. 

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006, the Compa-

ny’s income before income taxes and net income for the years 

ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were lower than if it had 

continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. 

Income before income taxes was lower by $1,191,000 and 

$1,220,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. Net income was lower by $1,028,000 and $1,077,000 

for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Basic and diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 

2006 were $0.02 lower for each year than if the Company had 

continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. 

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company presented all 

tax benefi ts of deductions resulting from stock-based compensa-

tion as operating cash fl ows in the Consolidated Statements of 

Cash Flows. SFAS 123R requires the cash fl ows related to any tax 

benefi ts resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensa-

tion cost recognized for stock-based awards (excess tax benefi ts) 

to be classifi ed as fi nancing cash fl ows. During the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had no such excess 

tax benefi ts. During 2005, the Company’s excess tax deductions 

related to stock-based awards were $90,000.

The following table illustrates the eff ect on net income and 

earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value 

recognition provisions of the original SFAS 123 to stock-based 

compensation plans for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

For the purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the value of the 

options is estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing formula 

and amortized to expense over the vesting periods of the stock-

based awards:

(in thousands, except per share data)   2005

Net income as reported $ 12,881

Add: Stock-based employee compensation 
 included in reported net income, net of tax   60

Less: Stock-based compensation expense using 
 the fair value method, net of tax     (1,480)

Pro forma net income     $ 11,461

Earnings per share – basic:  

 As reported     $ 0.26

 Pro forma     $ 0.23

Earnings per share – diluted:

 As reported     $ 0.26

 Pro forma     $ 0.23

ADVERTISING COSTS

Advertising costs are expensed in the period in which the costs 

are incurred. Advertising expenses were $3,275,000, $3,218,000, 

and $2,657,000, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 

2007, 2006, and 2005.
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INTEREST RATE SWAP

In May 2007, the Company entered into a three-year interest rate 

swap agreement which eff ectively converts the LIBOR-based 

portion of the interest rate on an initial notional amount of 

$175.0 million of the Company’s fl oating-rate debt to a fi xed rate 

of 5.25%. In accordance with SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”), and related 

guidance, the Company designated the interest rate swap as a 

cash fl ow hedge of exposure to changes in cash fl ows due to 

changes in interest rates on an equivalent amount of debt. The 

notional amount is reduced over the three-year term of the swap 

to match the expected repayment of the Company’s outstanding 

debt and was $150.0 million at December 31, 2007. The Company 

is exposed to counterparty credit risk for nonperformance and, in 

the event of nonperformance, to market risk for changes in interest 

rates. The Company manages exposure to counterparty credit risk 

through minimum credit standards, diversifi cation of counterpar-

ties, and procedures to monitor concentrations of credit risk. The 

Company reports the eff ective portion of the change in fair value 

of the derivative instrument as a component of accumulated 

other comprehensive loss and reclassifi es that portion into earnings 

in the same period during which the hedged transaction aff ects 

earnings. The Company recognizes the ineff ective portion of the 

hedge, if any, in current earnings during the period of change. 

Amounts that are reclassifi ed into earnings from accumulated other 

comprehensive loss and the ineff ective portion of the hedge, if 

any, are reported on the same income statement line item as 

the original hedged item. The Company includes the fair value of 

the hedge in either current or non-current other liabilities and/or 

other assets on the balance sheet based upon the term of the 

hedged item. At December 31, 2007, the fair value of the interest 

rate swap was a liability of $3,873,000 and the amount expected 

to be reclassifi ed from accumulated other comprehensive loss 

into earnings during the next 12 months is approximately 

$1,152,000. During 2007, the amount reclassifi ed into earnings as 

an adjustment to interest expense and the ineff ective portion of 

the hedge recognized in earnings was not material.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
The adoptions of new accounting standards not previously 

discussed in Note 1 are presented below. 

FIN 48

Eff ective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48. The FASB 

issued FIN 48 to create a single model to address accounting for 

uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 clarifi es the accounting for 

income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold that 

a tax position must meet before being recognized in the fi nancial 

statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, 

measurement, classifi cation, interest and penalties, accounting in 

interim periods, disclosure, and transition. The adoption of FIN 48 

resulted in a $214,000 charge to the Company’s retained earnings 

on January 1, 2007. See Note 6.

SFAS 154

The Company adopted SFAS 154, “Accounting Changes and Error 

Corrections” (“SFAS 154”), on January 1, 2006. SFAS 154 provides 

guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting 

changes and error corrections. SFAS 154 requires retrospective 

application for reporting a change in accounting principle in 

the absence of explicit transition requirements specifi c to the 

newly adopted accounting principle. SFAS 154 also states that 

a correction of an error in previously issued fi nancial statements 

is not an accounting change. However, the reporting of any 

error correction under SFAS 154 would involve adjustments to 

previously issued fi nancial statements similar to those generally 

applicable to reporting an accounting change retrospectively.

PENDING ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS

SFAS 157 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 

Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defi nes fair value, estab-

lishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted 

accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value 

measurements. SFAS 157 applies to other accounting pronounce-

ments that require or permit fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is 

eff ective for the Company on January 1, 2008. The Company does 

not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on 

its consolidated fi nancial position, results of operations, or cash fl ows.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

66

Cr
aw

fo
rd

 &
 C

om
pa

ny

the income statement of the attribution of that income between 

the controlling and noncontrolling interests. Increases and 

decreases in the noncontrolling ownership interest amount will 

be accounted for as equity transactions. An issuance of noncon-

trolling interests that causes the controlling interest to lose control 

and deconsolidate a subsidiary will be accounted for by full gain 

or loss recognition. SFAS 160 is eff ective for fi scal years beginning 

on or after December 15, 2008 and early adoption is not permit-

ted. At December 31, 2007, the Company had $5,046,000 of 

“Minority Interests in the Equity of Consolidated Affi  liates” in the 

mezzanine section of its Consolidated Balance Sheet that would 

be reported as an increase to shareholders’ investment if SFAS 160 

were in eff ect at that date.

 Dispositions and Acquisitions of Businesses

ACQUISITION OF SINGAPORE APR

On January 12, 2007, the Company’s Singapore subsidiary 

acquired all the equity shares of APR International Loss Adjusters 

& Surveyors Pte Ltd. (“APR”). The purchase price was $390,000, plus 

$14,000 of direct acquisition costs, less $109,000 cash acquired, 

and goodwill acquired was $77,000. The results of APR’s operations 

have been included in the Company’s consolidated fi nancial 

statements since acquisition date. APR is a property loss adjusting 

and appraisal company with operations in Singapore. 

DISPOSITION OF U.S. SUBROGATION SERVICES

Eff ective February 28, 2007, the Company sold the operating 

assets of its U.S. subrogation services business for $5,000,000 in 

cash at closing plus a potential future earnout of approximately 

$1,400,000. This business was part of the Company’s U.S. Property 

& Casualty operating segment. The Company recognized a pretax 

gain of $3,980,000 based on the $5,000,000 initial sales price and 

derecognized $571,000 of associated goodwill. Concurrent with 

the sale, the Company also entered into a services agreement (the 

“agreement”) with the buyer. Under the terms of this agreement, 

the buyer will provide subrogation and recovery services to certain 

clients of the Company and the Company will receive an adminis-

trative fee generated from these revenues earned by the buyer. 

SFAS 159

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value 

Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”). 

SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure many fi nancial 

instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not 

currently required to be measured at fair value. The objective 

is to provide entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility 

in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and 

liabilities diff erently without having to apply complex hedge 

accounting provisions. SFAS 159 is eff ective for the Company 

beginning on January 1, 2008. The Company will not elect the 

fair value option for any of its assets and liabilities for which it is 

allowed under SFAS 159.

SFAS 141R

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), “Business 

Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R will replace SFAS 141 and 

change many well-established business combination accounting 

practices and signifi cantly aff ect how acquisition transactions 

are refl ected in the fi nancial statements. SFAS 141R is eff ective 

for fi scal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The 

Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 141R to have 

an impact on its fi nancial statements. However, it will have a 

signifi cant impact on the accounting for any acquisitions consum-

mated after the eff ective date of the statement. SFAS 141R amends 

the requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures 

in its fi nancial statements the identifi able assets acquired, the 

liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, 

and the goodwill acquired.

SFAS 160

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, “Noncontrolling 

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment 

of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 revises the classifi cation of 

noncontrolling interests in consolidated statements of fi nancial 

position and the accounting for and reporting of transactions 

between the reporting entity and holders of such noncontrolling 

interests. Under the new standard, noncontrolling interests will be 

considered equity and the practice of classifying minority interests 

within a mezzanine section of the balance sheet will be eliminated. 

Net income will encompass the total income of all consolidated 

subsidiaries and there will be separate disclosure on the face of 

2
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The fi nancial results of the subrogation services business are 

included in the Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements 

through the eff ective date of sale, and due to the signifi cance of 

the agreement with the buyer in relationship to the disposed 

business, the Company has not reported the disposed business as 

discontinued operations in its consolidated fi nancial statements. 

Revenues before reimbursements for the sold subrogation 

services business for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, 

and 2005 were $375,000, $2,333,000, and $2,770,000, respectively.

DISPOSITION OF U.S. INVESTIGATION SERVICES

On September 29, 2006, the Company sold the operating assets 

of its U.S. investigation services business for $3,000,000 in cash at 

closing and a non interest-bearing note receivable of $2,000,000. 

The Company recognized a pretax gain of $3,069,000 on the 

transaction. The $2,000,000 note receivable is due as follows: 

$1,000,000 on or before September 29, 2010 and $1,000,000 on 

or before September 29, 2013. The net book value of the disposal 

group of assets associated with this transaction totaled $473,000. 

In addition, goodwill of $526,000 was derecognized from the 

Company’s U.S. Property & Casualty reporting unit. Since the note 

receivable does not bear interest, the Company discounted the 

note receivable and reduced the gain on the sale transaction by 

$692,000 to $3,069,000. Interest income will be recognized over 

the life of the note receivable using the eff ective interest method. 

Also on September 29, 2006, the Company entered into a long-

term agreement (“the agreement”) with the buyer to refer certain 

of the Company’s clients to the buyer for surveillance and 

investigative services. Under the agreement, the Company will 

receive an administrative fee from the buyer for these referrals. 

The fi nancial results of the investigations services business are 

included in the Company’s consolidated fi nancial statements 

through the date of sale, and due to the signifi cance of the 

agreement with buyer in relationship to the disposed business, 

the Company has not reported the disposed business as discon-

tinued operations in its consolidated fi nancial statements. Revenues 

before reimbursements for the years ended December 31, 

2006 and 2005 related to this business were $6,502,000 and 

$9,576,000, respectively. 

ACQUISITION OF SPECIALTY LIABILITY 
SERVICES LTD.

On August 16, 2006, the Company’s U.K. subsidiary acquired all 

of the outstanding stock of Specialty Liability Services Ltd. (“SLS”). 

The purchase price paid at acquisition was $7,965,000, less 

$1,099,000 cash acquired. The results of SLS’s operations have 

been included in the Company’s consolidated fi nancial state-

ments since that date. SLS is a specialist liability adjusting and 

claims handling company with operations in the U.K. The net 

assets acquired included amortizable intangible assets of 

$1,409,000, indefi nite-live intangible assets of $2,487,000, and 

goodwill of $2,929,000. The purchase price was increased by 

$338,000 in 2007 due to additional acquisition costs incurred 

and an earnout payment. Over the next three years, we anticipate 

making additional payments of $2,771,000 to the sellers of SLS. 

ACQUISITION OF ETRIAGE.COM, INC.

On October 30, 2006, the Company purchased all of the outstanding 

stock of e-Triage.com, Inc. (“e-Triage”). The results of e-Triage’s 

operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated 

fi nancial statements since that date. The purchase price was 

composed of $3,500,000 cash paid at closing and 842,815 

restricted shares of the Company’s Class A common stock valued 

at $5,163,000. These shares of stock have restrictions on the sellers’ 

ability to sell, convey, or assign the shares. These restrictions lapse 

ratably over a 12-month period that began April 30, 2007. The 

primary assets of e-Triage are a proprietary database and a 

software application used in the management of disability and 

workers’ compensation claims. The purchase price was increased 

by $31,000 in 2007 due to additional acquisition costs incurred. 

Also in 2007, the fair values of intangible assets acquired in the 

acquisition were decreased by $3,396,000 with a corresponding 

increase in goodwill as a result of fi nal appraisals.

ACQUISITION OF BROADSPIRE MANAGEMENT 
SERVICES, INC.

On October 31, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of 

Broadspire Management Services, Inc. (“BMSI”) pursuant to a Stock 

Purchase Agreement dated August 18, 2006 (the “Stock Purchase 

Agreement”). Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, the 

Company purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of BMSI. 

As a result of the acquisition, BMSI became a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company. BMSI is a third-party administrator 
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off ering a comprehensive integrated platform of workers’ compen-

sation and liability claims management and medical management 

services. The Company began recording the operating activities of 

BMSI in its consolidated fi nancial statements for periods after 

October 31, 2006. The acquisition of BMSI contributed approxi-

mately $192,058,000 and $33,100,000 in revenues in 2007 and 

2006, respectively. The Company combined its existing workers’ 

compensation and liabilities claims management and medical 

services operations with those of the acquired BMSI to form the 

Company’s Broadspire segment.

The purchase price paid at acquisition to the seller for BMSI 

was $150,000,000, less $577,000 cash acquired. In addition, the 

Company paid $2,570,000 in direct acquisition-related costs. The 

net aggregate purchase price of $151,993,000 was borrowed 

under the Company’s Credit Agreement described in Note 4. 

The purchase price was increased by $609,000 in 2007 due to 

additional acquisition costs incurred. Also in 2007, the fair value 

of net assets acquired at acquisition was increased by $2,161,000 

with a corresponding decrease in goodwill.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed from the BMSI acquisition, as 

adjusted through the one-year period following the October 31, 

2006 acquisition: 

(in thousands)

Assets
 Current assets, including cash acquired of $577  $ 36,117

 Property and equipment, net      4,539

 Computer software      1,554

 Goodwill      137,360

 Intangible assets      117,300

 Other noncurrent assets      15,112

Total assets acquired      311,982

Liabilities
 Current liabilities, including deferred revenue obligations 88,378

 Deferred revenue obligations-noncurrent    70,062

 Deferred tax liability, net      348

 Other liabilities      15

Total liabilities assumed      158,803

Net assets acquired     $ 153,179

The amounts assigned to goodwill and the intangible assets are 

not currently deductible for income tax purposes.

The following table refl ects the condensed pro forma results of 

operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 as though the 

business combination with Broadspire had been completed at the 

beginning of 2006, and condensed pro forma results of operations 

for the year ended December 31, 2005 as though the business 

combination with Broadspire had been completed at the beginning 

of 2005. 

(in thousands, except Year ended Year ended
earnings per share) December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

 (unaudited)

Pro forma revenue $ 1,078,956   $ 1,096,743

Pro forma net income $ 15,983 $ 18,727

Pro forma earnings per 
 share – basic and diluted $ 0.32 $ 0.38

In connection with the acquisition of BMSI, the Company 

recorded a liability in the fourth quarter 2006 of $1,824,000 for 

severance payments to BMSI employees terminated as a result 

of the acquisition and $432,000 to cover the cost of certain BMSI 

offi  ce leases that have been or will be terminated. This liability 

was recorded in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 

95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase 

Business Combination,” with a corresponding increase in goodwill. 

At December 31, 2007, the remaining liability balance was 

$271,000 and was associated with the offi  ce leases. 
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3 Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
 Arising from Acquisitions

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company’s operating 

segments and reporting units for goodwill purposes were the 

former U.S. Operations and International Operations operating 

segments and reporting units. As a result of the acquisition of 

BMSI and the related restructuring within the Company’s former 

U.S. Operations segment, the Company realigned its internal 

reporting structure and expanded its number of operating 

segments from two to four. The Company’s existing International 

Operations segment was not impacted. However, the former U.S. 

Operations segment was realigned into three separate operating 

segments: U.S. Property & Casualty, Broadspire, and Legal Settlement 

Administration. The Broadspire segment includes the October 31, 

2006 acquisition of BMSI.

The Company’s four operating segments also became the 

Company’s reporting units for goodwill purposes. As a result, 

goodwill in the former U.S. Operations reporting unit was reallo-

cated to U.S. Property & Casualty, Legal Settlement Administration, 

and Broadspire based on the relative fair values of each of those 

new reporting units. This allocation was based on fair values of 

those three reporting units prior to the acquisition of BMSI, which 

became part of the Broadspire operating segment and reporting 

unit at acquisition. The following table details the reallocation of 

goodwill in the former U.S. Operations segment and reporting unit: 

(in thousands)

Former U.S. Operations reporting unit: 

 Goodwill balance at December 31, 2005   $ 28,372

 Goodwill derecognized from Investigations 
  Services disposition      (526)

Goodwill balance at time of reallocation    $ 27,846

Reallocation:

 To Legal Settlement Administration segment  $ 20,049

 To U.S. Property & Casualty segment     6,405

 To Broadspire segment      1,392

Goodwill balance after reallocation    $ 27,846

The goodwill recognized, fair values of assets acquired, liabilities 

assumed, and the net cash paid and stock issued in 2007 and 2006 

related to acquired businesses, including adjustments for prior 

acquisitions, were as follows:

(in thousands)  2007 2006

Goodwill acquired in the year 

 For current year acquisitions:

  International Operations segment  $  77 $ 2,929

 Adjustments for prior years’ acquisitions:  

  International Operations segment   500  (99)

  Broadspire segment    (26)  143,536

 Total goodwill acquired in the year    551  146,366 

Intangible assets acquired in the year

 For current year acquisitions:

  International Operations segment   –   3,896

  Broadspire segment    –  125,097

  Corporate    294  –

 Adjustments for prior years’ acquisitions:

  Broadspire segment    (3,396)  –

 Total intangible assets acquired 
  in the year    (3,102)  128,993

Fair values of tangible assets acquired   2,084  58,766

Fair values of liabilities assumed    (1,790)  166,501

Fair value of common stock issued   –  5,163

Cash paid, net of cash acquired   $ 1,323 $ 162,461

Adjustments for prior years’ acquisitions include adjustments to 

the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed that were 

made within one year of the acquisition dates for the acquired 

businesses, and for payments made under earnout agreements.
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The following is a summary of intangible assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006: 
         Weighted-
         Average
      Gross  Accumulated Net Amortization
(in thousands)    Carrying Amount Amortization Carrying Value  Period

Intangible assets subject to amortization: 

December 31, 2007:
 Customer Relationships     $ 89,725 $ (7,049) $ 82,676  13.7 years
 Technology-Based      4,094  (483)  3,611  8.2 years
Total        $ 93,819 $ (7,532) $ 86,287  13.3 years

December 31, 2006:

 Customer Relationships     $ 89,609 $ (1,016) $ 88,593  14.9 years

 Technology-Based      6,497  (108)  6,389  10.0 years

Total        $ 96,106 $ (1,124) $ 94,982  14.4 years

Intangible assets not subject to amortization: 

December 31, 2007: 
 Trademarks     $ 32,391   $ 32,391 

December 31, 2006: 

 Trademarks     $ 32,887   $ 32,887 

Amortization of intangibles assets was $6,399,000 and $1,124,000 

for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

For 2007 and 2006, $6,025,000 and $1,124,000, respectively, of 

amortization for customer-relationship intangible assets was 

excluded from operating earnings (see Note 10). Intangible assets 

subject to amortization are amortized on a straight-line basis over 

lives ranging from 5 to 15 years. For intangible assets at December 31, 

2007 subject to amortization, estimated aggregate amortization 

expense is $6,470,000 for each of the next four years and $6,411,000 

for the following year.

The following table, restated to refl ect the Company’s new operating segments and reporting units, shows the changes in the carrying 

amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

       
    Legal Settlement International 
(in thousands)  U.S. Property & Casualty Broadspire Administration Operations Total

Balance at December 31, 2005   $ 6,931 $ 1,392 $ 20,049 $ 81,663 $ 110,035

Goodwill for acquired businesses    –  143,536  –  2,830  146,366

Goodwill for disposed business    (526)  –  –  –  (526)

Foreign currency eff ects    –  –  –  825  825

Balance at December 31, 2006    6,405  144,928  20,049  85,318  256,700

Goodwill for acquired businesses    –  (26)  –  577  551
Goodwill for disposed business    (571)  –  –  –  (571)
Foreign currency eff ects    –  –  –  7,089  7,089
Balance at December 31, 2007   $ 5,834 $ 144,902 $ 20,049 $ 92,984 $ 263,769
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4 Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility

CREDIT AGREEMENT

On October 31, 2006, the Company entered into a new secured 

credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a syndication of 

lenders. The Credit Agreement provides for a maximum available 

borrowing capacity of $310,000,000, comprised of (i) a term loan 

facility with an original principal amount of $210,000,000 and (ii) 

a revolving credit facility in the principal amount of $100,000,000 

with a swingline subfacility, a letter of credit subfacility, and a 

foreign currency sublimit. On December 21, 2007, the Company 

entered into an amendment to the Credit Agreement that raised 

the variable interest rate on the term loan facility and changed 

the debt covenant related to a leverage ratio that the Company 

is required to maintain. The original agreement had an interest 

rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.5% for the term loan. The amendment 

increased the interest rate on the term loan to LIBOR plus 2.75%, 

or 7.58% as of December 31, 2007. The revolving credit facility has 

variable interest rates based on LIBOR and other factors set by the 

lenders. At December 31, 2007, the weighted-average rate on the 

revolving credit facility was 8.48%.

In May 2007, the Company entered into a three-year interest rate 

swap agreement which eff ectively converted the LIBOR-based 

portion of the interest rate on an initial notional amount of 

$175.0 million of the Company’s fl oating-rate debt to a fi xed rate 

of 5.25%. (See Note 1).

The term loan requires minimum principal repayments of 

$525,000 at the end of each calendar quarter beginning Decem-

ber 31, 2006 and continuing for the subsequent 27 quarters with 

a fi nal balloon payment due on October 30, 2013. Outstanding 

borrowings under the revolving credit facility are due in full on 

October 30, 2011. Interest is payable quarterly on both. Additionally, 

beginning March 31, 2008, the Company may be required to make 

additional annual debt repayments if the Company generates 

excess cash fl ows and meets certain leverage ratios as defi ned in 

the Credit Agreement. During 2007 and 2006, the Company made 

additional payments of $12,500,000 and $10,000,000, respectively, 

on the $210,000,000 term loan.

Each of the direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries of the 

Company guarantees the obligations of the Company under the 

Credit Agreement. The Company’s obligations under the Credit 

Agreement and the subsidiary guarantors’ obligations are secured 

by a pledge of all of their respective personal property and 

mortgages over certain of their owned and leased properties. 

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations, 

warranties and covenants, including covenants limiting liens, 

indebtedness, guaranties, mergers and consolidations, substantial 

asset sales, investments, loans, sales and leasebacks, dividends and 

distributions, and other fundamental changes. In addition, the Credit 

Agreement requires the Company to meet certain fi nancial tests.

Under the Credit Agreement, as amended, the Company and its 

consolidated subsidiaries must maintain a maximum leverage 

ratio defi ned as the ratio of consolidated debt to earnings before 

interest expense, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-

based compensation expense, and certain other charges (“EBITDA”) 

of no more than (i) 3.50 to 1.00 through the third quarter of 2008, 

(ii) 3.00 to 1.00 from and including the fourth quarter of 2008 

through the third quarter of 2009, and (iii) 2.50 to 1.00 from and 

after the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Under the Credit Agreement, the fi xed charge coverage ratio, 

defi ned as the ratio of EBITDA to total fi xed charges consisting 

of scheduled principal and interest payments and restricted 

payments as defi ned in the Credit Agreement, of the Company 

and its consolidated subsidiaries must not exceed 1.50 to 1.00 

from and after the fourth quarter of 2007. 

The Credit Agreement also provides for the Company and its 

consolidated subsidiaries to maintain a net worth of at least the 

sum of (i) $150,000,000 plus (ii) 50% of the cumulative net income 

of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries after the third 

quarter of 2006 plus (iii) any net proceeds from any underwritten 

public off ering of any capital stock of the Company. 

The covenants in the Credit Agreement also place certain 

restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay dividends to share-

holders, including a $12,500,000 limit on dividend payments in 

any 12-month period. 
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In the event of a default by the Company under the Credit 

Agreement, the lenders may terminate the commitments under 

the agreement and declare the amounts outstanding, including all 

accrued interest and unpaid fees, payable immediately. For events 

of default relating to insolvency, bankruptcy or receivership, the 

commitments are automatically terminated and the amounts 

outstanding become payable immediately. 

At December 31, 2007, the Company is in compliance with these 

debt covenants. If the Company does not meet the covenant 

requirements in the future, it would be in default under these 

agreements. In such an event, the Company would need to obtain 

a waiver of the default or repay the outstanding indebtedness 

under the agreement. If the Company could not obtain a waiver 

on satisfactory terms, it could be required to renegotiate this 

indebtedness. Any such renegotiations could result in less 

favorable terms, including higher interest rates and accelerated 

payments. There can be no assurance that the Company will 

not violate these covenants in the future.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, a total of $212,394,000 and 

$226,585,000, respectively, was outstanding under the Credit 

Agreement. During 2006, $76,520,000 of the funds advanced 

under the new Credit Agreement were used to repay and 

terminate former debt as discussed below. In addition, commit-

ments under letters of credit totaling $19,762,000 and $21,087,000 

were outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, 

under the letters of credit subfacility of the Credit Agreement. 

These letter of credit commitments were for the Company’s own 

obligations. Including the amounts committed under the letter 

of credit facility, the unused balance of the revolving credit facility 

totaled $52,719,000 and $52,328,000 at December 31, 2007 and 

2006, respectively.

Short-term borrowings, including bank overdraft facilities, totaled 

$29,389,000 and $27,795,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively.

Long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

 (in thousands)     2007 2006

Term loan facility, principal of $525 and interest payable quarterly with balloon payment due October 2013  $ 184,875  $ 200,000 

Other term loans payable to banks: 

 Principal and interest at 4.26%, payable bi-annually through December 2010     367  417

 Principal and interest at 7.50%, paid during 2007        –  378

Capital lease obligations           682  870

Total long-term debt and capital leases          185,924  201,665

Less: current installments          (2,475)  (2,621)

Total long-term debt and capital leases, less current installments      $ 183,449 $ 199,044

The Company’s capital leases are primarily comprised of leased automobiles with terms ranging from 24 to 60 months. 

Scheduled principal repayments of long-term debt, including capital leases, as of December 31, 2007 are as follows:

 Payments Due by Period

     2013 and
(in thousands)  2008 2009–2010 2011–2012 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt, including current portions   $ 2,152 $ 4,410  $ 4,305 $ 174,375 $ 185,242

Capital lease obligations     323  209  138  12  682

Total      $ 2,475 $ 4,619 $ 4,443 $ 174,387 $ 185,924
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Interest expense on the Company’s short-term and long-term 

borrowings was $19,202,000, $8,146,000, and $5,859,000 for the 

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. 

Interest paid on the Company’s short-term and long-term 

borrowings was $21,693,000, $6,327,000, and $5,901,000 for the 

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

REPAYMENT AND EARLY TERMINATION OF FORMER 
CREDIT AGREEMENTS

Simultaneously with entering into the new Credit Agreement 

discussed above, the Company also terminated and repaid its 

former revolving line of credit and its former term loan on October 31, 

2006. The Company repaid all amounts outstanding under the 

prior revolving credit line, which included $26,520,000 in out-

standing indebtedness. The Company also repaid all outstanding 

indebtedness and accrued interest on the former term loan, which 

totaled $50,143,000. 

As a result of the early terminations of the debt agreements 

described above, the Company realized a loss on the early 

extinguishment of $1,401,000 on October 31, 2006. This amount 

included unamortized loan costs of $608,000 and $793,000 of 

early termination fees charged by the lenders.

5 Commitments Under Operating Leases

The Company and its subsidiaries lease certain offi  ce space, 

computer equipment, and automobiles under operating leases. 

For offi  ce leases that contain scheduled rent increases or rent 

concessions, the Company recognizes monthly rent expense 

based on a calculated average monthly rent amount that 

considers the rent increases and rent concessions over the life of 

the lease term. Leasehold improvements of a capital nature that are 

made to leased offi  ce space under operating leases are amortized 

over the shorter of the term of the lease or the estimated useful 

life of the improvement. License and maintenance costs related to 

the leased vehicles are paid by the Company. Rental expenses, net 

of amortization of any incentives provided by lessors, for operating 

leases consisted of the following:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Offi  ce space $ 46,276 $ 33,627 $ 28,775

Automobiles  8,654  8,411  7,764

Computers and equipment  634  689  305

Total operating leases $ 55,564 $ 42,727 $ 36,844

Eff ective August 1, 2006, the Company entered into an operating 

lease agreement for the lease of approximately 160,000 square 

feet of offi  ce space in Atlanta, Georgia for use as the Company’s 

new corporate headquarters. This lease has a term of 11 years with 

total minimum monthly lease payments of $38,102,000 over the 

life of the lease. Additionally, the Company is responsible for 

certain property operating expenses. Leasehold improvements 

totaling $4,921,000 were funded directly by the lessor. The Company 

moved into this new offi  ce space during the second quarter of 

2007 after the completion of leasehold improvements. During the 

leasehold improvement construction period between August 1, 

2006 and the occupancy date, rent expense was charged to operat-

ing expenses as required by FASB Staff  Position 13-1, “Accounting for 

Rental Costs Incurred During a Construction Period.” 
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At December 31, 2007, future minimum payments under non-

cancelable operating leases with terms of more than 12 months 

are as follows: 2008 – $50,222,000; 2009 – $41,380,000; 2010 – 

$32,722,000; 2011 – $25,253,000; 2012 – $19,190,000; and 

thereafter – $79,657,000. 

As part of the Company’s acquisition of BMSI on October 31, 2006 

(see Note 2), the Company assumed a signifi cant long-term lease 

for offi  ce buildings in Plantation, Florida, the headquarters for 

Broadspire. Prior to the Company’s acquisition of BMSI, BMSI 

entered into a long-term sublease agreement for one of the 

leased offi  ce buildings. The Company’s lease obligation on this 

offi  ce building extends until December 2021, and the associated 

minimum lease payments are included in the minimum lease 

obligations of the Company noted in the previous paragraph. 

Under the sublease arrangement between BMSI and the sublessor, 

the sublessor is obligated to pay the Company minimum sublease 

payments as follows:

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2008       $ 1,776

2009        1,803

2010        1,830

2011        1,858

Thereafter through 2014      4,279

Total minimum sublease payments to be received  $ 11,546

When the current sublease agreement expires in March 2014, 

the sublessor has the option to renew the sublease agreement 

through December 2021. Should the sublessor elect to renew the 

sublease agreement through December 2021, additional sublease 

payments from the sublessor to the Company would be 

$14,277,000 over the renewal period.

 Income Taxes

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes consisted of the 

following:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

U.S.    $ (1,744) $ 10,222 $ 8,310

Foreign   23,256  13,849  11,630

Income before taxes $ 21,512 $ 24,071 $ 19,940

The provision (benefi t) for income taxes consisted of the following:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Current:

 U.S. federal and state $ (1,172) $ (95) $ (1,350)

 Foreign  8,005  6,092  4,483

Deferred:

 U.S. federal and state  (2,110)  3,290  3,147

 Foreign   673  (227)  779

Provision for income taxes $ 5,396 $ 9,060 $ 7,059

Net cash payments for income taxes were $2,339,000 in 2007, 

$10,902,000 in 2006, and $10,561,000 in 2005. 

The provision for income taxes is reconciled to the federal 

statutory rate of 35% as follows:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Federal income taxes at 
 statutory rate $ 7,529  $ 8,425  $ 6,979 

State income taxes, net of 
 federal benefi t  149  626  324

Foreign taxes  (658)  828  807

Net operating loss utilization/
 valuation allowance  1,105  (532)  (455)

Credits   (1,062)  (317)  (572)

Tax exempt interest income  (1,155)  (1,177)  (784)

Nondeductible meals and 
 entertainment  847  840  1,005

Changes in tax accruals and 
 reserves  (2,012)  6  (72)

Other   653  361  (173)

Provision for income taxes $ 5,396 $ 9,060 $ 7,059

The Company does not provide for additional U.S. and foreign 

income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 

because they are considered to be indefi nitely reinvested. At 

6
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December 31, 2007, such undistributed earnings totaled $97,982,000. 

Determination of the deferred income tax liability on these unremit-

ted earnings is not practicable since such liability, if any, is dependent 

on circumstances existing when remittance occurs.

Deferred income taxes consisted of the following at December 31, 

2007 and 2006:

(in thousands)  2007 2006

Accrued compensation   $ 11,059 $ 7,703

Accrued pension liabilities    38,819  43,923

Self-insured risks    14,920  12,914

Deferred revenues    33,360  39,477

Other post-retirement benefi ts    376  1,357

Tax credit carryforwards    1,052  –

Net operating loss carryforwards   25,971  9,083

Other     4,804  3,667

Gross deferred income tax assets   130,361  118,124

Accounts receivable allowance    7,919  6,178

Prepaid pension cost    12,686  7,067

Unbilled revenues    21,214  19,999

Depreciation and amortization    63,862  63,053

Tax accruals and reserves    3,087  –

Other     –  529

Gross deferred income tax liabilities   108,768  96,826

Net deferred income tax assets 
 before valuation allowance    21,593  21,298

Less: valuation allowance    (10,092)  (8,163) 

Net deferred income tax assets   $ 11,501 $ 13,135

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated 
 Balance Sheets consist of :

Current deferred income tax assets 
 included in income taxes currently 
 payable   $ 25,019 $ 26,343

Current deferred income tax liabilities 
 included in income taxes currently 
 payable    (32,441)  (26,706)

Long-term deferred income tax 
 assets included in deferred 
 income tax assets    99,177  76,551

Long-term deferred income tax 
 liabilities included in deferred 
 income tax assets    (80,254)  (63,053)

Net deferred income tax assets   $ 11,501 $ 13,135

At December 31, 2007, the Company has deferred tax assets 

related to net operating loss carryforwards of $25,971,000. An 

estimated $10,092,000 of the deferred tax asset will not expire, 

and $15,879,000 will expire over the next 20 years if not utilized 

by the Company. A valuation allowance is provided when it is 

more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax 

asset will not be realized. At December 31, 2007, the Company has 

a $10,092,000 valuation allowance related to certain net operating 

loss carryforwards generated in its international operations. The 

remaining net operating loss deferred tax asset of $15,879,000 is 

expected to be fully utilized by the Company before its expiration 

over the next 20 years.

As disclosed in Note 1, on January 1, 2007 the Company adopted 

FIN 48, which clarifi es the accounting for uncertainty in income 

taxes recognized in an entity’s fi nancial statements in accordance 

with SFAS No. 109, and prescribes a recognition threshold and 

measurement attributes for fi nancial statement disclosure of tax 

positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. Under 

FIN 48, the impact of an uncertain income tax position on the 

income tax return must be recognized at the largest amount that 

is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant 

taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position can not be 

recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. 

Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classifi ca-

tion, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, 

disclosure, and transition. The adoption of FIN 48 resulted in a 

$214,000 charge to the Company’s retained earnings that was 

reported as a cumulative eff ect adjustment for a change in 

accounting principle at January 1, 2007. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of unrecog-

nized income tax benefi ts follows:

(in thousands) 

Balance at January 1, 2007     $ 5,541 

Additions based on tax provisions related 
 to the current year      285
Additions for tax positions of prior years     126
Settlements      (1,917)
Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation     (410)
Balance at December 31, 2007     $ 3,625
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The Company accrues interest and, if applicable, penalties related 

to unrecognized tax benefi ts in income tax expense. For the year 

ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded net interest 

income related to unrecognized tax benefi ts of $397,000. Total 

accrued interest expense at January 1, 2007 and December 31, 

2007 was $1,325,000 and $928,000, respectively. 

Included in the total unrecognized tax benefi ts at January 1, 2007 

and December 31, 2007 were $5,148,000 and $3,136,000, 

respectively, of tax benefi ts that, if recognized, would aff ect the 

eff ective income tax rate. 

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, fi les 

income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state 

and foreign jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, the 

Company is subject to examination by taxing authorities through-

out the world, including major jurisdictions such as Canada, the 

United Kingdom, and the United States. With few exceptions, the 

Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations for 

years before 2001.

It is reasonably possible that a reduction in a range of $50,000 

to $250,000 of unrecognized tax benefi ts may occur within 12 

months as a result of projected resolutions of worldwide tax 

uncertain ties.

 Retirement Plans 

The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor various retirement 

plans. Substantially all employees in the U.S. and certain employ-

ees outside the U.S. are covered under the Company’s defi ned 

contribution plans. Certain employees, retirees, and eligible 

dependents are also covered under the Company’s defi ned 

benefi t pension plans. A fi xed number of employees, retirees, 

and eligible dependents are covered under a frozen post-

retirement medical benefi ts plan in the U.S. In addition, the 

Company sponsors nonqualifi ed, unfunded defi ned benefi t 

pension plans for certain employees and retirees.

Employer contributions under the Company’s defi ned contribution 

plans are determined annually based on employee contributions, a 

percentage of each covered employee’s compensation, and years 

of service. The Company’s cost for defi ned contribution plans 

totaled $21,256,000, $19,420,000, and $15,197,000 in 2007, 2006, 

and 2005, respectively.

The Company sponsors defi ned benefi t pension plans in the U.S. 

and U.K. Eff ective December 31, 2002, the Company elected to 

freeze its U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan. The Company’s U.K. 

defi ned benefi t pension plans have also been frozen for new 

employees, but existing participants may still accrue additional 

limited benefi ts based on salary amounts in eff ect at the time the 

plan was frozen. Benefi ts payable under the Company’s U.S. defi ned 

benefi t pension plan are generally based on career compensation; 

however, no additional benefi ts accrue on the frozen U.S. plan 

after December 31, 2002. Benefi ts payable under the U.K. plans 

are generally based on an employee’s fi nal frozen salary. The U.S. 

plan has a September 30 measurement date, and the U.K. plans 

have an October 31 fi scal year end measurement date. In 2008, 

the Company expects to make contributions of approximately 

$16,800,000 to its U.S. defi ned benefi t pension plan and approxi-

mately $6,777,000 to its U.K. defi ned benefi t pension plans.

Certain other employees located in the Netherlands, Norway, and 

Germany (referred to herein as the “other international plans”) have 

retirement benefi ts that are accounted for as defi ned pension 

benefi ts under U.S. GAAP. 

ADOPTION OF SFAS 158

On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition 

and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158. SFAS 158 required the 

Company to recognize in its Consolidated Balance Sheet the 

unfunded status of its defi ned benefi t pension plans and retiree 

medical benefi t plan with a corresponding adjustment to accumu-

lated other comprehensive loss, net of income tax. The adjustment 

to accumulated other comprehensive loss at adoption repre-

sented the net unrecognized actuarial losses and unrecognized 

amortization of the transition intangible asset, all of which were 

previously netted against the plans’ funded status in the Compa-

ny’s Consolidated Balance Sheet pursuant to the provisions of 

SFAS 87 and SFAS 106. These amounts will be subsequently 

recognized as net periodic benefi t cost. The Company had no 

unrecognized prior service costs at December 31, 2006. Actuarial 

gains and losses that arise in subsequent periods that are not 

recognized as net periodic benefi t cost in those same periods will 

7
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be recognized as a component of other comprehensive income 

(loss). Those amounts will be subsequently recognized as a 

component of net periodic benefi t cost on the same basis as the 

amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss 

upon the adoption of SFAS 158. 

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the 

projected benefi t obligations and the fair value of plans’ assets for 

the Company’s defi ned benefi t pension plans as of the plans’ most 

recent measurement dates is as follows: 

Funded Status (in thousands)  2007 2006

Projected Benefi t Obligations: 
Beginning of measurement period  $ 585,593 $ 563,664

Service cost    3,095  2,689

Interest cost    35,310  32,536

Employee contributions    781  640

Actuarial loss     18,902  1,151

Benefi ts paid    (30,654)  (26,523)

Foreign currency eff ects    16,613  11,436

End of measurement period    629,640  585,593

Fair Value of Plans’ Assets: 
Beginning of measurement period   491,885  458,169

Actual return on plans’ assets    62,656  43,859

Employer contributions    8,541  5,374

Employee contributions    781  640

Benefi ts paid    (30,654)  (26,523)

Foreign currency eff ects    15,662  10,366

End of measurement period    548,871  491,885

Funded Status    $  (80,769) $ (93,708)

Due to the status of the plans, the accumulated benefi ts 

obligations and the projected benefi ts obligations are not 

materially diff erent. 

Benefi t payments from supplemental pension plans during 2007 

and 2006 included $237,000 and $229,000, respectively, in payments 

related to unfunded plans that were paid from Company assets.

Underfunded status of the Company’s defi ned benefi t pension 

plans and post-retirement medical benefi ts plan recognized in 

the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 consisted of:

(in thousands)  2007 2006

Long-term accrued pension liability – 
 U.S. plan   $ 45,327 $ 79,203

Long-term accrued pension liability – 
 U.K. plans    27,872  9,558

Long-term accrued pension liability – 
 other international plans    3,778  1,297

Pension obligations included in other 
 noncurrent liabilities    3,520  3,412

Post-retirement medical benefi ts liability – 
 noncurrent    1,898  2,440

Pension obligations included in 
 current liabilities    272  238

Post-retirement medical liability 
 included in current liabilities     254  263

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)   (102,112)  (117,128)

The following tables set forth the 2007 changes in accumulated 

other comprehensive loss for the Company’s defi ned benefi t 

retirement plans and post-retirement medical benefi ts plan on 

a combined basis: 

  Defi ned Post-
  Benefi t Retirement
Unrecognized  Pension Medical
actuarial loss:    (in thousands)  Plans Plan

Net unrecognized actuarial (loss)/
 gain at beginning of year   $ (117,315) $ 1,179
Amortization of net loss (gain) 
 during the year      8,219  (388)
Net gain arising during the year    7,421  414
Currency translation for the year    (870)  –
Net unrecognized actuarial (loss)/
 gain at end of year    $  (102,545) $ 1,205

Unrecognized intangible    Defi ned Benefi t
asset amortization:    (in thousands)   Pension Plan

Unrecognized amortization at 
 beginning of year     $ (992)
Amortization expense recognized 
 during the year      302
Currency translation for the year     (82)
Unrecognized amortization at end of year    $ (772)
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Unrecognized intangible asset amortization and net unrecognized 

actuarial losses included in accumulated other comprehensive 

loss and expected to be recognized in net periodic benefi t costs 

during the year ended December 31, 2008 for the U.S. and U.K. 

plans are $291,000 ($182,000 net of tax) and $3,740,000 ($2,335,000 

net of tax), respectively. 

Net periodic benefi t cost related to the Company’s defi ned benefi t 

pension plans in 2007, 2006, and 2005 included the following 

components:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Service cost $ 3,095 $ 2,689 $ 2,430

Interest cost  35,310  32,536  31,193

Expected return on assets  (38,977)  (36,256)  (33,438)

Amortization of intangible 
 asset   302  279  346

Amortization of actuarial loss  8,219   9,724   7,264 

Net periodic benefi t cost $ 7,949 $ 8,972 $ 7,795

Certain major assumptions used in computing the benefi t 

obligations and net periodic benefi t costs for the U.S. and U.K. 

defi ned benefi t pension plans were as follows:

U.S. Defi ned Benefi t Plan:  2007 2006

Discount rate used to compute 
 benefi t obligations    6.46%  5.99%

Discount rate used to compute 
 periodic benefi t costs    5.99%  5.79%

Expected long-term rates of 
 return on plans’ assets    8.50%  8.50%

U.K. Defi ned Benefi t Plans:  2007 2006

Discount rate used to compute 
 benefi t obligations    5.60%  5.99%

Discount rate used to compute 
 periodic benefi t costs    5.99%  5.79%

Expected long-term rates of 
 return on plans’ assets  4.50%–10.85% 5.61%–9.27%

The discount rate assumptions refl ect the rates at which the 

benefi t obligations could be eff ectively settled. The Company’s 

discount rates were determined based on the yield for a portfolio 

of investment grade corporate bonds with maturity dates matched 

to the estimated future payments of the plans’ benefi t obligations. 

The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were based 

on the plans’ asset mix, historical returns on equity securities and 

fi xed income investments, and an assessment of expected future 

returns. Due to the status of the plans, increases in compensation 

rates are not material to the computations of benefi t obligations 

or net periodic benefi t costs.

Plan assets are invested in equity securities and fi xed income 

investments, with a target allocation of approximately 40% to 80% 

in equity securities and 20% to 60% in fi xed income investments. 

The plans’ asset allocations at the respective measurement dates, 

by asset category for the Company’s U.S. and U.K. defi ned benefi t 

pension plans, were as follows:

  2007 2006

Equity securities    75.7%  74.7%

Fixed income investments    22.3%  24.3%

Cash      2.0%  1.0%

Total asset allocation    100.0%  100.0%

Plan assets at September 30, 2007 and 2006 included shares of the 

Company’s Class A and Class B common stock with a fair value of 

$3,735,000 and $4,018,000, respectively.

Over the next 10 years, the following benefi t payments are 

expected to be paid from the Company’s U.S. and U.K. defi ned 

benefi t pension plans:

  Expected Benefi t Payments
Year (in thousands)

2008       $ 28,292

2009         29,587

2010         31,222

2011        32,394

2012        34,120

2013–2017      197,754
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8POSTRETIREMENT MEDICAL BENEFITS PLAN

Certain U.S. retirees and a fi xed number of U.S. long-term employ-

ees and eligible dependents are entitled to receive post-retirement 

medical benefi ts under the Company’s various medical benefi t 

plans. The unfunded post-retirement medical benefi t obligation 

recognized on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets was 

$2,152,000 and $2,703,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. These amounts are net of an unrecognized actuarial 

gain of $1,205,000 and $1,179,000, respectively, related to the 

Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act 

of 2003. This unrecognized gain is being recognized as a reduction 

of annual benefi t costs over the remaining life expectancies of 

the plan participants, and for the years ended December 31, 

2007, 2006, and 2005, this recognition reduced net periodic 

benefi t costs by $388,000, $576,000, and $698,000, respectively. 

For this plan, net periodic benefi t costs were a credit of $223,000, 

$434,000, and $497,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 

2006, and 2005, respectively. Benefi t payments are funded by 

participant contributions and by contributions from the Company. 

Benefi t payments made in the years ended December 31, 2007, 

2006, and 2005 were $897,000, $934,000, and $1,275,000, respec-

tively, of which $301,000, $253,000 and $478,000, respectively, were 

funded by Company contributions to the plan. The Company 

expects its funding obligation to be approximately $254,000 

for  benefi t payments in 2008, and this amount is included as a 

current liability on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet 

at December 31, 2007. Over the next 10 years, benefi t payments 

under this plan are estimated to total $1,882,000 and the Company 

will be required to fund the portion of the estimated benefi t 

payments not funded by participant contributions.

 Common Stock

The Company has two classes of common stock outstanding, 

Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. These two 

classes of stock have essentially identical rights, except that 

shares of Class A Common Stock generally do not have any voting 

rights. Under the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the Board of 

Directors may pay higher (but not lower) cash dividends on the 

non-voting Class A Common Stock than on the voting Class B 

Common Stock. As described in Note 9, certain Class A Common 

Stock shares are issued with restrictions under executive compen-

sation plans.

As disclosed in Note 4, the Company’s Credit Agreement contains 

restrictions on dividends and distributions.

In April 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a 

discretionary share repurchase program of an aggregate of 

3,000,000 shares of Class A and Class B Common Stock through 

open market purchases. Through December 31, 2007, the 

Company has reacquired 2,150,876 shares of its Class A Common 

Stock and 143,261 shares of its Class B Common Stock at an 

average cost of $10.99 and $12.21 per share, respectively. No 

shares have been repurchased since 2004 under this plan.

 Stock-Based Compensation

As disclosed in Note 1, eff ective January 1, 2006 the Company 

adopted SFAS 123R and the related guidance using the modifi ed-

prospective-transition method.

The Company has three types of stock-based compensation plans: 

stock option plans, an executive stock bonus plan (performance 

shares and restricted shares), and employee stock purchase plans. 

Under SFAS 123R, the fair value of an equity award is estimated 

on the grant date without regard to service or performance 

conditions. The fair value is recognized as compensation expense 

over the requisite service period for all awards that vest. When 

recognizing compensation costs, estimates are made for the 

number of awards that will vest, and subsequent adjustments are 

made to refl ect actual vesting. Compensation cost is not recog-

nized for awards that do not vest because service or performance 

9
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conditions are not satisfi ed. Compensation cost recognized at 

any date equals at least the portion of the grant-date value of 

an award that is vested at that date. For awards granted prior 

to January 1, 2006 that were not previously subject to expense 

recognition under APB 25, compensation expense under SFAS 

123R is recognized only for the portions of those awards that 

were unvested at the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. 

Expense for these awards is recognized ratably beginning 

January 1, 2006 over the remaining vesting period of each award. 

The pretax compensation expense recognized for all stock-based 

compensation plans was $2,929,000 and $3,567,000 for the years 

ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. For the year 

ended 2005, pretax compensation expense recognized under APB 

25 was $92,000. 

The total income tax benefi t recognized in the Consolidated 

Statements of Income for stock-based compensation arrange-

ments was $816,000, $1,023,000, and $33,000 for years ending 

December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Some of the 

Company’s stock-based compensation awards are granted 

under plans which are designed not to be taxable as compensa-

tion to the recipient based on tax laws of the United States or the 

applicable country. Accordingly, the Company does not recognize 

tax benefi ts on all of its stock-based compensation expense. 

During 2005, the Company had $90,000 of excess tax deductions 

related to exercises of taxable stock option awards. These excess 

tax deductions resulted from deductions on the Company’s 

income tax returns that exceeded the related income tax benefi t 

recognized for fi nancial reporting purposes (which was zero). 

This $90,000 tax benefi t was credited to additional paid-in 

capital within shareholders’ investment. During 2006 and 2007, 

the Company had no adjustments to additional paid-in capital 

for diff erences between deductions taken on its income tax 

returns related to stock-based compensation plans and the 

related income tax benefi ts previously recognized for fi nancial 

reporting purposes.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company has stock option plans for key employees and 

directors that provide for nonqualifi ed and incentive stock option 

grants. All stock options are for shares of the Company’s Class 

A common stock. Option awards are granted with an exercise 

price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the 

date of grant. The Company’s stock option plans are approved 

by shareholders, although the Company’s Board of Directors is 

authorized to make specifi c grants of stock options. Under the 

key employee stock option plan approved in 1997, incentive and 

nonqualifi ed options for up to 6,250,000 shares may be granted. 

However, the key employee stock option plan expired during 

2007 and the Company has not yet replaced or extended this 

plan. Employee stock options typically are subject to graded 

vesting over fi ve years (20% each year) and have a typical life of 

10 years. Under SFAS 123R, compensation cost for stock options 

is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 

period for the entire award. For awards granted prior to the 

adoption of SFAS 123R, compensation expense is recognized 

only for the portion of the award that was unvested at the 

adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. For the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2006, compensation expense of $536,000 

and $795,000, respectively, was recognized for the key employee 

stock option plan. No expense was recognized during 2005.

Under the directors’ plan, board members are granted options 

upon initial election to the Board and upon annual re-election to 

the Board. Options for up to 450,000 shares may be granted under 

the directors’ plan. Directors’ options are fully vested at grant date 

and have a typical life of 10 years. For the years ended December 31, 

2007 and 2006, compensation expense of $248,000 and $46,000, 

respectively, was recognized for directors’ options under SFAS 

123R. No expense was recognized during 2005. 
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A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2007, and changes during 2007, 2006, and 2005, is presented below:

     Weighted-
    Weighted- Average Aggregate
   Shares Average Remaining Intrinsic Value
   (in thousands) Exercise Price Contractual Term (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2004      5,223 $ 9.84  5.5 years $ 2,260

 Granted      109  7.34

 Exercised      (35)  4.65

 Forfeited or expired      (702)  12.14

Outstanding at December 31, 2005      4,595  9.46  5.1 years  773

 Granted      49  5.80

 Exercised      (12)  4.70

Forfeited or expired      (959)  10.71

Outstanding at December 31, 2006      3,673  9.10  4.7 years  805

 Granted      120  6.51
 Exercised      (30)  4.97
 Forfeited or expired      (756)  12.86
Outstanding at December 31, 2007      3,007 $ 8.10  4.7 years $ –
Vested at December 31, 2007      2,477 $ 8.48  4.5 years $ –
Exercisable at December 31, 2007      2,477 $ 8.48  4.5 years $ –

The intrinsic value of all outstanding stock options at December 31, 

2007 was zero since the per share market price of Crawford 

Common Stock A was less than the exercise price of all outstand-

ing stock options. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of 

stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2007, 

2006, and 2005 was $2.07, $1.83, and $2.15, respectively. The total 

intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $40,000, $17,000, and 

$88,000, respectively. The total fair value of stock options vesting 

during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was 

$1,100,000, $1,269,000, and $1,906,000, respectively. 

At December 31, 2007, there was $500,000 of unrecognized 

compensation cost related to nonvested stock options under the 

key employee stock option plan. This cost is expected to be 

recognized over a weighted-average period of less than one year. 

The directors’ stock option plan has no unrecognized compensa-

tion cost since directors’ options are vested when granted and the 

grant-date fair values are fully expensed on grant date under the 

provisions of SFAS 123R.

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant 

using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula, with the 

following weighted-average assumptions:

 2007 2006 2005

Expected dividend yield  3.4%  3.4%  4.2%

Expected volatility  36%  37%  37%

Risk-free interest rate  5.1%  5.1%  4.1%

Expected term of options   7 years  7 years  7 years

The expected dividend yield is based on the Company’s historical 

dividend yield. The expected volatility of the price of the Company’s 

Class A common stock is based on historical realized volatility. The 

risk-free interest rate is the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury 

zero-coupon issues with terms equal to the expected term used 

in the pricing formula. The expected term of the option takes into 

account both the contractual term of the option and the eff ects 

of expected exercise behavior. 
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EXECUTIVE STOCK BONUS PLAN

Under the Company’s executive stock bonus plan, the Company is 

authorized to issue up to 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s Class 

A common stock. The plan has two components: the performance 

share component and the restricted share component.

Under the performance share component, key employees 

of the Company are eligible to earn shares of stock upon the 

achievement of certain individual and corporate objectives. Share 

grants are determined at the discretion of the Company’s Board 

of Directors and are subject to graded vesting over periods 

typically ranging from three to fi ve years. Shares are not issued 

until the vesting requirements have lapsed. Dividends are not 

paid or accrued on unvested shares. The grant-date fair value of 

a performance share grant is based on the market value of the 

Company’s Class A common stock on the date of grant, reduced 

for the present value of estimated dividends not received on the 

unvested shares during the vesting period. If the award contains 

a performance condition, compensation expense for each 

vesting tranche in the award is recognized ratably from the service 

inception date to the vesting date for each tranche. Otherwise, 

compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over 

the requisite service period. 

During 2005, a total of 130,300 performance shares were granted 

subject to achievement of performance goals for 2005. In early 

2006, it was determined that 69,850 of those shares were earned 

based on achievement of 2005 performance goals, and 13,970 

of those earned shares vested at that time. Additional shares 

of 12,990 and 12,240 vested on December 31, 2006 and 2007, 

respectively. The remaining unvested 2005 performance shares 

that were earned will vest ratably at 20% per year, subject only 

to service conditions.

In 2006, an additional 1,061,350 performance shares were granted, 

subject to the achievement of established performance goals. 

Some of these performance goals pertained only to 2006, while 

certain performance goals extend through 2010. Some of these 

awards also contain service conditions that must be satisfi ed. 

In early 2007, it was determined that 90,435 shares were earned 

based on achievement of 2006 performance goals, and 18,087 of 

those earned shares vested at that time. Additional earned shares 

of 17,087 vested on December 31, 2007. Based on interim 

achievement rates of the performance goals that extend through 

2010, at December 31, 2007 the Company estimates that an 

additional 881,250 of the performance shares granted in 2006 

will be earned in the years 2008 through 2010. During 2007 and 

2006, compensation expense was recognized for these perfor-

mance shares based on the interim achievement rates for the 

performance goals and on the related vesting schedules. 

In 2007, an additional 164,500 performance shares were granted, 

subject to achievement of performance goals for 2007. Based on 

the latest estimate of achievement rates for the 2007 goals, the 

Company estimates that 51,995 of the 2007 performance grants 

will be earned when fi nal achievement rates for the 2007 goals 

are determined in early 2008.

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested perfor-

mance shares as of December 31, 2007, and changes in 2007, 

2006, and 2005, is presented below:

 Weighted-
 Average 
  Grant Date 
 Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2005    –  –

 Granted    130,300 $ 6.38

 Vesting    –  –

 Forfeited    (2,400)  6.38

Nonvested at December 31, 2005   127,900  6.38

 Granted    1,061,350  5.18

 Vesting    (26,960)  6.38

 Forfeited or unearned    (74,270)  6.13

Nonvested at December 31, 2006   1,088,020  5.22

 Granted    164,500  4.98
 Vesting    (47,414)  5.27
 Forfeited or unearned    (55,795)  4.95
Nonvested at December 31, 2007   1,149,311 $ 5.20
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The total fair value of the 47,414 and 26,960 performance shares 

vesting in 2007 and 2006 was $250,000 and $172,000, respectively. 

At December 31, 2005, no performance shares were vested. 

Compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123R and APB 25 

for all performance shares totaled $1,616,000, $1,663,000, and 

$91,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, 

respectively. Compensation cost for these awards is net of 

estimated or actual award forfeitures. As of December 31, 2007, 

there was an estimated $2,326,000 of unearned compensation 

cost for all nonvested performance shares; this cost is expected to 

be recognized through 2010. Of this unearned compensation cost 

at December 31, 2007, $333,000 is related to unvested 2007, 2006, 

and 2005 performance shares in which the performance periods 

have ended but the remaining service vesting requirements have 

not been met. At December 31, 2007, there was estimated 

unearned compensation cost of $1,993,000 related to performance 

grants that vest based on the achievement of future performance 

goals through 2010. The actual achievement rates for these 

performance goals, and the related fi nal compensation cost, could 

be materially diff erent than the estimates at December 31, 2007.

Under the restricted share component of the executive stock 

bonus plan, the Board of Directors may elect to issue restricted 

shares of stock in lieu of, or in addition to, cash bonus payments 

to certain key employees. Employees receiving these shares have 

restrictions on the ability to sell the shares. Such restrictions lapse 

ratably over vesting periods ranging from several months to fi ve 

years. For grants of restricted shares, vested and unvested shares 

issued are eligible to receive nonforfeitable dividends if dividends 

are declared by the Company’s Board of Directors. The grant-date 

fair value of a restricted share grant is based on the market value 

of the stock on the date of grant. Compensation cost is recognized 

on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period since 

these awards only have service conditions once granted.

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted 

shares as of December 31, 2007, and changes during 2007, 2006, 

and 2005, is presented below:
 Weighted-
 Average 
  Grant Date 
 Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2005    –

 Granted    5,000 $ 7.64

Nonvested at December 31, 2005   5,000  7.64

 Granted    156,000  6.06

 Vesting    (1,000)  7.64

Nonvested at December 31, 2006   160,000  6.09

 Granted    31,670  5.51
 Vesting    (116,534)  6.11
Nonvested at December 31, 2007   75,136 $ 5.82

No unvested restricted shares have been forfeited through 

December 31, 2007. Compensation expense recognized for all 

restricted shares for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, 

and 2005 was $121,000, $683,000, and $1,000, respectively. As of 

December 31, 2007, there was $352,000 of total unearned compen-

sation cost related to nonvested restricted shares which is expected 

to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years. 

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLANS

At December 31, 2007, the Company has two employee stock 

purchase plans: the U.S. Plan and the U.K. Plan. The U.S. Plan is also 

available to eligible employees in Canada, Puerto Rico, and the 

U.S. Virgin Islands. Both plans are compensatory under SFAS 123R; 

neither was compensatory under APB 25.

For both the U.S. and U.K. plans, the requisite service period is the 

period of time over which the employees contribute to the plans 

through payroll withholdings. For purposes of recognizing compen-

sation expense, estimates are made for the total withholdings 

expected over the entire withholding period. The market price of a 

share of stock at the beginning of the withholding period is then 

used to estimate the total number of shares that will be purchased 

using the total estimated withholdings. Compensation cost is 

recognized ratably over the withholding period.
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Under the U.S. Plan, the Company is authorized to issue up to 

1,500,000 shares of its Class A common stock to eligible employ-

ees. Participating employees can elect each year to have up to 

$21,000 of their eligible annual earnings withheld to purchase 

shares at the end of the one-year withholding period which starts 

July 1 and ends June 30. The purchase price of the stock is 85% 

of the lesser of the closing price for a share of stock on the fi rst day 

or the last day of the withholding period. Participating employees 

may cease payroll withholdings during the withholding period 

and/or request a refund of all amounts withheld before any shares 

are purchased. 

Since the U.S. Plan involves a look-back option, the estimate of the 

fair value for the share option is separated into two components. 

The fi rst component is calculated as 15% (the employee discount) 

of a nonvested share of the Company’s Class A common stock. 

The second component involves using the Black-Scholes-Merton 

option-pricing formula to value a one-year option on 85% of a 

share of the Company’s Class A common stock. This value is 

adjusted to refl ect the eff ect of any estimated dividends that the 

employees will not receive during the life of the share option.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, a total of 107,962 

shares of the Company’s Class A common stock were issued under 

the U.S. Plan to the Company’s employees under the 2006–2007 

withholding period which started July 1, 2006 and ended June 30, 

2007. At December 31, 2007, an estimated 181,453 shares will be 

purchased under the U.S. Plan at the end of the current withhold-

ing period (which started July 1, 2007 and ends June 30, 2008) for 

a discounted purchase price of $5.35 per share. During the years 

ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, compensation expense 

of $251,000 and $278,000, respectively, was recognized for the 

U.S. Plan. There was no expense recognized in 2005 under the 

provisions of APB 25. At December 31, 2007, there was estimated 

unearned compensation cost of $169,000 to be recognized 

through the end of the current withholding period which ends 

June 30, 2008.

Under the U.K. Plan, the Company is authorized to issue up to 

1,000,000 shares of its Class A common stock. Under the U.K. Plan, 

eligible employees can elect to have up to 250 pounds withheld 

from payroll each month to purchase shares at the end of a 

three-year withholding period. The purchase price of a share of 

stock is 85% of the market price at the beginning of the withhold-

ing period. Participating employees may cease payroll 

withholdings and/or request a refund of all amounts withheld 

before any shares are purchased.

Under the U.K. Plan, the fair value of a share option is equal to 

15% (the employee discount) of the market price of a share of 

the Company’s Class A common stock at the beginning of the 

withholding period. No adjustment is made to refl ect the eff ect 

of any estimated dividends that the employees will not receive 

during the life of the share option since employees are credited 

with interest by a third party on their withholdings during the 

withholding period. For purposes of estimating fair value, this 

interest-paying feature is deemed to be materially equivalent to 

any foregone dividends on the underlying shares of stock.

At December 31, 2007, an estimated 561,609 shares in total will 

be purchased under the U.K. Plan at the end of the withholding 

periods. These estimates are subject to change based on fl uctua-

tions in the value of the British pound against the U.S. dollar. The 

discounted purchase price for a share of the Company’s Class A 

common stock under the U.K. Plan ranges from $4.74 to $5.97. 

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, compensation 

cost of $157,000 and $148,000, respectively, was recognized 

for the U.K. Plan. No costs were recognized in 2005 under the 

provisions of APB 25. At December 31, 2007, there was an 

estimated $268,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost 

related to the U.K. Plan, which is expected to be recognized 

through March 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, a total of 324,232 

shares of the Company’s Class A common stock were issued under 

the U.K. Plan. No shares were issued under this plan in 2007.
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 Segment and Geographic Information

As a result of the 2006 acquisition of BMSI (see Note 2), the 

Company realigned its internal reporting structure and expanded 

its number of reportable segments from two to four during the 

fourth quarter of 2006. These reportable segments are organized 

based upon the nature of services and/or geographic areas 

served. The Company’s four reportable operating segments 

include: U.S. Property & Casualty which serves the U.S. property 

and casualty insurance company market, International Operations 

which serves the property and casualty insurance company 

markets outside of the U.S., Broadspire which serves the U.S. 

self-insurance marketplace, and Legal Settlement Administration 

which serves the securities and other legal settlement markets, 

product warranties and inspections, and bankruptcy markets. The 

Company’s reportable segments represent components of the 

business for which separate fi nancial information is available that 

is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in 

deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. 

Intersegment sales are recorded at cost and are not material. The 

Company measures segment profi t based on operating earnings, 

a non-GAAP fi nancial measure defi ned as earnings before net 

corporate interest expense, income taxes, amortization of 

customer-relationship intangible assets, stock option expense, 

unallocated corporate costs and credits, and certain other gains 

and expenses. Eff ective January 1, 2007, the Company changed 

its method of allocating corporate overhead and shared costs to 

each of our operating segments. Prior periods are restated on the 

same basis as the new allocation method.

Financial information as of and for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 covering the Company’s reportable segments is 

as follows:

   International  Legal Settlement 
(in thousands)  U.S. Property & Casualty Operations Broadspire Administration Total

2007

 Revenues before reimbursements   $ 177,179 $ 376,639 $ 320,774 $ 100,551 $ 975,143
 Operating earnings    4,675  24,660  3,821  12,521  45,677
 Depreciation and amortization    976  7,323  9,891  2,619  20,809
 Assets     54,478  340,797  326,415  81,101  802,791
2006

 Revenues before reimbursements   $ 209,985 $ 303,697 $ 175,149 $ 130,691 $ 819,522

 Operating earnings (loss)    13,014  14,451  (21,603)  22,982  28,844

 Depreciation and amortization    1,308  6,912  3,670  2,128  14,018

 Assets     65,408  286,785  354,188  86,683  793,064

2005

 Revenues before reimbursements   $ 224,414 $ 285,413 $ 147,865 $ 114,291 $ 771,983

 Operating earnings (loss)    11,417  11,854  (17,521)  20,266  26,016

 Depreciation and amortization    1,717  7,191  2,077  1,390  12,375

 Assets     84,204  252,220  39,252  82,473  458,149

10
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Capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 

2006 are shown in the following table: 

(in thousands)  2007 2006

U.S. Property & Casualty segment  $ 1,359 $ 1,371

Broadspire segment    8,238  7,911

Legal Settlement Administration segment   2,360  4,731

International Operations segment   7,752  5,949

Corporate    8,400  2,778

Total expenditures   $ 28,109 $ 22,740

Expenditures in the table above do not include leasehold 

improvement additions of $4,921,000 and $1,614,000 for 2007 

and 2006, respectively, that were funded directly by lessors.

The total of the Company’s reportable segments’ revenues 

reconciled to total consolidated revenues for the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 is as follows:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Segments’ revenues 
 before reimbursement $ 975,143 $ 819,522 $ 771,983

Reimbursements  76,135  80,858  82,784

Total consolidated 
 revenues $ 1,051,278 $ 900,380 $ 854,767

The total of the Company’s reportable segments’ operating earnings 

reconciled to consolidated income before income taxes for the 

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 is as follows: 

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

Operating earnings of 
 all segments $ 45,677 $ 28,844 $ 26,016

Unallocated corporate/
 shared costs and 
 credits, net  (8,447)  3,351  (931)

Net corporate interest 
 expense  (17,326)  (5,753)  (5,145)

Amortization of customer-
 relationship intangibles  (6,025)  (1,124)  –

Stock option expense  (1,191)  (1,220)  –

Other gains and 
 expenses, net  8,824  (27)  –

Income before income taxes $ 21,512 $ 24,071 $ 19,940

The total of the Company’s reportable segments’ assets reconciled 

to consolidated total assets of the Company at December 31, 

2007 and 2006 is presented in the following table. All foreign-

denominated cash and cash equivalents are reported within 

the International Operations segment, while all U.S. cash, cash 

equivalents, and short-term investment are reported as corporate 

assets in the following table:

(in thousands)  2007 2006

Assets of reportable segments   $ 802,791 $ 793,064

Corporate assets:

 Cash, cash equivalents, and 
  short-term investments    23,185  38,928

 Unallocated allowances on receivables   (2,919)  (4,775)

 Property and equipment    13,989  5,292

 Capitalized software costs, net   23,328  22,162

 Assets of deferred compensation plan   12,598  13,487

 Home offi  ce assets held for sale   –  2,842

 Capitalized loan costs    4,179  3,798

 Deferred tax asset    18,923  13,498

 Prepaid assets and other    6,708  4,692

Total corporate assets    99,991  99,924

Total assets   $ 902,782 $ 892,988
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The Company’s most signifi cant international operations are in the U.K. and Canada, as presented in the following table:

(in thousands)   U.K. Canada Other Total

2007

Revenues before reimbursements     $ 150,501 $ 90,587 $ 135,551 $ 376,639
Long-lived assets      66,423  35,190  22,266  123,879
2006

Revenues before reimbursements     $ 113,064 $ 73,642 $ 116,991 $ 303,697

Long-lived assets      64,968  29,285  18,660  112,913

2005

Revenues before reimbursements     $ 101,529 $ 68,489 $ 115,395 $ 285,413

Long-lived assets       57,919  28,427  18,049  104,395

Substantially all international revenues were derived from the insurance company market.

 Client Funds  

The Company maintains funds in trusts to administer claims for 

certain clients. These funds are not available for the Company’s 

general operating activities and, as such, have not been recorded 

in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of 

these funds totaled $454,034,000 and $921,123,000 at December 31, 

2007 and 2006, respectively. This decrease in 2007 is related to Legal 

Settlement Administration, where operations are project-based and 

can fl uctuate signifi cantly. 

 Contingencies

The Company structures certain acquisitions to include earnout 

payments which are contingent upon the acquired entity reaching 

certain targets for revenues and earnings. The amount of the 

contingent payments and length of the earnout period vary for 

each acquisition, and the ultimate payments when made will vary, 

as they are dependent on future events. Based on levels of revenues 

and earnings through 2007, additional payments under existing 

earnout agreements approximate $7,483,000 through 2010, as 

follows: 2008 – $780,000; 2009 – $5,793,000; and 2010 – $910,000. 

As part of the $100,000,000 revolving credit agreement, the 

Company maintains a letter of credit facility to satisfy certain of 

its own contractual requirements. At December 31, 2007, the 

aggregate amount committed under the facility was $19,762,000. 

11

12

In the normal course of the claims management services business, 

the Company is named as a defendant in suits by insureds or 

claimants contesting decisions by the Company or its clients 

with respect to the settlement of claims. Additionally, clients of 

the Company have brought actions for indemnifi cation on the 

basis of alleged negligence on the part of the Company, its agents 

or its employees in rendering service to clients. The majority of 

these claims are of the type covered by insurance maintained 

by the Company; however the Company is self-insured for the 

deductibles under its various insurance coverages. Based on 

information available to the Company, adequate liabilities have 

been recorded for such self-insured risks.

As disclosed in Note 2, on October 31, 2006 the Company 

completed its acquisition of BMSI from Platinum Equity, LLC 

(“Platinum”). BMSI and Platinum are engaged in arbitration and 

other legal proceedings over disputes with the former owners of 

certain entities acquired by BMSI prior to the Company’s October 31, 

2006 acquisition of BMSI. In the Stock Purchase Agreement, Platinum 

has full responsibility to resolve all of these matters and is obli-

gated to fully indemnify BMSI and the Company for all monetary 

payments that BMSI may be required to pay as a result of 

unfavorable outcomes related to these pre-existing arbitrations 

and legal proceedings. Platinum has also agreed to indemnify the 

Company for any purchase price adjustment mechanism, earnout, 

or similar provision in any of BMSI’s previous purchase and sale 
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agreements. In the event of an unfavorable outcome in which 

Platinum does not indemnify the Company under the terms of 

the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company may be responsi-

ble for funding these unfavorable outcomes. At this time, the 

Company’s management and its legal counsel do not believe the 

Company will be responsible for the ultimate funding of any of 

these matters, and accordingly the Company has not recognized 

any loss contingencies for these matters in its consolidated 

fi nancial statements.

In 2003, BMSI acquired NATLSCO, Inc. from a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Lumberman Mutual Casualty Company (“LMC”) as 

a result of downgrades of LMC’s fi nancial strength rating by rating 

agencies. BMSI assumed obligations to service and administer a 

population of claims outstanding at the 2003 acquisition date. 

Liquidity to support these casualty claims operations for the 

foreseeable future was provided by cash infused by LMC at the 2003 

acquisition date, and a receivable held in trust, which has and will 

continue to be distributed to BMSI in accordance with a trust 

agreement through August 2012. BMSI received total distributions 

of $7,569,000 from this trust during 2007 and $1,514,000 during 

November and December 2006. The Company believes that the 

funds that have been and will be received from LMC and the trust 

are suffi  cient to at least cover the actual costs that BMSI will incur 

over the next several years to service and administer this popula-

tion of claims through closure. BMSI’s revenues from LMC totaled 

$13,474,000 for 2007 and $2,055,000 during November and 

December 2006. Accounts receivable from LMC included in 

accounts receivable in the Company’s Consolidated Balance 

Sheet were $3,577,000 and $1,911,000 at December 31, 2007 

and 2006, respectively. 

The Company is subject to numerous federal, state and foreign 

employment laws, and from time to time the Company faces 

claims by its employees and former employees under such laws. In 

addition, the number of cases involving alleged violations of wage 

and hour laws has recently increased. The outcome of these cases 

is highly fact specifi c and there has been a substantial amount of 

13

legislative and judicial activity pertaining to employment-related 

issues. The Company was notifi ed in January 2008 that a former 

employee fi led a lawsuit in California alleging, among other things, 

unpaid overtime. The former employee is asking that the lawsuit 

be granted class action status for all similarly situated employees. 

The Company intends to defend itself. At the present time, 

the Company cannot assess the probability of an unfavorable 

verdict nor can it assess the potential damages in the event of 

an unfavorable verdict. In addition, the Company cannot assure 

anyone that claims under such laws or other employment-related 

laws will not be attempted in the future against the Company, nor 

can the Company predict the likely impact of any such claims. The 

Company is currently aware of other allegations made by certain 

employees that the Company is in violation of wage and hour 

laws in certain jurisdictions. The Company does not know if these 

allegations will result in litigation and it cannot predict the outcome 

of any such litigation. Such claims or litigation involving the 

Company’s current or former employees could divert manage-

ment’s time and attention from its business operations and could 

potentially result in substantial costs of defense, settlement or other 

disposition, which could have a material adverse eff ect on the 

Company’s results of operations, fi nancial position, and cash fl ows.

  Sale of the Former Corporate Headquarters 
and Recognition of Deferred Gain

On June 30, 2006, the Company sold the land and building utilized 

as its former corporate headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. These 

assets had a net carrying amount of $2,842,000. The base sales 

price of $8,000,000 was received in cash at closing. Also on June 30, 

2006, the Company entered into a 12-month leaseback agree-

ment for these same facilities. During the second quarter of 2007, 

the company relocated its corporate headquarters to other nearby 

leased facilities. Under SFAS 98, “Accounting for Leases,” the 

Company deferred recognition of the gain related to this sale due 

to its leaseback of the facility. Net of transaction costs, a pretax 

gain of $4,844,000 was recognized by the Company upon the 

expiration of the leaseback agreement during the second quarter 

of 2007. Prior to the sale, this disposal group of assets had a fair 
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  South Africa Black Economic 
Empowerment Agreement 

The government of South Africa has adopted policies to increase 

black ownership of South African businesses, including foreign-

owned businesses located in South Africa. This initiative is called 

Black Economic Empowerment. The Company’s South Africa 

subsidiary, Crawford & Company South Africa (“Crawford SA”), 

entered into a Black Economic Empowerment agreement (“BEE 

agreement”) with a black-owned entity in South Africa (the “BEE 

entity”). As part of this BEE agreement, Crawford SA issued 54,792 

voting shares of its subsidiary stock to the BEE entity for par value 

of 54,792 South African rand (approximately U.S. $9,000). The 

54,792 shares represent a 25.1% ownership interest in Crawford SA. 

Prior to this transaction, Crawford SA was a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company. This capital transaction at the 

subsidiary level changed the Company’s ownership interest in 

Crawford SA by creating a 25.1% minority interest in the subsid-

iary. To refl ect the Company’s change in its ownership interest of 

Crawford SA and to refl ect the creation of the minority interest, 

$602,000 was charged to the Company’s Retained Earnings and 

credited to Minority Interest on the Company’s Consolidated 

Balance Sheet. This amount represented 25.1% of the carrying 

value of the Company’s investment in its South Africa subsidiary.

value that exceeded its depreciated cost. No adjustment to the 

carrying cost was required when this disposal group was classifi ed 

as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS 144. The Company 

did not hold legal title to these assets after June 30, 2006. However, 

these assets were included in other current assets on the Company’s 

December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet at historical cost 

less accumulated depreciation in accordance with the provisions of 

SFAS 144. The $8,000,000 received by the Company on June 30, 

2006 was reported on the Company’s December 31, 2006 Consoli-

dated Balance Sheet as a deposit liability.

Under the sales agreement, the $8,000,000 base sales price is 

subject to upward revision depending upon the buyer’s ability to 

subsequently redevelop the property. The gain of $4,844,000 was 

based on the base sales price and did not include any amount 

for the potential upward revision of the sales price. Should such 

revision subsequently occur, the Company could ultimately realize 

a larger gain. The Company cannot predict the likelihood of any 

subsequent price revisions.

 Restructuring Activities and Charges

In connection with its acquisition and integration of BMSI, the 

Company developed and implemented a plan in the fourth 

quarter 2006 to restructure certain of its operations within its 

Broadspire operating segment. This restructuring involved 

employees and facilities associated with its existing Crawford 

Integrated Services (“CIS”) business and the acquired BMSI entity. 

As a result, the Company recorded a pretax restructuring charge 

of $1,695,000, or $0.02 per share after refl ecting income taxes, 

during the fourth quarter of 2006 related to employee severance 

payments as well as costs related to planned closures of certain 

existing leased branch offi  ce facilities of CSI. An additional 

$1,824,000 in employee severance payments to employees of the 

acquired BMSI entity and $432,000 related to the planned termina-

tion of acquired lease obligations from the acquired BMSI entity 

were recorded in goodwill. At December 31, 2007, $678,000 of 

the restructuring accrual remained and all of it related to planned 

offi  ce closures.

14
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,  2007 2006 (2) 2005 2004 2003

Revenues before Reimbursements   $ 975,143  $ 819,522  $ 771,983  $ 733,567  $ 690,933 

 Reimbursements    76,135   80,858   82,784   78,095   77,077 

Total Revenues    1,051,278   900,380   854,767   811,662   768,010 

Cost of Services    809,527   719,032   690,735  643,958  607,439 

U.S. Property & Casualty Operating Earnings (1)   4,675   13,014   11,417   22,379   13,635 

International Operating Earnings (1)    24,660   14,451   11,854   10,312   5,585 

Broadspire Operating (Loss) Earnings (1)    3,821   (21,603)  (17,521)  (10,696)  3,826 

Legal Settlement Administration Operating Earnings (1)  12,521   22,982   20,266   13,800   9,988 

 Unallocated Corporate and Shared Costs   (8,447)  3,351   (931)  (3,409)  (2,994)

 Net Corporate Interest Expense    (17,326)  (5,753)  (5,145)  (3,536)  (5,414)

 Stock Option Expense    (1,191)  (1,220)  –  –  –

 Amortization of Customer-Relationship 
  Intangible Assets    (6,025)  (1,124)  –  –  –

 Other Gains (Expenses)    8,824   (27)  –  8,573  (8,000)

 Income Taxes    (5,396)  (9,060)  (7,059)  (12,251)  (8,964)

Net Income    16,116   15,011  12,881   25,172   7,662 

Earnings Per Share: 

 Basic      0.32   0.30   0.26   0.52   0.16 

 Diluted     0.32   0.30   0.26   0.51   0.16 

Current Assets    382,752   382,143   339,218   344,707   306,095 

Total Assets    902,782   892,988   574,071   571,260   520,671 

Current Liabilities    291,568   282,284   209,020   209,164   185,841 

Long-Term Debt, Less Current Installments   183,449   199,044   45,810   51,389   50,664 

Total Debt     215,313   229,460   81,139   90,176   96,777 

Shareholders’ Investment    254,215   211,151  179,031  194,833   172,594 

Total Capital    469,528   440,611   260,170  285,009   269,371 

Current Ratio    1.3:1  1.4:1  1.6:1  1.6:1  1.6:1

Total Debt-to-Total Capital    45.9%  52.1%  31.2%  31.6%  35.9%

Return on Average Shareholders’ Investment   6.9%  7.7%  6.9%  13.7%  4.6%

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    23,284   52,717   40,761   35,813   36,470 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    (19,087)  (174,606)  (12,614)  (16,579)  (28,721)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    (17,189)  135,786   (19,450)  (22,300)  (4,377)

Shareholders’ Equity Per Share    5.02   4.19   3.65   3.99   3.54 

Cash Dividends Per Share: 

 Class A and Class B Common Stock    –  0.18   0.24   0.24   0.24 

Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding: 

 Basic      50,464   49,423   48,930   48,773   48,668 

 Diluted     50,598   49,576   49,347   48,996   48,776 

(1)  Th is is a non-GAAP fi nancial measure representing earnings (loss) before net corporate interest expense, stock option expense, amortization of 
customer-relationship intangible assets, other gains and expense, and income taxes.

(2) On October 31, 2006, the Company acquired Broadspire Management Services, Inc. See Note 2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements. 
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED
DIVIDEND INFORMATION AND COMMON STOCK QUOTATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  
      Full
2007  First Second Third Fourth (4) Year

Revenues from services:  

 Revenues before reimbursements   $ 243,608  $ 240,537  $ 245,774  $ 245,224  $ 975,143 
 Reimbursements    18,984   15,694   20,196   21,261   76,135 
Total revenues:    262,592   256,231   265,970   266,485   1,051,278 
Cost of Services    201,691   194,643   205,729   207,464   809,527 
Pretax income    5,402   9,495   2,510   4,105   21,512 

U.S. Property & Casualty operating earnings (loss) (1)  2,339   510   2,737   (911)  4,675 
International operating earnings (1)    3,964   4,566   6,280   9,850   24,660 
Broadspire operating (loss) earnings (1)    (459)  2,959   1,598   (277)  3,821 
Legal Settlement Administration operating earnings (1)  3,055   3,353   2,664   3,449   12,521 
 Unallocated corporate and shared costs, net   (1,378)  (652)  (4,362)  (2,055)  (8,447)
 Net corporate interest expense    (4,368)  (4,232)  (4,572)  (4,154)  (17,326)
 Stock option expense    (295)  (346)  (260)  (290)  (1,191)
 Amortization of customer-relationship 
  intangible assets    (1,436)  (1,507)  (1,575)  (1,507)  (6,025)
 Other gains    3,980   4,844   –  –  8,824 
 Income (taxes) benefi t    (2,095)  (3,443)  943   (801)  (5,396)
Net income    3,307   6,052   3,453   3,304   16,116 
Earnings per share – basic and diluted (2)   0.07   0.12   0.07   0.07   0.32 
Cash dividends per share:
 Class A and Class B Common Stock    –  –  –  –  –
Common stock quotations: (3)

 Class A – High     6.10   6.72   6.42  5.99   6.72 
 Class A – Low     5.13   5.53   5.09   3.06   3.06 
 Class B – High     7.37   7.03   7.55   7.18   7.55 
 Class B – Low     5.52   5.67   5.42   3.28   3.28 

Table continued on page 92
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CRAWFORD & COMPANY
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED
DIVIDEND INFORMATION AND COMMON STOCK QUOTATIONS

      Full
2006  First Second Third Fourth (5) Year

Revenues from services:

 Revenues before reimbursements   $ 201,606  $ 192,603  $ 197,057  $ 228,256  $ 819,522 

 Reimbursements    20,066   17,164   25,276   18,352   80,858 

Total revenues:    221,672   209,767   222,333   246,608   900,380 

Cost of Services    176,542   165,647   180,845   195,998   719,032 

Pretax income (loss)    9,053   6,573   9,671   (1,226)  24,071 

U.S. Property & Casualty operating earnings (loss) (1)  6,211   3,005   3,837   (39)  13,014 

International operating earnings (1)    1,293   2,818   3,434   6,906   14,451 

Broadspire operating (loss) (1)    (5,693)  (5,226)  (7,162)  (3,522)  (21,603)

Legal Settlement Administration operating earnings (1)  6,937   6,323   6,015   3,707   22,982 

 Unallocated corporate and shared costs, net   1,569   598   1,565   (381)  3,351 

 Net corporate interest expense    (998)  (594)  (839)  (3,322)  (5,753)

 Stock option expense    (266)  (351)  (248)  (355)  (1,220)

 Amortization of customer-relationship 
  intangible assets    –  –  –  (1,124)  (1,124)

 Other gains (expenses)    –  –  3,069   (3,096)  (27)

 Income taxes    (3,205)  (2,360)  (3,423)  (72)  (9,060)

Net income (loss)    5,848   4,213   6,248   (1,298)  15,011 

 Earnings (loss) per share – basic and diluted (2)   0.12   0.09   0.13   (0.03)  0.30 

Cash dividends per share:

 Class A and Class B Common Stock    0.06   0.06   0.06   –  0.18 

Common stock quotations: (3)

 Class A – High     6.50   6.61   7.25   6.19   7.25 

 Class A – Low     5.60   5.41   5.75   5.21   5.21 

 Class B – High     6.48   7.18   8.07   7.68   8.07 

 Class B – Low     5.50   5.39   6.35   6.24   5.39 

(1)  Th is is a non-GAAP fi nancial measure representing earnings (loss) before net corporate interest expense, stock option expense, amortization of customer-
relationship intangible assets, other gains and expense, and income taxes.

(2)  Due to the method used in calculating per share data as prescribed by SFAS 128, “Earnings Per Share,” the quarterly per share data may not total to the 
full year per share data.

(3)  Th e quotations listed in this table set forth the high and low closing prices per share of Crawford & Company Class A Common Stock and Class B Common 
Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

(4)  During the fourth quarter of 2007, approximately $1.5 million of accrued vacation earned during the fi rst nine months of the year was forfeited and 
approximately $2.1 million of bonus accruals were reduced. Th ese amounts were credited to pretax income.

(5) On October 31, 2006, the Company acquired Broadspire Management Services, Inc. See Note 2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Th e approximate number of record holders of the Company’s stock as of December 31, 2007: Class A – 2,382 and Class B – 639.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

INQUIRIES
Individuals seeking fi nancial 
data should contact: 
Investor Relations
W. Bruce Swain, 
Chief Financial Offi  cer
404.300.1051

FORM 10K
A copy of the Company’s annual report 
on Form 10-K as fi led with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission is available 
without charge upon request to:
Corporate Secretary
Crawford & Company
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1021

ANNUAL MEETING
The Annual Meeting of shareholders will 
be held at 2:00 p.m. on May 6, 2008, at 
the corporate headquarters of
Crawford & Company
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

TRANSFER AGENT
Computershare Investor Services, LLC
P.O. Box 43078
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3078
1.800.568.3476

TRADING INFORMATION
Crawford & Company lists its common 
shares on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbols CRDA and CRDB.

INTERNET ADDRESS
www.crawfordandcompany.com

CERTIFICATIONS
In 2007, Crawford & Company’s chief 
executive offi  cer (CEO) provided to the 
New York Stock Exchange the annual 
CEO certifi cation regarding Crawford’s 
compliance with the New York Stock 
Exchange’s corporate governance listing 
standards. In addition, Crawford’s CEO 
and chief fi nancial offi  cer fi led with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion all required certifi cations regarding 
the quality of Crawford’s public disclo-
sures in its fi scal 2007 reports.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE 
FIVEYEAR TOTAL RETURN
The following line graph compares 
the cumulative return on the Company’s 
Class B Common Stock against the 
cumulative total return on (i) the Standard 
& Poor’s Composite 500 Stock Index and 
(ii) the Standard & Poor’s Insurance – 
Property & Casualty Index for the fi ve-year 
period commencing January 1, 2002 and 
ended December 31, 2007. 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
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Years Ending December 31, 

     S&P 500 Index     Crawford & Company 
(Class B)

This total shareholders’ return model assumes reinvested dividends and is based on a $100 investment on December 31, 2002. 
We caution you not to draw any conclusions from the data in this performance graph, as past results do not necessarily indicate 
future performance.

 Years Ending December 31,

Company/Index (in dollars)  2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Crawford & Company (Class B) 100.00 147.47 163.68 129.99 169.45 96.33

S&P 500 Index 100.00 128.68 142.69 149.70 173.34 182.86

S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index 100.00 126.41 139.58 160.68 181.36 156.04
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Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company (www.crawfordandcompany.com) 

is the world’s largest independent provider of claims management solutions to 

insurance companies and self-insured entities, with a global network of more than 

700 locations in 63 countries. Major service lines include property and casualty 

claims management, integrated claims, and medical management for workers’ 

compensation, legal settlement administration, including class action, warranty 

inspections, and risk management information services. The Company’s shares are 

traded on the NYSE under the symbols CRDA and CRDB. 

ALESSANDRA CARRILLO
Senior Marketing Executive
London, England

STUART TUCKER
Atlanta Branch Manager,
U.S. Property & Casualty
Atlanta, Georgia

BENTLEY LAYTIN
Miami Branch Manager
U.S. Property & Casualty
Miami, Florida

NINA DORTCH
Catastrophe Personnel Coordinator
Atlanta, Georgia

SCOTT HIBBARD
Loss Adjuster
London, England

DEBBIE LAXTON
National Client Services Manager
Accident Benefi ts
Toronto, Ontario



Crawford & Company

1001 Summit Boulevard

Atlanta, GA 30319

www.crawfordandcompany.com

An equal opportunity employer

the Strength of

WORKING 
TOGETHER

Crawford & Company

2007 Annual Report

Craw
ford &

 Com
pany  2007 A

nnual Report


	Crawford & Company 2007 Annual Report
	Table of Contents
	The Strength of Working Together
	Industry-Leading Quality
	Measurable Consistency
	An Expansive Global Network
	A Strong Market Position
	Letter From Chairman Thomas W. Crawford
	Letter From President and CEO Jeffrey T. Bowman
	Q & A With Thomas W. Crawford and Jeffrey T. Bowman
	Global Property & Casualty
	Broadspire
	Legal Settlement Administration
	Crawford Educational Services
	Crawford Cares
	Directors and Global Executive Officers
	Financial Highlights
	Introduction to Financials - Table of Contents
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	Management’s Statement on Responsibility for Financial Reporting
	Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
	Consolidated Financial Statements:
	Consolidated Statements of Income
	Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	Selected Financial Data
	Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) Dividend Information and Common Stock Quotations

	Shareholder Information
	Back Cover



